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Dynex is an internally managed real estate
investment trust, or REIT, which invests in
mortgage assets on a leveraged basis. Our
goal is to limit risk in our investment portfolio,
while earning an acceptable risk-adjusted
return for our shareholders.

WE ARE NIMBLE: OUR SIZE IS AN ADVANTAGE
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DIVERSIFIED e CONSERVATIVE e OWNER-
INVESTMENT STRATEGY RISK MANAGERS OPERATORS
Allows us to selectively deploy We have an experienced Because of significant insider
capital in the best opportunity management team with a solid ownership, we are focused on
e while remaining committed to track record of disciplined long-term shareholder value.

our high quality, short-duration capital deployment through
investment thesis. multiple economic cycles.
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TO OUR
SHAREHOLDERS

By almost any measure Dynex and its shareholders had a prosperous 2012. Our shareholders enjoyed a
total economic return of 24% based on $1.15 in common stock dividends declared and the $1.10 increase
in book value per common share during the year. We also raised our dividend during the year, making it
the fifth straight year of dividend increases. We increased our total equity capitalization to $617 million
at December 31, 2012 from $371 million through the issuance of common and preferred equity, coupled
with the substantial increase in the value of our investment portfolio during the year. Most importantly,
our timely capital raises allowed us to add key investments in CMBS that were accretive to our earnings
and offered shelter fromm RMBS prepayments as the Treasury curve flattened and the Federal Reserve
embarked on yet another round of quantitative easing. At the same time, growing the size of the
Company gave us the ability to operate our business in a more efficient manner, and we are now more
competitive within the mortgage REIT marketplace. Our general and administrative efficiency ratio,
expressed as a percent of net interest income, was 16.2% in 2012 versus 16.8% in 2011. As a percentage
of average shareholders’ equity, our general and administrative expense was 2.35% in 2012 versus 2.76%
in 2011, and we expect to see additional gains in the future. However, we are still small enough to remain
nimble and take advantage of smaller market inefficiencies versus our larger competitors. Last year was a
great example of how careful asset selection will create long-term value.

During 2012 the mortgage REIT universe raised a near record amount of common and preferred equity
capital. The mortgage REIT sector now has an estimated total common equity market capitalization of
$59 billion and assets of over $400 billion. While there are economies of scale in the mortgage REIT
business model, the lower rate environment has made it difficult for many companies to find assets at
yields that are accretive to earnings. In fact, many of the dividends for the fourth quarter of 2012 reflected
this lower growth environment, and on average dividends fell approximately 10% for the quarter. Dynex is
very proud of our dividend track record and remains committed to providing a dividend commensurate
with our lower risk investment strategy.

Mortgage REITs are in essence asset management vehicles that focus on providing capital to the real
estate markets. We believe that the best approach to asset management is diversification of investment
capital, minimizing exposure to one particular asset or asset class, much like what Benjamin Graham
taught the investment community many years ago. Our diversified investment strategy has allowed us
to selectively deploy capital in the best opportunity versus a monoline asset management strategy such
as an agency MBS-only mortgage REIT. For example, subsequent to our common equity capital raise

in March 2012 we added CMBS investments at wider credit spreads, resulting in an increase in earnings
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Dynex is very proud of our dividend track
record and remains committed to providing
a dividend commensurate with our lower risk
Investment strategy.

and book value per common share. Our investment team has a core competency for investing in CMBS
assets that dates back to almost two decades ago when Dynex was an originator of commercial mortgage
loans. Our familiarity with the product and its nuances made for a relatively easy decision to become more
focused on CMBS. We feel that CMBS is a superior asset due to the shorter final maturity of the underlying
loans and the prepayment protection or compensation typically offered in CMBS. We believe that the
combination of CMBS and RMBS reduces the overall cash flow volatility and our results for 2012 were
greatly representative of this thesis. As we move forward, we expect CMBS assets to continue to play an
important role in our portfolio as we remain focused on working to minimize our overall portfolio risk while
maximizing shareholder return.

My father is turning ninety years old this year and one of his favorite sayings is “the harder you work the
luckier you get.” | would like to acknowledge the hard work done by the entire Dynex investment team in
finding opportunities within our stringent investment policy, making our portfolio one of the least volatile
in the industry. In particular, | would like to thank Byron Boston, whose leadership and steadfastness have
been truly remarkable in these volatile times.

As we move forward, we continue to expect a volatile marketplace for assets, the yield curve, and interest
rates in general. Already the ten-year Treasury has moved to nearly 2% in yield and is creating opportunity
in some of the longer-dated mortgages. While Dynex has yet to participate in either the 15-year or 30-year
mortgage market, we will continue to monitor the merits of these assets against all the other assets in our
mortgage opportunity set. Rest assured that we will continue to strive to find the best assets with the least
risk for our shareholders. We remain committed to the high quality, short-duration investment thesis which
has defined the Company over these last five years. We believe acceptable risk-adjusted returns continue to
exist - though they are a little harder to find given the Federal Reserve’s unlimited checkbook.

In closing, | would like to thank Dan Osborne for his valued service to the Company as a member of our
Board of Directors since 2005. Dan has made an important strategic contribution to Dynex and his efforts
will be sorely missed by all of us. We wish Dan the best in all his future endeavors.

Our shareholder meeting is scheduled for June 5, 2013 at the Le Parker Meridien Hotel in New York City.
We hope many of you can attend as we outline our plans for the future.

With regards,

Thomas B. Akin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CORE VALUES

Generate Dividends
For Shareholders

Manage Leverage
Conservatively

Retain Owner-
Operator Mentality

Maintain A Culture
Of Integrity

Employ
The Highest Ethical
Standards

Strong Risk
Management Culture

Best In Class
Risk Management
Processes

Focus On Long-Term
Shareholder Value



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(amounts in thousands except per share data) 2012

2011

2010

Investments

4,175,662

$2,500,976

$ 1,614,126

Total assets

4,280,229

$ 2,582,193

$ 1,649,584

Repurchase agreements

3,564,128

$ 2,093,793

$ 1,234,183

Non-recourse collateralized financing

30,504

$ 70,895

$ 107105

Shareholders’ equity

616,710

$ 371,349

292,357

Net interest income

78,401

59,295

34,424

Net income

74,042

39,812

29,472

Net income to common shareholders

72,006

39,812

26,41

Diluted net income per common share

1.35

1.03

L] A1
e

Book value per common share

COMMON DIVIDENDS
(per share)

$1.15

10.30

EARNINGS
(per common share)

$1.35

9.20

s
9.64

BOOK VALUE
(per common share)
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for this Anniad Report an Form WK, we refer ro Dvnex Capiral, Ine, ang fs subsidioeies ax “the Company, ™ “we, ™ Vug, ™
or Tour " wfery we s lrre'i:{f" really stite oitherwize or the confexd tndicales atherwise,

PARTI
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Dymex Capital, Inc. is an internally managed moergage real estate investment trust, of morgage REIT, which invests in
myofgage asscls on a leveraged basis. Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE" ) under the symbol
"DX" and our £.50% Series A Comulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the "Senics A Prefermed Stock™) is traded on the MY SE
under the symbol "DXPRA®. Our objective is to provide attractive nsk-adjosted retums to our sharcholders over the long term
that arc reflective of a leveraged, high quality fixed income portfolio with a focus on capatal prescrvation. We seek to provide
retwrns o our sharchoelders through regular guantery dividends and through capital appreciation.

Wewere formed in 1987 and commenced operations in [958, Beginning with our inception theowgh 2000, our operations
largely consisted of originating and securitizing vanous types of loans, principally single-family and commercial mortgage beans
and manufactured kousing loans. Siwce 2000, we have been an investor in Agency and non-Agency mongage-backed socunitics
(“MB5"). Agency MBS consist of resudential MBS ("RMBS™) and commeercial MBS (CMBS"™), which come with a guaramty of
principal payment by an agency of the ULS, government or o LS. govemment-sponsored entity such as Fannie Mo and Freddie
Mac, Mon-Agency MBS (also consisting of RMBS and CMBS) have no such guaranty of payvment.

Crur primary source of incoms 15 net inferest income, which 15 the excess of the interest income earmed on our Investments
over the cost of financing these investments, We invest our capital pursuant to our Opernting Policies as approved by our Board
of Dhrectors, O diversified investment strafegy permits investrment in Agency MBS and investment grade non-Agency MBS,
and singe 208 our investments have been in higher credin gquality, shomer duration investments, [nvestments considered to be of
higher credit quality have less or limited exposure to loss of principal while investments which have shorter durations have bess
or limited exposure to changes in inferest rates. The target asset allocation for the Company is 60%% in Agency MBS and 3095 in
non-Agency MBS though our actual progress toward these targets will vary bazed on available investment opportunitics,

RMBE The Company's EMBS investments currently consist predominantly of Agency EMBS but the Company has
owned substantial amounts of non-Agency EMBS in the past. Agency RMBS include hybnd Agency adjustable-rute morigage
loans ("ARM=") and Agency ARMs, Hybrd Agency ARMs are MBS collateralized by hybrid adjustable-rate mortgage loans
which are loans that have a fixed rate of interest for a specified period {typically three to ten vears) and which then adjust their
interest rate at keast annually to an increment over o specified interest rate index as further discussed below. Agency ARMs are
MBS collsteralized by adjustable-rate mortgage loans which have interest rates that penerally will adjust at least annually to an
increment over & specified inferest rate index. Agency ARMs also include hybrid Agency ARMs that are past their fixed-rate
periods or within twelbve months of their instial reset period. The Company may alse invest in fixed-rate Agency RMBS from time
to time.  Additionally, the Company invests in non-Ageney RMBS, the maponty of which are rated as investment grade. These
investments generally resemble similar types of Agency AREMs, but lnck o guaranty of payment by an agency of the US. government
or 4 UL, government-sponsored entity.

Infizrest rafes on the adjustable-rate mortgage loans collateralizing hybrid Agency ARMs, Agency ARMs, and non-Agency
ARMs are bascd on specific index rates, such as the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, the one-year constant maturity



treasury rate, of CMT, the Federal Reserve LS, 12-month cumulative average one-vear CMWT, or MTA, or the 11th Dhstrict Cost
of Fumids Index, or COFL These loans will tvpically have interirn and lifetime caps on inerest rale adjustments, or inlerest rate
caps, limiting the amount that the rates on these loans may resel in amy given pericd.

CMHES, The Company’s Agency and non-Agency CMBS are collateralized by first mongage loans and are comprised of
subsiantially Nxed-rale securities. A substantial ponion of the CMBS owned by the Company is collateralized by loans secured
by multifamily properties. Typically these loans have some form of prepayment protection provisions (such as prepayment lock-
out) or prepayment compensation provisions (sech as vield maivienance or prepaymend penaliv). Yield mainienance and
prepayment penaliy requirements are intended (o creaie an economic disincentive for the loans to prepay. Amounis reguired o
be paid decline over time however, and as loans age, interest rates decline, or markel values of the collateral supporting the loan
increase, prepayement penalties may nol serve as a meaningful economic digincentive o the bormower.

CMES Q. Aportion of the Company’s Agency and non-Agency CMBS also include interest only securities {"I0s") which
represent the right to receive excess interest paymenis (bul not principal cash Nows) based on the underlying unpaid principal
balance of the underlving pool of mongage loans. As these securities have no principal associated with them, the interest pavmenis
received are based on the unpaid principal Balance {oflen referred 10 as the nodional amount) of the underlyving pool o morgage
leans. 10 securities generally have prepayment protecticn in the form of lock-outs, prepayment penallies, or yvield mainienance
associated with the underlying loans,

Factors fhar Affect Chur Results of Operafions and Financial Condiflon

The performance of ur investment portfolio will depend on many factors, many of which are beyond our comtrol, These
fwctors include, bt are not limiled 1o, interest ries, trends of interest rates, the relalive steepness of interest rale curves, prepayment
rales on our investments, competition for investments, and economic conditions and their impact on the credil performance of owr
imvestrents. In addition, the performance of our invesiment portfalio and the availability of investments al acceplable return levels
is influenced by actions faken by, and policy measures of, the U5, government, including the Federal Housing Fimance
Administration and the U, 5, Depanment of the Treasury (the "Treasury™y, and actions taken by and policy measures ol ihe L5,
Federal Reserve,

In addition, our business model may be impacied by other factors such as the availability and cost of linancing and the
state of the overall credit markets. Reductions in the availability of financing for our investments could significantly impact our
business and force us 10 sell assets that we otherwise would nod sell, pofentially o1 losses or at amounts below their true fair value,
Chher factors also impacting our busingss include changes in regulatory requirements, including requirements 1o qualify for
regisration under the 1940 Act and REIT requiremsents,

Investing in morgage-related securities on a leveraged basis subjects us 1o a number of nisks including interest rate nisk,
prepayment and réinvestment risk, credil sk, market valse nsk and liquidity risk, which are discussed in ltem 1A, "Risk Factors"
of Part [ and in ltem 7."Liquidity and Capatal Resources™ as well as in lem TA, "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risk™ of Part 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Please see these lems for detailed discussion of these risks and the
potential impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Cperating Policies amd Kestrictions

We operaie our busimess pursuant to our Operating Policies as apgroved by our Board of Directors, which consist of our
Invesiment Managemend and Invesiment Risk Policies. These polickes set forth investment and risk fimitations as they relate o
the Comipany™s invesiment activities and are reviewed anmually by the Board. 'We also manage our operstions and investments (o
comply with various REIT limitations {as discussed funher below in “Federal Income Tax Considerntions™) and 1o avioad qualifving
05 o invesiment company as such term s defined mthe 19490 Act or as o cormmadity pool operator under the Commaodity Exchonge
Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder,

In implementing the Operating Policies with respect 1o non-Agency MBS, we limit our purchases to MBS which are rated
investment-grade by at least one nationally recognized statistical ratings organization. We also conduct our own independent
evaluation of the credit risk on any non-Agency MBS, such that we do not rely solely on the secunity’s credit rating.



The Operating Policies also limil the overall leverage of the Company to seven times our shareholders” equity capital, up
ti len times our equily capital invested in Agency MBS, and six times our equity capital invesied in nor-Agency MBS, Inaddition,
among other things, there are limitations on interest rate and convexity risk, and our earnings at risk and our shareholders” equity
al risk due to changes in interest rates, prepayment rales, investment prices and spreads. The Operating Pelicies require us o
perform a variely of siress tens on the investment portfolie value and liquidity from adverse market conditions.

Irvestment Philosoply and Sieategy

Clur investment philosophy is based on a top-down approach and Forms the foundation of gur invesiment sirategy. We
focus on the expecied risk-adjusted outcome of any invesiment which, given our use of leverage, st include the termis of Tinancing
and the expected liquidity of the invesiment. Key points of our investment philosophy and strategy include the following:

#  undersianding macroecongmic conditions including the current state of the ULS, and global economies, the regulatory
envirenmenl, competilion for assets, and the availability of Minancing:

*  gector analysis including understanding absoluie retums, relative relurns and risk-adjusted returmns,

= gecurity and financing analysis including sensitivity analysis on credii, interesi rate volatility, and market value risk; and

= managing performance and porifiolio risks, including interest rate, credil, prepaymend, and liguidity risks.

In execuling our invesiment stralegy, we seek 1o balance the various risks of owning mongage assets with the eamings
opponunily on the investment. We believe our sirategy of investing in Agency and non-Agency morigage assels provides superior
diversilication of these risks across our invesiment pontliolio and therelfore provides ample opgonunitics to generale atiractive risk-
adjusted retums while preserving our sharcholders”™ capital, We also believe that our shorer duration strategy will provide less
volatility in our resulis and our book value per common share than sirategies which invest in longer duration assets with potentially
rore inleresl rale risk,

The performance of sur investment portiolio will depend on many factors incleding interest rates, irends of inlerest rales,
the steepness of inlenesl rale curves, prepaymenl rales on gur invesiments, competilion for invesiments, economic conditions and
their impact on the credit performance of our investmenis, and actions laken by the ULS, government, incleding the ULS. Federal
Reserve and the United States Department of the Treasury (the “Treasuny™). In addition, our business model may be impacted by
other factors such as the state of the overall credit markets, which could impact the availability and costs of financing. See “Factors
that AfTect Our Results of Operations and Financial Condition™ above and "Risk Factors-Risks Relafed to Our Business" in ltem
1A of Part | of this Annual Beport on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Finawcing and Hedging Sirategy

We linance our invesiments primarily through the use of repurchase agreements, and 1o a lesser extent, non-recourse
collateralized financing.

Repirehase Agreements. Repurchase agreement financing is uncommitied short-term financing in which we pledge our
MBS as collateral o secure loans made by the repurchase agreement counterparty. Repurchase agreements generally have terms
of 30-90 days, though in some instances longer terms may be available, and carmy o rate of interest which is usually based on a
spread to one=momh LIBOR and fixed for the term of the agreement. The amount borrowed under a repurchase agreement is
limated by the lender 10 a percentoge of the estimated market value of the pledped collateral, which is generally up to 95% ol the
estimated markel value for Agency MBS and up o 9% for higher credit quality non-Agency MBS, The difference betwaen the
muarket value of the pledged MBS collateral and the amount of the repurchase agreement is the amount of equity we have in the
posiion and is mtended 1o provide the lender some protection against Auctuations of valwe in the collateral and'or the farkure by
us 1o repay the bomowing ol malurty,

If the fair value of the MBS pledged as collateral declines, lenders may require that we pledge additional assets 1o
eollpteralize the outstanding repurchase agreement borrowings by mitiating a margin call. Our pledged collateral Muctuates in
vilue primarily as a resull of principal payments and changes in market interest rates and spreads, prevailing market vields, actual
or anticipated prepayment speeds and other market conditions.  Lenders may also mitinte margin calls during periods of market
stress a5 a result of actueal or expecied volatility in asset prices, There is no minimum amount of collateral value decline required
before the lender could initiate a margin call, 1Fwe Ffail 1o meet any mangin call, our lenders have the right io 1erminate the repurchase
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agreement and sell the collateral pledged. We atlemp 1o maintain cash and other liquid securities in suflicient amounts Lo manage
our exposure 1o margin calls by lenders,

Repurchase agreement financing is provided principally by major financial institutions and broker-dealers. A significant
source of liguidity for the repurchase agreement market is money market funds which provide collateral-based lending 10 the
Mnancial institulions and broker-dealer community that, in urm, is provided 1o the repurchase agreement markel. Inorder 1o reduce
our exposure o counterparty-related risk, we generally seek o diversify our exposure by entering into repurchase agreements with
rmuliiple lenders,

For luriher discussion of repurchase agreement lnancing, please refer to "Liquidity and Capital Resources” in ltem 7 of
Parn [T ofbis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Non-Recowrse Collateralized Financlig, We ulilize securitization linancing 1o linance securitized mongage loans and
cerain MBS, Secuntizalion lnancing is term Mnancing collateralized by securitized mongage loans and is pon-recourse Lo s,
Each series ol securitization Mnancing may consist of various classes ol bonds at either fixed or variable rates of interest and having
varying repayment terms.  Paymenis received on securitized morigage loans and reinvesiment income earmed thereon is used 1o
make payments on the securitization financing bonds,

Hedgimg Srategy. Our hedging sirategy is designed 1o reduce the impact on our income and sharehodders” equity caused
by the adverse effects of changes in interest rates, Generally in a period of rising rates our net incorme may be negatively impacted
from owr borrowing cosls increasing faster than income on our asseds, and our shareholders” equity may decline as a result of
declining market values of our MBS, In hedging the risk of changes in interest rales, we principally wlilize inleresa rate swap
agreemenis, bul may also utilive interest rate cap or Noor agreemenits, futures contracts, pul and call oplions on securities or
securities underlying lwlures contracts, forward rate agreements, or swaptions. Unless the interpretation of rules established
pursuEnl to the Dodd-Frank Act changes, we will have significam collateral posting requirements for swaps entered into subsequent
to June 10, 2003, These posting requirements will make swaps significanily more expensive for the Company and may force us
Lo wtilize cither strategies of hedging our imerest rate risk, For lurther discussion, please refer 1o Tiem 1A, "Risk Factors” comained
within Pan [ of the Annwal Report on Form 10-K.

Asof December 31, 2002, our hedging instruments consisted solely of interest rale swap agreements, Tvpically i an inferest
rate swap transaction, we will pay an agreed upon lixed rafe of inferest determined at the time of entening into the agreement for
o period typically between two and seven vears while receiving interest based on a Moating rate such as LIBOR, We intend 1o
comply with REIT and tax limitations on our hedging instruments and also intend to limit our use of hedging instruments to only
those descrnibed above, 'We also intend 10 enter indo hedging transaciions only with counterparties that we believe have a strong
credit rating to help mitigate the risk of counterparty defaull or insolvency.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The public morgage REIT industry has grown significantly since the beginning of 2008 and includes approximately 33
companies with a tolal market capialization of 5590 ballion as of December 31, 20M2. Mortgage REITs provide liquidity 1o the
U5, real estate markets through the purchase of RMBS and CMBS and through the origination or purchase of morgage loans,
The business models of morgage REITs range from investing only in Agency MBS to investing substantially in non-investment
grade MBS and loans, Each morigage REIT will assume risks i ils investment sirokegy, Whereas we invest in shorter-durntion
and higher quahity MBS in order to mitigote interest rate sk and credin risk, other morgage REITs may be walling to accept more
of these risks than we are and mvest in longer-duration or lower-qualily assels.

Given the need for prvale capital 10 replace the capital currently supporiimg morgage finance {from governmental and
quasi-governmental public entities such as Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, GNMA and the Federal Beserve), we believe that morgage
REITs will continue o increase in imporance 1o the LS, housing and mortgage finance industries. In addition, the uncerainty
around regulation of financial institutions under the Dodd-Frank Act, minimum capital standards thot may be implemented under
the Basel 11 Accord, increased risk-weightings for certain tyvpes of mongage loans held by depository mstitutions, and other
potential regulatory changes, may further impact capital formation in the U5, mongage market which could favor morigage REITs,
There are potential consequences Lo increased regulation however, including increasing borrowing costs or reduced availability
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of repurchase agreement Nnancing and the requitement 1o post significant amounts of margin in order to enter into derivative
transactions such as interest rate swaps as discussed above, among other things. In additbon, as lurther discussed in lem 1A, “Risk
Faciors™ below, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SECT) is reviewing the exemplion curremly used by most mongage
REITs under the 1940 Act.  [Fthe SEC ultimately restricts the use of such exemption, morgage REIT business models will likely
be severely restricied,

COMPETITION

The linancial services indusiry in which we compete is a highly competitive market, In purchasing invesiments snd obiaining
financing, we compete with other mongage REITs, broker dealers and invesiment banking firms, mulual funds, banks, hedge
funds, mortgage hankers, insurance companies, governmental bodies, and other entitics, many of which have greater Mnancial
resounces s a lower sostolcapital than we do. Increased competition in the market may redisce the available supply of investments
and may drive prices of invesiments W unacceptable levels which would negatively impact our ability 1o eam an acceplable amount
of income from these investments. Competition can also reduce the availability ol borrowing capacity al our repurchase agreement
counterparties a5 such capacity is not unlimited, and many of our repurchase agreement counterparties limil the amount of linancing
they offer 1o the mongage REIT industry.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

As a REIT, we are required 1o abide by cenain requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended {the “Code™ . To retain our REIT status, the REIT rules generally require that we invest primarily in real
eslate-rekated assets, that our activities be passive rather than active and that we distrituie annually 1o our shareholders substantially
all of our taxahbe income, after cenain deductions, including deductions for our tax net operating loss (“NOL") carmyforward. We
coaild be subject to income tax il we failed 1o satisfy those requiremiends. We use the calendar year for both tax and Nnancial
reporiing punsises,

We estimate that our NOL carmyforward was approximately $135.9 million as of December 31, 2012, subject to the
completion of our 2002 federal income tax rétum, The NOL expires substantially beginning in 2020, We can utilize our MOL
carryforward 10 offset our taxable camings after taking the REIT distribution requirements imo account, As a result of our public
offering of common stock in February 2002, we incurred an "ownership change” as such term is defined in Section 382 of the
Code. Based on management's analysis and expert third-party advice, which necessanly includes ceriain assumptions regarding
the charactenization under Section 382 of our use of capital raised by us, we determined that the ownership change under Section 382
limits our ability o use our NOL carmylorward 10 a maximum amount of 513.4 million per year. This annual imitation may
elfectively limit the cumulative amount of pre-ownership change losses, mcluding cerlain recognized built-in bosses, that we may
ubilize,

There may be differences between laxable income and income computed in accordance with U5, generally nccepled
accounting principles ("GAAP”). These differences primanly anse from timing differences in the recognition of revenue and
expense for tax and GAAP purposes.

Failure 1o satisly certain Code requirements could cause us 1o lose our sintus as a REIT. 1T we fibed 1o qualify as a REIT
for any taxable year, we may be subject 1o federal income tax (including any apphcable altemative minimum taxy ol regular
corporpie riies and would nol receve deductions for dividends paid to sharchobders. ‘We could, however, wilize our NOL
carmyforward 10 offsed any taxable income. In addition, given the size of our KOL carryforward, we could pursue a business plan
in the future in which we would voluntaniby forego our REIT status. 17 we bost or otherwise surrendered our stotus as o REIT, we
could not elect REIT siatus again for five years, Several of our investments in secunlized mongage loans have ownershipresinclions
limiting their ownership to REITs, Therefore, if we chose 10 forego our REIT status, we would have 10 sell thess investiments or
otherwise provide for REIT ownership of these investments. In addition, many of our repurchase agreement lenders require us to
maintain our REIT status. 15 we lost our REIT status these lenders have the right 1o terminate any repurchase agresment borrowings
o that time.



We also have a taxable REIT subsidizry (*“TRS"}), which had an NOL carrylorward of approximately 54.2 million as of
Drecember 31, 2012, subject 1o the completion of our 2002 federal incorme tax return, The TRS has limited operations, and,
accondingly, we have established a full valuation allowance for the related deferred lax asset.

Cuealiffcation as o REIT

Qualification as a REIT requires that we satisfy a variety ol ests relating 1o our income, sssets, distibutions and ownership.
The signilbcan tesis ane summarized below,

Sowrces of Income. To continue qualifving as a REIT, we must satisfy two distinet tests with respect 1o the sources of
our incorme: the “T5% income test” and the “95% income tegl.” The T5% income test reguires that we derive at least 75% of our
gross income (excluding gross income from prohibited transactions) from certain real estate-related sources. In order 10 satisfy
thie 95% income test, 95% of our gress income for the 1aable vear must consist of sither income that qualifes under the T8%
income test of cenain other types of passive income,

17 we fail 1o mest either the 73% income 1251 or the 93% income test, or both, in & taxable year, we might nonetheless
continue 1o gualify as a REIT, il our failure was due (o reasonable cause and not swillful peglect and the nature and amounts of our
ilems of gross income were properly disclosed to the Internal Revenue Service. However, in such a case we would be required
to pay & tax equal o 1009 of any excess non-gualifying income,

Narirre argd Diversificaion of Asseis, Al the end of each calendar guaner, we must meet multiple asset tests. Under the
“T5% asset test”, at least 75% of the value of our 1odal assets must represent cash or cash iems (including receivables), government
securities of real estate assets. Under the = 10% asset test,” we may mol own more than 108 of the cutstanding voling power or
value ol securilies of any single non-govermmental issuer, provided swch securities do notl qualily under the 75% asset test or relate
to taxable REIT subsidiaries. Under the “5% assel test,” ownership of any stocks or securitics that do wot gualify under the T5%
assel tesl must be limited, in respect of any single non-governmental issuer, bo an amount nod greater than 3% of the valoe of our
total assets (excluding ownership of any 1asable REIT subsidiaries),

IF we inadverdently fail 1o satisfy one or more of the asset tests af the end of o calendar quarter, such failure would not
cause us 10 lose our REIT status, provided that {1} we satisbied all of the asset tests at the ¢lose of the preceding calendar quanier
and (i1} the discrepancy between the values of our assets and the standards imposed by the asset tests either did not exist immediately
alter the acquisition of any particular asset or was nol whoelly or partially caused by such an acquisition. 1T the condition described
in clause (1) of the preceding sentence was not satishied, we still could avoid disqualification by eliminating any discrepancy
within 30 days after the close of the calendar quarier m which i arose,

Crnership, In order 1o mainiain our REIT status, we must nod be deemed to be closely held and must have more than
100 shareholders, The closely held prohibition requires that not more than 50%% of the value of our outstanding shares be owned
by five or fewer persons at any bime during the last hall of our taxable vear, The "more than 100 sharcholders™ rule requires that
we have ai least 100 shareholders for 335 days of o twelve-month taxable vear, In the event that we failed to satisfy the ownership
requirements we would be subject 1o fines and be required 10 1ake curative pction to meet the ownership réquirements in order o
muaintain our BEIT status,

EMPLOYEES

Asof December 31, 2012, we have | 7 emplovees and one corporate office in Glen Adlen, Virginia. None of our employees
are coverad by any collective bargaiming agreements, and we are nol aware of any umon organizmg achivity relating o our
emplovess,
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Mame {Ape) Current Title Business Experience
Thomas B. Akin {60F) Chairman of the Board and Chief Excewtive Officer sinee February 2008; Chairman of
Chiel Exceutive CHTicer the Board since 2003, managing general pariner of Talkot

Capital, LLC since 1995,

Byron L. Boston (34 Presidend, Chiefl Invesimend President and Director effective March 1, 2001 2; Chief
CHficer and Drincctor Investment Officer since April 2008; President of Boston
Consuliing Group from November 2006 1o April 2008; Viee
Chairman and Executive Yice President of Sunset Financial
Resources, Ine. from Janoary 200 to October 20046,

Sicphen J. Benededti (30)  Executive Vice President, Executive Vice President and Clﬂtl'ﬂpcmting Oilicer since
Chief Operating Cfficer and Movember M5, Executive Vice President and Chief
Chicf Financial Officer Financial Officer from Scptember 2000 1o Movember 20405

and beginning again in Febroary 2004,

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We are subject to the reporting requiremenis of the Exchange Act and its rules and regulations. The Exchange Act requines
ug io file reporis, proxy siatements, and other information with the SEC. Copies of these reports, proxy statemends, and odher
imformation can be read and copied at:

SEC Public Reference Koom
1000 F Street, M.E.
Washington, [2.C. 20349

Information on the operation of the Public Beference Room may be ohained by calling the SEC at 1-800-5EC-0330, The
SEC muntains a websile that containg reports, proxy statemems, and other mformiation regarding ssuers that file elecironically

Owr website can be found at www dyvnescapital com, Our annual reports on Form 10=K, our quanerly repons on Form
10=03 and our currem reports om Form B=K, and amendmems 1o those reports, fled or fumished purswant o Section 13(a)or 15(d)
ol the Exchange Act, are made available free of charge through our website as soon a5 reasonably practicable afier such materal
s electronically Nled with or furmished 1o the SEC,

We have adopled a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Cosbe of Conduct™) that apphies 1o all ol our employess, officers
ond directors, Our Code of Conduct is also available free of charge on our website, along with our Awdit Committes Charter, our
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committes Charter, and our Compensation Commitiee Charter. We will post on our
website amendments 10 the Code of Conduct or waivers from its provisions, i1 any, which are apphicable to any of our directors
or execulive officers in accordance with SEC or NYSE requirements,

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Chur business is subject 1o various risks, inchuding those described below., Our business, operating results, and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks, Please note that addivional risks nod presently known
to us or that we currently deem immatenal could also ympair our business, opersting results, and financial conditon,

Fage
Risks Related 10 Our Business 8
Risks Related wo Regulatory and Legal Requirements 20
Risks Related to Owning Our Stock 4



Risks Helated 1o Car Business

ier busimess mrodel depends on our ability fo access the crediy markets fo fnance owr investments. Qe inabifity e access

Simancing on reasenable rerms could marerfally adversely affect owr operations, financial conditton and business wililch miay,
irn e, negatively affect the marked price of owr stock,

We depend heavily upon the availability of adequate lunding for our invesiment activilies, with such lunding primarily
consisting of repurchase agreemend financing. Cur access o linancing depends upon a number of faciors, over which we have
lintle or mo comtrol, ineluding:

peneral market and sconomic conditions;

= the actual or perceived financial condition ol credit market participants including banks, broker-dealers, hedge lunds,
and pvoney-market funds, among others;

= the impact of governmental policies and'or regulations on instilutions with respect 1o activities in the credil mark ets;

= market perceplion of gualily and liquidity of the tvpe ol assets in which we invest; and

= market perception of our Minancial strengih.

Repurchase agreements arg short-lerm commitmenis of capital, Dhsruptions or volatility in the credit and repurchase
agreement markets can and do periodically occur and can result in diminished financing capacity for mortgage securities. These
evenls can lead 1o adverse impacts on the values of morgage secarties. 17 a severe eventl were to oocur, lenders may be unwilling
orf unahle 1o provide Mnancing for our invesiments of may be willing o provide Ninancing only at much higher rates.  This may
impact our prolitability by increasing our borrowing costs or by forcing us o sell aszets. Inan extreme case, this may also resuld
im our inability to finance some or all of our securities which could force us to liquidate all oF portions of our investiment portfolio,
potentially in an adverse market environmeni.

In addition, it is possible that the lenders that provide us with linancing could experience changes in their ability or
willingness to provide financing, independent of our performance or the value of our assets, Such changes could occur as o resull
of regulatory changes for our lenders, market conditions or their financial condition, Ifmajor marked participants ¢xit the linancing
markets or otherwise restrict their lnancing to us, it would increase the competition for available repurchass agreement financing,
which could adversely affect the marketability and value of our secunities and other financial assets in which we invest and could
force us to sell pssets potentially when asset prices are depressed, These actions would negatively impact our book value and our
profitability.

The amount of financing we receive under our repurchase agreements will be directly relaied 1o the lenders' valuation of
the assets that secure outstanding bormowings, Typically, repurchase agreements grant the respective lender the right to réevaluate
the market value of the assets that secure outstanding borrowings at any time, ¥ a lender determines that the value of the assels
has decreased. it has the right 10 initiste & margin call. A margin call would require us to transfer additional nssets 1o such lender
or Lo repay a portion of the outstanding borrowings. Any such margin call could have a material adverse effect on our resulis of
operations, financial conditson, business, quidity and ability to make distnbutions to shareholders, and could cause the value of
our common stock to deching. We may be forced o sell assets a1 significantly depressed prices 1o meet margim calls and (o maintain
adequate liquedity, which could cause us to incur losses, Moreover, (o the extent thal we are forced 1o sell assels because of chanpes
in markel conditions, other market participants may face similar pressures, which could exacerbale a difficult morket environmeni,
further depress market values of our assets and resull m significanily greater losses on our sale of such assels, In an exireme case
of market duress, a markel may nol exist for cerlaim of our asseds al any price.

In sddition, 11 repurchase agreemend financing were nod available or 111 were not available on reasonable ferms, we could
implement a strategy of reducing our leverage by selling assets or not replacing MBS as they amortize and’or prepay, thereby
decreasing the owtstanding amount of our relased borrowings, Such an action would likely reduce interest income, inlerést expense
and net income, the extent of which would depend on the level of reduction in assets and lkabilities as well s the sale prices for
which the assets were sold.



Repurchiase agrecnrenty are gemerally wncontmiliited shore-term Tranciigs and clianges to terms af such Tnanclng may adversely
affect aur profitabiliry.

Repurchase agreements ane uncommitted financings from lenders with an average term of ninety days or less, Since we
rely heavily on borrowings under repurchase agreements to finance cenain of our investments, our ahility (o achieve our investment
and profitability objectives depends on our ability to boreow in sufficient amounts and on favorable terms and to renew or replace
muaturing borrowings on a continuous basis. 15 the terms on which we borrow change in a meaningful way, our profitability may
be impacted which could reduce distributions to owr sharchalders.

A decline in the market valiie of pur assers may caise our book valive fo decline and may resials fn rargle calls thar conld force
wex for sell awssers wrder adverse markel conditlons,

The market valwe of our assets is geperally determined by the marketplace on a spread 1o the Treasury and or LIBOR
swap interest rate curves and gencrally will move inversely to changes in interest eates (e as Treasury and/or LIBOR rates
imcrease, the value of our investments will deerease). The movement of the Treasury and LIBOR swap curves can result from a
variety of facters, including bat ot limited o factors such as Federal Reserve policy, market inflation expectations, and market
perceptions of risk. In periods of high volatility, spreads on our investments to the respective inferest rale curve may increase,
which would have the same consequence for the value of our assets as if the underlying interest rate curve had increased. As most
of our investments are considered available for sale under GAAP and ane therefore carried at fair valwe inour financial stalements,
the decline in valee would cause our sharcholders” equity to correspondingly decline.

Because we wilize recourse oollateralized financing such as repurchase agreements, a decline in the market value of our
imvestreents may limit our ability 1o borrow against these assets or result in owr lenders anitiating margin calls amd reguiring a
pledge of additional collateral or cash. Posting adiditional collateral or cash 10 support our borrowings would reduce eur liguidiny
andl limit owr akility to leverage our assets, which conld adversely affect our business. As a result, we could be forced to scll some
of our asscts in order to maintain liquidity. Foroed sales typically result in bvwer sales prices than do market sales made in the
normal course of business,  If our investments were liquidated at prices below the amortized cost basis of such investments, we
would incur losses, which could result in a rapid deterioration of eur financial condition.

Chir imakility to nreel cerfain covenants in onur repurchase agreements and derivative instraments conld adversely affect onr
Sfimancial condition, results of operations and cash flows,

In connection with certain of eur repurchase agreements and derivative instruments, we ang reguired (0 mainisin ¢ertain
finencial and financial covenants, The most restrictive requires that, on any date, we have (1) a minimam of 530 millon of Tiguidity;
(i1} a mindimum shareholders’ equity of $100 million; and (in) and 8 maximum debt-to-equity atio of 9-to-1. In addition, virually
oll of our repurchase agreements requine us o mainiain our states a5 o REIT and 0 be exempted from the provisions of the 1940
Act. Compliance with these covenants depends on market fisctors and the strength of our business and operiting results, Vanous
risks, uncertainties and evens bevond our control could affect our ability 1o comply with these covenants, Failure to comply with
these covenants could result in an event of default, termination of 3 repurchase sgreement, seceleration of all amounts owing under
the repurchase agreement, and gencrally gives the counterpany the right to exercise certain other remedies under the repurchase
agreement, imcluding the sale of the asset subject 10 repurchase o1 the time of default, unless we were able to negotiste a winver
in connection with any such default related 1o failure to comply with o covenant. Any such waiver could be conditioned on an
amemndment 1o the repurchase agreement and any relited guaranty agreement on terms that may be unfavorble to us. If we are
unnble o negotimte 3 covenant waiver or replace or refinance our assets under o new repurchase facility on favorable terms or at
all, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected. Further, certaim of our repurchase
pgreements have cross-defanlt, cross-accelerstion or similar provisions, such that if we were to violate o covenant under one
repurchase agreement, that vielation coubd lead to defiulis, asccelerations or ather sdverse events under other repurchase agreements,
s well,

We finamee our now=Agevncy MBS with a Nmited nawiber aof repurchase agreement lenders. A withdrawal by ene or nvere of
these lenders conld force us to sell our non-Agency MBS ot potentially distrexsed prices which conld impact onr profitability.
It conld also cawse other lenders to withdraw financing for onr Agency MBS,



Moa-Agency MBS historically have more price volatility than Agency MBS which limis the number of lenders willing
to prowide repurchase agreement fisancing for these sccuritics. In a period of price volatility, we may be subject to margin calls
which could adversely impact our liguidity. These margin calls could result from price volatility in the non-Agency MBS or from
higher margin requircments by the kender in order to provide additional collateral as a result of the price volatility, In addition,
kenders may mo longer offer financing of non-Agency MBS which could force us 1o sell some or all of these investments if we
could not find replacement financing. In cither instance we may be required to sell assets which could negatively impact our
profitabilicy. In an extreme situation, if we bost significant amounts of financing or if we received a significant amount of margin
calls on our non-Agency MBS, other lenders may also seek to reduce their financing of our Agency MBS, In such a case we would
likely have to sell additional investments to mainiain our liguidity.

Adverse developaents invelving mafor flnancial fpsiitutions o one of onr lenders could also resall in a rapld reduction i our
abiliny o borrow and adversely affecs our busimess and profTrabilin

Since 2008, events in the financial markets relating o major financial institutions have raised concemns that a material
adverse development involving e or mone neajor financial institutions could result in our lenders redueing our sceess to funds
available under our repurchase agreements. Such a disruption could cause our lembers 1o reduee oF terminate our access to future
bormowings. In such a scenario, we may be foreed to sell investments under adverse market conditions. We may also be unable
to purchase additional investments without access to additional financing. Either of these events could sdversely affect our business
andl profitabilaty.

I a fewder to ns i a repurchase transecifon definlts on s ebligation fo resell the wnderliflng securlty back fo ax af the end af
e framsaction rerm, oF U we defieslt on onre obligations wemder a repurchase agreement, we will incur losses,

Repurchase agreement transactions arc legally structuncd as the sale of a security to a lender in peturn for cash from the
kender. These transactions are acoounted for as financing agreements becanse the lenders are obligated to resell the same secunitics
back to us at the end of the transaction teem.  Because the cash we reccive from the lender when we initially scll the securtics to
the lender is less than the value of those secunties, if the lender defauls on its obligation 1w resell the same securitics back 1o us,
wi would incur a less on the transaction equal e the difference between the value of the secuntics sobd and the amount borrowed
from the lender. The lender may default on its obligation to resell if it expenences financial difficulty or of the lensder has re-
hypothecated the security to another party whe fails 1o transfer the security to the lender, Additionally, if we default on one of our
obligations under a repurchase agreement, the lender can terminate the transaction, sell the underlying collateral and cease entering
inte any other repurchase transactions with us, Any losses we ineur on our repurchase transactions could adversely affect our
camings and reduce our ability 1o pay dividends to our sharcholders,

A decrease or lack of Ngwidity in onr investments may adversely affect our business, incliding onr ability to valwe and sell onr
assefs,

We invest in securities that are nod publicly raded in liquid markets. Though Agency MBS are generally deemed to be a
very liguid security, furbulent market conditions in the past have ot times significantly and negatively impacted the Bguidity of
these assets, This has resulted in periods of reduced pricing for Agency MBS from our repurchase agreement lenders, In extrems
cases, financimg might not beavailable for centam Agency MBS, Generally, oar lenders will value Agency MBS based on ligquadation
value 1 periods of significamt market volanlity,

With respect 1o non-Agency MBS, such securities tvpically experience greater price volutility than Agency MBS as there
is ey gruaranty of paymient by Fannie Mo and Frediie Mac, and they can be more difficult to value. In addition, third-party pricing
for non=-Agency MBS may be more subjective than for Agency MBS, As such, non-Agency MBS wre typically bess hguad than
Agency MBS il are subject to a greater sk of repurchase agreement firmncing nof being available, market value reductions,
anibior bower sdvance rotes and higher costs from lembers.

iiiqueickiny i our investment portfelio may make it difficult for us to sell certain investment securities i the need or desine
arizes, In asdsdition, if we are required o hguidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, we may realize significantly less than
the: value st which we have previously recorded certain of our investment securities, As o nesult, our ability 1o vary our porifelio
in response 0 changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively mated, which could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition,
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The adopiion of the Dodd-Frank Act end futere regulations impfementing this and aother fegiclaion thar affects the morigage
irdivstry and tee RABE markets miay bave an adverse tmipact o our business, revalis of operatfons and Tramciol condition,

Omn July 20, 2000, the President signed inte law major Mnancial services reform legiskation in the form of the Dodd-Frank
Wall Sireel Reform and Consumer Protection Act, of the Daodd-Frank Act, The Dodd-Frank Act significamly changes the regulation
of financial institutions and the Mnancial services industry, including the mongage industry. The Dodd-Frank Act 1asks many
agencies with issuing a variely of new regulations, including rules relaied 10 mongage orgination and servicing, securitization
and derivalives. Beecawse a number of regulations under the Dodd-Frank Act have vet to be proposed or adopied, it is not vel known
how these additional regulations will ultimately affect the bormowing environment, the investing environment for RMBS, or inderesi
rate swaps and other derivatives. Conseguently, it i nod possible for us to predict how additional regulation pursuant to the Dodd-
Frank Act will affect our business, and there can be no assurance that the Dodd-Frank Act will not have an adverse impact on our
resulls of operations and Mnancial condition.

In addition to the Dodd-Frank Act, the Basel Commitlee on Banking Supervision in 20080 published BRasel I, a
comprehensive el of reform measures 10 strengthen the regulation, supervision and risk management of the banking sector. In
Jume 2012 the LS. federal banking agencies proposed rubes 1o implement the Basel 11 capital standards and implement changes
to the risk-weighting standards for assets held by depository instilutions. These measures aim o improve the banking secior's
ability to absorb shocks arsing from Ninancial and economic stress, whatever the source, improve risk management and governance,
and sirengihen banks' iransparency and disclosures. As of the date of this Annual Repont on Form 10-K, the U5, federal banking
regulators have delayved implementation ol ihe proposed Basel 111 capital standards, and related proposed changes to msk-weightings
for assels held by depository institutions, o consider the significant volume of comments received on the proposed Basel 111
standards, While we will not be subject 1o Basel 11, many of our lenders will be, and it is likely that Basel 111 in some manner
will imgsact the cost and availability of repurchase agreement linancing when adopted and implemented.

Ir respoise fo e faancial crisis fn 2008, the Federad Reserve has eased monietary condittens by lowering the federal funds
taerget rate aird fs actively sought fo par dewvimward pressare on inferest rates throngh the purchase of lenger-ferm Treasieny
securittes and fTved-rate Agency MBS, The Federal Reserve through the open marker operations of the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York ("FRENY") mow owns sabstantial amronnts of Treaswey securities and fived-rate Agercy MBE as a resalt of these
efforts, Ifehe Federal Reserve begins fighiening monetary peflicy or ifthe FREBN Y were fo sell these secnrities or even @unounce
that it intensds to sell these secnrities, longer-teem interest rates are ikely to increase deamatically which cowld megatively impoect
our reparted resalis, our operations, onr liguidity and eur boek valne,

In response Lo the financial crisis, and in order 1o mitigate 115 imphcations for the U.S, economy and linancial svstem, the
Federal Reserve aggressively cased monetary policy throughouwt 2008 by reducing the farget for the federal funds rate, By December
of 2008, the Federal Open Market Commitiee (“FOMC™) had reduced iis targel federal funds rate 10 a range of between %% and
0.25% which it still mainiains as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10K, With the farget federal funds rate at the effective
lower bound, the FOMC sought 1o provide additional policy monetary stimulus by expanding the holdings of longer term securnities
in its portfolio, including large-scale purchases of Treasury secunities and fixed-rate Agency RMBS (which the market has refermed
Lo as quantialive easing, or "E”), The purchases were intended fo lower longer-term interest rafes in general and morigage rabes
in particular, and contribute to an overall easing of monetary conditions. Open markel operations (i.e., the purchase and sale of
secunties by the Federal Reserve) have historically been the primary means by which the Federal Reserve implements monetary
poticy. Open market operations are conducted by the FRBNY, in comphiance with authorizations, policies, and procedures
established by the FOMC,

The Agency MBS purchase program was announced in Movember 2008 and has continued in some fashion since that
time, The FOMC announced i January 200 3 that it will continue 1o purchase through the FRBNY Agency BEMEBS of 340 billion
per month amd will reinvest the proceeds from pavdowns received on ils existing Agency RMBS portfolio. The FOMC 15 also
purchasing 545 billion per month in fonger-lerm Treasury secunities, Token together, the FOMC has said that it expects these
pctions should maimtain dewnward pressure on lenger-term interest rates, support morgage markets, and help 1o make broader
financial conditions more accommeasdative. The FOMC has also indicated that it will closely monitor information on economic
and financial developments in coming months, 15 the outloek for the LS. labor market does not improve substantially, the FOMC
has said that it will continug its purchases of Treasury and Agency MBS, and employ its other policy 100ls as appropriate, until



such improversent is achieved ina context of price slability. In determining the size, pace, and composition of ils assel purchases,
the FOMO has said that it will iake appropriate account of the likely efficacy and costs of such purchases.

The actions of ke Federal Reserve inthe context of modern LS, Ninancial history is unprecedenied, The podential marken
volatility from the Federal Reserve’s luture withdrawal of support via these assel purchases may be extreme. Further, the ultimate
disposition of securilies purchased by the Federal Reserve is not known and significant price volatility could occur, In such a
cage, il is likely that prices could decline which would cause a decline in our book value and also could resuli in margin calls by
our lenders with respect to Agency MBS that are pledged as collateral for repurchase agreemenis. [Ndeclines in prices are substantial,
this could force us o sell asseis ai a loss or at an otherwise inopporune time in order to meet margin calls or repay lenders.

In addition, by keeping the efMective largeted federal funds rate a1 the range of between 0% and 0.25%, the Federal Reserve
hias kepl short-term interest rates low which has benefited our borrowing costs, Cnee the Federal Reserve announces a higher
targeled range o il markels determine that the Federal Reserve ig likely 1o announce a higher targed range, our borrowing costs
are likely to increase which will negatively impact our resulis of operations and could impact our financial condition and book
value,

Fluctmaiions in feterest rafes pury fave variows megative gffects on us and could fead fo reduced prafftability and a lewer book
warliee,

Fluctuations in inderest rates impact us ina number of ways. For examiple, in a period of fising rates, we may experience
a decling in our profitability Mrom borrowing rates increasing fasier than our 2ssels resel of from our imvestments adjusting less
frequently or relative fo a different index (e.g.. one=year LIBOR) from our borrowings (which are typically based on one-month
LIBOR) We may also experience a reduction in the market value ol our Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS as a result of higher
vield requirements for these types of securities by the market. Ina period of declining interest ratles, we may eXpenience increasing
prepayments resulting in redusced profitability and returns of our capital in lower yielding investments as discussed elsewhere.
Although we cannol predict the occurrence of precise impacl of future interest rate Muctuations, such Muetuations could negatively
impact our resulis of operations, and could impact our fMinancial condition and ook value,

Many of our investments are financed with borrowings which have shoder madurity or inferest-resel terms than the
pssocialed investment, Inaddition, both our Ageney and non-Agency CMBS are lixed-rate, and a significant portion of our Agency
BEMBS have o fixed rate of interest for a certaim period of time and then reset semi-annually or annually based on an index such
85 the six-month or one-year LIBOR or ong=year CMT, These secunties are financed with repurchase agreements which bear
interest based predominantly on ong-month LIBOR, and generally have initial maturities between 30 and 90 days, In a period of
nising rates, rates on our borrowings will ivpically increase faster than rales on our assets resel, which may result in a reduciion in
our net interest income. The seventy of any such decline would depend on our assetliability composition ai the ime as well as
the magnitude and period over which interest rafes increase,

Additionally, increases in inferest rales may negatively affect the market value of our securities. In some instances
increases in short-term rates are rapid enough that shor-term rates equal or exceed medium/Tong-term rates resulting in a flat or
inveried vield curve. Any lixed-rate or hybrid ARM investments will generally be more negatively afected by these increases
than securitbes whose inferest-rate pensodically adjusts. For those securities that we carmy a1 estimated market value m our financial
statements, we are required 1o reduce our shareholders” equily, or book value, by the amount of any decrease in the market value
of these securities, In pddition, as mentioned elsewhere in thess Risk Factors, reductions in market value of our securities could
resull in margin calls from our lenders and could result in our being forced to sell securities af a loss,

Inferest rafe caps on tre ARMS collateralizing our invesinrents may adversely affect onr profitabilicy if inferest rates increase,

Because the inferest rates on the morgage loans collateraliznng ARM securities are tvpically based on an inferest rale
index such as LIBOR, the coupons camed on ARM securities adjust over time, The level of adjustment om the interest rates on
ARM secunties is limited by contract and is based on the limitattons of the underlying ARMs. Such mongage loans typically
have interim, or periodic, and lifetime interest rate caps which limit the amount by which the interest rates can adjust. Periodic
interest rate caps limit the amount interest rates can adjust during any given period,  Lifetime interest rate caps limit the amount
interest rates can adjust from inception through maturity of a particular loan, In a sustained period of Asing interest rates or a period
in which interest rates rise rapidhy, interest on our ARM securities could be limited dug 10 the ARM secunities reaching their periodic
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of lifetime inlerest rate caps. We may expernence price volatility as ARM securities approach their caps. We may also experience
a decline in our profitability as the repurchase agreements which finance our ARM securities have no periodic or lifetime inderest
rate caps.

e brsiness model depends ln part on the continned viability of Fannie Mae aond Freddie Mac, Both Fannie Mae and Freddie
M are enrrently wnder conservitorship by the Federal Housing Finance Agency (SFHEA")L As conservator, the FHEFA has
assumed all the powers of the shareholders, divectors and officers of the GEEs with the goal of preserving and conserving thele
ascere. Rotl Fanmle Mae's and Freddie Mac's solvency ix bedng supported by the Treasury through their conmifted pirchases
of Fannfe Mae and Freddie Mae preferred stock. The wltimate fopact om the aperations of Fanele Mae aond Freddie Mae from
the conservatorships amd the support they receive from the UL government 15 mod determinable and couwld affect Fannie Mage
aitd Freddie Mac in sich o way that oie business, operations aind firancial condition may be adversely affected,

In 2008, the FHEA placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac under federnl conservatorship, As its conservator, the FHFA has
broad regulatory powers over Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and has entered into Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements, as amendesd,
(“P5PAs") pursuant to which the Treasury ensures that Fannie Moe and Froddie Mac will separstely maimtaim o posative net worth
by committing to purchase prefermed stock of Fannee Mae and Freddie Mac,

The problems faced by Fanmie Mae and Freddie Moc, which resulted in their placement into federal conservatorship and
receipt of significant 1.5, govemment support, have sparked debate among federal policy makers regarding the continued role of
the ULS. government in providing liguidity for mortgage loans and Agency MBS, On February 21, 2002, the FHFA released its
Strategic Plam for Enterprise Conservatorships, which set forth three goals for the next phase of the Fannic Mac and Freddic Mac
conservitorships. These three goals are (1) build a new infrastructure for the secondary morgage market, (i) grsdually contract
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's presence in the marketplace while simplifying and shrinking their operations, and (i) maintain
foreclosure prevention activities and credit availability for new and refinanced morgages, On October 4, 200 2, the FHEA released
its white paper entitled Building a Mew Infrastrocture for the Secondary Mortgage Market, which proposes a new infrastructure
for Fannie Mae and Freddie Moc that has two basic goals. The first goal iz 10 replace the current, owtdated infrastructures of Fannie
Mag and Freddie Moc with o commen, more efficient infrastructure that aligns the standards and practices of the twe entitics,
beginning with core functions performed by both entities such as issuange, master servicing, bond administration, collateral
management and data integration. The second goal is to establish an operating framework for Fannic Mae and Freddic Mac that
is consistent with the progress of housing finance reform and encowrages and accommodates the increased participation of private
capital in assuming credit risk associated with the sccondary morigage market.

The FHFA recognizes that there are a number of impediments to their goals which may or may not be surmountable, such
as the absence of any significan secondary mongage market mechanisms beyvond Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and that itg
proposals arc in the formative stages. As a result, it is unclear if the proposals will be enacted in any forme and, if enacted, how
closely what iz enacted will resemble the original proposals from the FHFA White Paper.

With Fannic Mae's and Freddic Mac®s future under debate, the natare of their future guarantec obligations could be
considerably limited. Any changes to the nature of their guarantee obligations could redefine what constitutes an Agency MBS
and could hkave broad sdverse implications for the market and our business, operations and financial condition. IF Fannie Mae or
Freddic Mac are climinated, o their structures change significantly (c.g., limitation or removal of the gearantce obligation), we
msay be unable to acquire additional Agency MBS, This would remaove a matenal component of our investment strategy and would
make it more difficult for us to comply with the provisions of the 1990 Act (sce further discussion below regarding the 1940 Act).

Although the Treasury las commitied to the solvency of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mae, there can be no assurance that
thiese actions will be adequate for their needs. If these actions are inadeqguate, Fanmie Mac and Freddie Mac could fail to omor
thcir guarantecs and other obligations. [f Fannic Mae and Freddie Mac were unwilling or unable to honor the guarantee of payment
on Agency MBS, or were perceived to be bess likely t0 honor fully such guarantees, we could potentially incur substantial losses
on such securities and cxpericnee extreme market price volatline, We rely on our Agency MBS as collateral for our financings
under our repurchase agreements. Any decline in their value, or pereeived market uncertainty about their value, would make it
rere difficult for us e obain financing on acceptable terma or at all, or to maintain our compliance with the terms of any financing
transaciioms,



Future policies that change the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the U5, government, including
thiose that result in their winding down, nationalization, privatization, of elimination, may create markel unceriainty and have the
effect of reducing the actual or perceived credit quality of secunities issued or guaranieed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. As a
result, such policies could increase the risk of Toss on investiments in Agency MBS guaranteed by Fannie Mae and'or Freddie Mac,
It also is possible that such policies could adversely impact the market for such securities and spreads at which they trade, All of
the foregoing could materially and adversely ailect our business, operations and linancial condition,

Global sovereign credit risk conld have a material adverse effect on onr business, financlal condifion and Ngutdisy.

Sovercign credil in the United States and Europe is currently under pressure as a resull of large budget deficits, Nscal
imbalances and below trend growth or negative growth. While we do not borrow directly from any sovergign, global risk appetite
is impacted by changes in actual or perceived credit risk of the United States, Europe and Asia. Adverse changes in sovereign
credit ratingscould have a raterial adverse impact on inancial markews and economie conditions in e United Siates and worldwide,
and on the availability of linancing as well as the price of securities that we own. Any such adverse impact could have a material
adverse elfect on cur liquidity, financial condition and resulis of operations.

In addition, since Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are under conservatorship of the LS. government which is supporiing
their solvency, it is unclear iTany downgrade in the credit ofthe U.S. government would impact ils ability 1o maintain the solvency
of these entities. In such a case, the ability of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac 10 perform pursuant 1o their guaraniees on Agency
MBS may be severely limited which could have a matenal adverse effect on our liquidity, Mnancial condition and resulis of
OpeTalions,

Chamges in prepayrnesl rafes on e miorgage loans saderlying onr investments mray adversely affect our profitabifity and the
mrerket value of e lnvestments. Clrariges In prepayarent retes also silifect as fe rednvestment risk,

Chur investments subject us to prepayment risk o the extent thal we own them at premiums 1o their par value, We use
the elfective vield method of accounting for amonization of premiums which is impacied by aciual and projecied bosrower
prepayments of principal on the loans (whether ona voluntary or involumary basis ) underlying our investments. [Dwe experience
actual prepayments in excess of forecasts or increase our expectations of future prepayment activity, we will amoriize premiums
on invesiments on an accelerated basis which may adversely afTect our profitability,

Prepayments oceur on both a voluntary or involumtary basis, Voluntary prepayvments tend 10 increase when interest rabes
are declining or, in the case of AREMs or hybrid AEMs, based on the shape of the yield curve, CMBS in which we invest generally
are protecied in the case of voluntary prepayments ¢ither from absolule prepayment lock-out on the loan or compensation for
future lost interest income on the loan through yvield mainienance payments or prepayment penalties. The aciual level of prepayments
will be impacted by economic and market conditions, including new loan underwritling requirements, Involuniary prepayments
tend 10 imcrease in periods of economic stress, Involuniary prepayments occur For all of our imvestment ivpes, mcluding Agency
EMBS and CMBS and non-Agency RMBS and CMBS.

The value of our RMBS assets is affected by prepayvment rates on the morigage loans underiying the EMBS, and our
investment strategy includes making investments based on our expectations regarding prepaymient rales, Prepayment rabes that
are faster than anticipated may increase or decrease the value of a securiiy, depending on the type of security and the price paid
to acquire the security, and will impact the yield on the secunity. Prepaymend rates may be affected by a number of Tactors including
the wvailabihiy of morigage credit, the relstive economic vitality of the area in which the related properties are located, the averape
remaiming life of the loans, the average size of the remaiming loans, the servicing of the monigage boans, possible changes in tax
laws, other opportunities for investment, homeowner mobility and other economic, social, geographic, demographic and legal
fctors. Consequently, such prepayment rates cannod be predicied with any certainty. In making imvestment decisions, we depend
on cerlwin assumplions based upon historical trends with respect 1o the relationship between interest rates ond prepaymients under
normal market conditions. 17 regulatory changes, dislocations in the residentinl mortgage market, or other developments change
the way that prepayment trends have historically responded 1o interest rate changes, our ability to (1) predict or make assumptions
regarding prepayvment rates, (2) assess the market value of target assets, (3) implement hedging strategies and (4) implement
technigques 1o bedge prepayment risks would be significantly affected, which could matenially adversely affect our financial position
oand results ofoperations. [Fwe make erronsous assumplions regarding prepayment rales, we may expenience significant investment
bosses,
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IMwe receive increased prepayments of our principal in a declining or low interest rale environment, we may eamn a lower
FELUTT O Our few investmenis as compared 1o ihe MBS that prepay given the declining interest rate environment, 11 we reinvest
our capital in lower vielding investmenis, we will likely have lower met inderest income and reduced profiiabiliny unless the cost
of financing these investmenis declines. faster than the rate &l which we may reinvest,

Five Freasury amd Congress continne fo seek ways fo support the U8, kousing market and the overall L8, economy, including
seeking ways fo make §f easler fo refinance loans owvned or guaramieed by Fannle Mae or Freddie Magc where the borroswer
mray have negative egrity. T oddiefon, morigage loan modification programs and fufure fegislative action may edversely affect
the value of end the retarn on Agency RVMEBS securities in which we fhvest, Since we own onr Agency RMBY af preseinms fo
thedr par balance, we could reur subatartial fosses on our Agency RMEY if morigage loan refinancings ncreaved,

The Treasury and the Depanment of Howsing and Urban Development {"HLUTY") have implemented the Home A Mordable
Refinamce Program {of "TLARP™), which allows bormowers who ane current on their morigage payments to reflinance loans originated
on or before May 31, 2009, with current loan-lo-value ratios exceeding 80%, in order to reduce their monthly monigage paymenis,
HARP specifically targets borrowers that are current on their mornigage pavement but who have negative equity in their home and,
as & result, have been unable 1o refinance into a lower cost morigage (given the decline in current morigage rafes compared Lo pre-
May 31, 20, HARP currently is set o expite on December 31, 20013, Many of our Agency RMBS that are collateralized by
morigage loans whose coupons excesd curment morigage interest rales are owned al premiums 1o their par balance. HARF initially
was nol &8 suceessiul as intended, and recent changes to the program, particularly with respect 1o Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's
implementation of HARF, have led 1o increased panicipation in HARFP and generally increased prepayment activity on Agency
RMBS, IT refinance activily continues to increase for Agency RMBS or il we increase forecasied prepayments on our Agency
RMBS, our nel interest income would be negatively impacted by the additional amortization of premium on our Agency RMBS,
In addition, we may experience significant volatility in the markel value of Agency RMBS as the market resels prepavrment
expeciations on Agency RMBS, Such volatility could lead 1o margin calls from our repurchase agreement lenders and could force
us o sell these secunties under unfavorable conditions and possibly at a loss.

The Treasury and HUD have also created a number of diTerent programs imended 1o assist borrowers that are strugeling
to make their morgage payment that may involve, among other things, the modification of morgage loans to reduce the principal
amount of the koans (through forbearance and’or forgiveness) andlor the rate of interest payable on the loans, or o extend the
paymend termes of the loans, Loan modifications such as these could resull in our ultimately receiving less than we are contractually
due on certain of our imvestments, A significant number of loan modifications with respect 10 a given security could negatively
impact the realized yields and cash flows on such security. These loan modification programs, future legislative or regulatory
actions, mcluding new morigage loan modification programs and possible amendments 1o the bankruptey laws, which result in
the modification of sulstanding residential morigage loans, as well as changes in the requirements necessary o qualify for
refinancing morigage loans with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae, may adversely afTect the value of, and the retums on,
our securilized single-Family morigage loans and Agency RMBS,

W inwest in interest only ("107) devivative secirities ssued by CMBS securitization trasts which are backed principally by
wrultifawrily mortgage loons, We conld lose some or all of our investment in CMES 10 securities if the loans in the CMES
securitization frusts pnexpectediy prepap,

10k secunties have no principal amounts outstanding and consist only of the right (o receive excess interest paymenis on
the underiving CMBS Toans included in the securitization rust. W could bose some or all of sur investment in our 10 securities
if the underlying loans in the CMBS default and are lquidnted, restructured or are otherwise repand or refinanced prior to their
expocted repavment date. Such an event would couse our net income to declime and could also resull m declines in market prices
on our CMBS 10 securities, thereby reducing our book value, resaltimg in margin calls from repurchase agreement lenders, and
adversely affecting our financial condition. In addition, keans underlying the MBS may be profected from voluntary prepayment
through lock-out, yield maimtenance, or prepayment penalty provisions. In cerlain 10 securities, yield maintenance or prepayment
penalties may not be sufficient to compensate us for the loss of future excess interest a5 a result of the prepayment thereby adversely
affecting our results of operations,



Provisions reguiring pield malwfenance charges, prepayrent peralttes, defeasance or lock-oues i CHWBS I securitles mray
it b einfarceable

Provisions in lean documents for mongages in CMBS [0 securities in which we invest reguiring vicld mainienance
charges, prepavment penalties, defeasamce or bock-out persods may not be enforceable in some states and under federal bankruptey
law. Provisions in the boan decuments requining yield mainienance changes and prepavment penalties may also be interpreted as
consfituting the collection of interest for usury purposes, Accordingly, we cannot be assured that the obligation of & borrower fo
pay any yield maintenance charge or prepayvment penalty under a loan document in a CMBS 10 sacarity will be enforceable. Also,
wie cannot be assuned that foreclosune procecds under a boan document ina CMBS 10 security will be sufficient to pay an enforccable
vield maintenance charge. 16 vield maintenance charges and prepaymicnt penaliics are nod collected, or il a lock-oul period is not
enforeed, we may incur besses 1o write-down the value of the CMBS 10 security for the present value of the amounts not collected.
This would also likely cause margin calls from any lender on the CMBS 10 impacted.

W imwest i conrriercial rorigage foans and CHRS collareralized by commercial morigage loans wlifch are secured by ficome

produciig properties, Sich loans are typleally made fo siigle-assef emiittes, amd the repayerent of the foan 5 dependenyt
privcipally on the nel eperating ncomie from performance and velue of tee wnderlyiing properts,. The valanifity af mceme
performiarce resilis amd property valees sy adversely affect e comnrercial morgage loans and CWES,

Owr commercial morigage loans and CWMBS are secured by multifamily and commercial property and are subject 1o risks
of delinguency, foreclosure, and loss, Commercial mongage loans gencrally have a higher principal halance and the ability of a
borrower 10 repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent upon the successiul operation of the
progerty rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. 17 the nel operating income of the property
is reduced, the borrower's ability 1o repay the loan may be impaired. Net operating income of an income-producing property can
be affected by, among other things: tenant mix, success of tenani businesses, property management decisions, propery location
and condition, competition from comparable types of properties, changes in laws that increase operating expenses or limit renis
that may be charged, any need 1o address environmenial contamination at the property, changes in national, regional or local
economic conditions and'or specilic industry segments, declines in regional or local real estate valwes and declines in regional or
local rental or occupancy rates, increases in intenest rates, real estate tax rates and other operating expenses, changes in governmental
rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including environmentnl legislation, and acts of God, terrorism, social unrest and civil
disturbances.

Commercial and mulufamily propeny values and net operating income derved from them are subject to volatiliny and
may be affected adversely by a number of factors, including, but not limited 1o, natsonal, regional and local economic conditions;
focal real estate conditions; changes or continued weakness i specific industry segmems; perceplions by prospective lenanis,
relatlers and shoppers of the safely, convenience, services and attractivenass of the propenty; the willingness and ability of the
progery’s owner o provide capable management and adequate maimenance: constructron quality, age and design; demographic
factors; retroactive changes 1o building or similar codes; and increases in operating expenses (such ns energy cosis),

Declimes in the borrowers' netl operating income and'or declines m property values of collateral securmg commerncinl
morgige loans could result in defauls on such loans, declines m our book valee from reduced eamings and’or reductions 1o the
market value of the investment,

Credit ratings assigned to debt secarities by the credit rating agencies may wot acenrately reflect the risks associated with those
secnrittes. Changes in eredit ratings for securities we own or for simifar secarities might negatively impact the market value
of these securitics,

Rating agencies rte securities based upon their pssessment of the salety of the receipt of pringipal and interest payments
on the securities, Rating agencies do not consider the nisks of Musteations in fair value or other fagtors that may mifluence the value
of securities and, therelore, the assigned credit rting may not Tully reflect the true rsks of an investment in sécurities. Also, rting
ppencies may fal 1o make umely adjustments 10 credit ratings based on available data or changes in economic outlook or may
otherwize [l to make changes in credit ratings in response Lo subseéquent events, 5o our investments may be better or worse than
the ratings indicate, We attempl 10 reduce the impact of the nsk that a credit rating may ned accurately reflect the nisks associated
with o particular debt security by not relying solely on credit ratings as the indicator of the quality of an investment, We make our
pequisition decisions afler factoring in other information that we have obtained about the loans underdyving the security and the
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credil subordination structure of the security, Dhespite these elforts, our assessment of the guality of an invesiment may also prove
to b inaccurate and we may incur credil bosses in excess of our inilial expectations.

Credil rating agencies may change their methods of evaluating credit risk and determining ratings on securities backed
by real estae lpans and securnities, These changes may occur quickly and ofien, The market's ability to undersiand and absorh
these changes, and the impact w the securitization market in general, are diflicult 1o predict. Such changes may have a negative
impact on the value of securities thal we own,

ier ownership of securifized mortgage Toans subfects ns fo credid risk and, although we provide for an alfowance for loan
fosses on these foans as reguired wnder GAAF, the losy reserves are based on exstimates. As a resalf, actual fosses fncarred may
be larger than our reserves, reqisiring us to provide addivional reserves, wiich woild inipact our financiel position and resalis

of operations,

We are subject o credit risk as a resull of our ownership of securitized mongage loans. Credil risk is the rsk of logs o
us from the failure by a borrower (or the proceeds (rom the liquidation of the underving collateral) o Tully repay the principal
balance and imerest due on a morgage loan. A borrower s ability to repay the loan and the value of the underlyving collateral could
be negatively impacted by economic and market conditions. These conditions could be global, national, regional or local in nature.

We provide reserves Tor losses on securnilized mongage loans based on the current performance of the respective pool or
on an individual loan basis. 17 losses are experienced more rapidly due o declining property performance, market condilions or
other factors, than we have provided for in our reserves, we may be requited to provide additional reserves for these losses, In
addition, our allowance for loan losses is based on sstimates and to the extent thal proceeds rom the liguidation of the underlying
collateral are less than our estimates, we will record a reduction in pur profilability for that peried egqual 1o the shosfall,

e efforts fo marage credit risk mray mor be saccessfid fa Weiliiong definguencies and defaulis in wnderlying loans or foises on
our frvestaenrs. I we experfence higher than anficipated delinguencies and defoulis, owr earnfngs, enr book value and onr
cash flow nray be negatively lmpacred,

There are many aspects of credit performance for our investments that we cannod control, Third party servicers provide
for the primary and special servicing of our single-family and commercial morgage loans and non-Agency securities and CMBS,
In that capacity these service providers control all aspects of loan collection, loss mitigaton, default management and ultimate
resolution of a defaulied loan, We have a risk management function which oversees the performance of these servicers and provides
limited assel management services, Loan servicing companies may not cooperate with our msk management efforts, or such ¢fforis
may b ineffective, We have no contraciual nghts with respect 1o these servicers and our risk management operations may nod be
successiul in hmiting future delinquencies, defaulis, and losses,

The securitizations in which we have invested may not receive Funds that we believe are due from morgage insurance
companies and other counterpariies. Service providers (0 secuntizations, such as trustees, bond msurance providers, puarantors
and custodinns, may not perform in 3 manner that promotes our interests or may default on their obligation 1o the secuntization
trust. The value of the properties collateralizing the loans may decline causing higher losses than anticipated on the hquidation
of the propery. The frequency of defaull and the loss severity on loans that do default may be greater than we anticipated. 17
lonns become “real estabe owned” ("RECT), servicing companies will have 1o manage these properiies and may nol be able o sell
them. Changes in consemer behavior, bankraptcy laws, tax laws, and other lows may exocerbale loan losses. In some states and
circumstances, the secunitizations in which we invest hive recourse, as the owner of the loan, agaimst the borrower s other asseis
and income in the event of loan default; however, in most cases, the value of the underlving propery will be the sole source of
funds fior any recoveries,

frnprwniors may fail fo perform on el obligations fo our secnritization frrusts, wiich conld resnlf in additional losses te us,
In cerain instances we have guaranty of payment on commercial and single-farmily morigage loans pledged 1o
securitization trusts (see lem A, “Cuantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk™). These guarantors have reported

substantial losses since 2007, eroding their respective capital bases and potentially adversely impacting their ability to make
payments where requited. Generally the guaraniors will only make payment in the event of the default and liguidation of the
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collaeral supponting the koan. 1T these guaraniors fail o make payment, we may experience losses on the loans that we otherwise
wonld mo have experienced.

We may be subfect to the risks associated with inadequate or untinely services from thivd-panty service providers, which may
farimi oiir resilis of operations, We also rely on corporare trustees to oot on belalf of ux and other holders of securities in
enforcing onr rights,

Chur loans and loans underlving non-Agency MBS we own are serviced by third-party service providers. Should a servicer
experience Minancial difMicultics, it may nod be able 1o perform these obligations. Due o application of provisions of bankrupiey
law, servicers who have sought bankruptey proteciion may not be required 1o make advance payments 1o us of amounts due from
loan borrowers. Even ila servicer were able 1o advance amounts in respect of delinguent loans, its obligation to make the advances
ray be limiled o the extent that is does not expect W recover the advances due 1o the deteriorating credit of the delinguent loans.
In addition, as with any external service provider, we are qubject to the risks associated with inadequate of untinely services [or
olher reasons. Servicers may nol advance Munds 19 us thal would ordinarily be due because of ermors, miscalculations, or other
reasons. Many borrowers require notices and reminders to keep their loans current and 1o prevent delinguencies and foreclosures,
swhich our servicers may Fail 1o provide, In the cusrent economic environment, many servicers are experiencing higher volumes
of delinguent loans than they have in the past and, as a result, there is a risk that their operational infrasirectures cannol properly
process this increased volume. A substantial increase in our delingquency rate resulting from improper servicing or loan performance
in general may result in credit losses.

We also rely on corporate trustees 1o act on behall of us and other holders of securities in enforcing our rights, Under the
terma of maosd securities we hold we do not have the night 1o directly enforee remedies against the issuer of the secuarity, bul instead
rinust rely on a trustee 1o act on behall of us and other secanty halders. Should a trustee not be required 1o (ake action under the
terma of the securitbes, or fail 1o take action, we could experience losses.

hier wse of hedging sirategies to RN our Inferest rate exposire may nof be effective, may adversely affect our ircome, ruy
exprse iis fo couwnterparty rivks, aod may fnerease owr confingent Hobilies,

We may pursue varous bypes of hedging strafegies, including inferest rafe swap agreements, interest rate cops and other
derivative transactions (collectively, “hedging mstruments”). We expect hedging 10 assist us in mitigating and reducing our
exposure 10 higher interest expenses, and 1o o lesser extent, losses in book value, from adverse changes in interest rates, Our
hedging activity will vary in scope based on the level and volatility of interest rades, the type of assets i our investment porifiolio
ond financing sources used. Mo hedging strategy, however, can completely insulate us from the interest rate risks 10 which we are
exposed, and there is no assurance that the implemendation of any hedging strategy will have the desired impact on our resulis of
operations or financial condition. Certain of the U5, Federal income tax requirements that we must salisfy in order 1o qualify as
a REIT, and certain Commaodity Fulures Trading Commigsion rules, regulations and guidance we must salisfy in order not 1o be
required o register as 4 commodity pool operator, may limit our ability 10 hedge against such nisks. In addition, these hedging
strafepies may adversely affect us because hedging activities involve an expense that we will incur regardless of the effectiveness
of the hedging aclivity.

Inferest rafe hedging may faif to protect or could adversely affect us because, among other things:

» inlerest rale hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of nsing and volatile interest rates;

*  available interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk from which we ssek protection;

= the duration of the hedge may not maich the duration of the relaed liability;

= thesmount of mcome that a REIT may eamn from hedging tramsactions {other than through taxable REIT subsidianies)
to ofTset interest rate losses may be limited by U5, federal income lax provisions goveming REITs:

= the credit quality of the pany owing money on the hedge may be downgraded o such an extent that i1 impairs our
ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction;

= the pary owing money i the hedging transaction may default on 115 obligation 10 pay;

= the value of denvatives used for hedging may be adjusted from time 1o time in accordance with GAAP 10 reflect
changes in fair value, and downward adjustments, or “mark-to-market losses,” would reduce our shareholders” equity
ond book valwe; and



= hedge accounting under GAAP is extremely complex and any ineffectiveness of our hedges under GAAP will impact
our statement of operations.

We expect 1o primarily use interest rate swap agreements 1o hedge against anticipated future increases in interest expense
from our repurchase agreements, Should an interest rate swap agreement counterparty be unable to make required pavments
pursuant ko the agreement, the hedged liability would cease 1o be hedged for the remaining term of the interest rate swap agreement.
In addition, we may be at risk of loss of any collateral held by a hedging counterparty to an interest rate swap agreement, should
the counterparty become insolvent or file for bankruptey, Our hedging transactions, which are intended 1o limit losses, may aciually
adversely alfect our eamings, which could reduce our ability fo pay dividends to our shareholders.

Hedging instruments involve risk since they often are not iraded on regulated exchanges, puaranteed by an exchange or
its clearing house, or regulated by any LLS. or foreign governmental authorities. Consequenily, there may be no requirements with
respect 1o record keeping, linancial responsibility or segregation of customer lunds and positions. Funhermore, the enforceability
of hedging instruments may depend on compliance with applicable statuory, commodity and other reculatory requirements and,
depending on the identity of the counterparty, applicable international requiremenis. The business failure of 2 hedging counterparty
with whom we enter into a hedging transaction will most likely result in its defaull. Defauli by a pary with whom we enter into
a hedging transaciion may result in the loss of unrealized profis and force us te cover our commitments, iF any, al the then current
rsarket price, Although generally we will seek 1o reserve the right 1o terminate our hedging positions, it may nol always be possible
to dispose of or close oul a hedging position without the congent of the hedging counterpany, and we may nol be able (o enter inlo
an olfseiting contract in onder 1o cover our risk, In cerain circumstances a liquid secondary market may nol exist for hedging
imstruments purchased or sold, and we may be required to maintain a position until exercise or expiration, which could resull in
losses.

Hedging instruments could also require us to Mund cash paymients in cerlain circumstances (such as the early termination
of a hedging instrument caused by an event of default or other voluntary of involuniary ermination event or the decision by a
hedging counterparty Lo request the posting of collateral it is contractually owed under the terms of the hedging instrument), With
respect i the termination of an existing inderest rale swap agreement, the ampunt dee would generally be equal 1o the unrealized
boss o Uhe open interest rale swap agreement position with (he hedging counterparty and could also inclede other fees and charges,
These economic losses would be reflected in our results of operations, and our ability to fund these obligations will depend on the
liguidity of our assets and access o capital af the time, Any losses we incur on our hedging instruments could adversely afect
our eamings and reduce our ability to pay dividends to our sharcholders,

W may change our investrend strategy, operating policies, dividend policy and'or asset allocations withowt shareholder consent,

We may change our invesimend siralegy, operating policies, dividend policy andlor asset allocation with respect o
invesiments, acquisitions, leverage, growth, operations, imndebledness, capitalization and distributions at any time without the
consent of our sharcholders. A change in our investment strategy may INCrease our exposure 10 interest rate and’or credil risk,
defaulinisk and real esiate market Muctuations. Furthermare, a change in our asset allocation could result in sur making investiments
in assel calegories different from our historical investiments, These changes could adversely affect our financial condition, resulis
of operations, the market price of our common stock or cur ability 10 pay dividends to our shareholders,

Comperition muay prevent us from goguiring new investmenis af fovorable yields, and we may nof be able fo achieve our investment
objectives wiich sy potentiafly have o negative impact on oor profifabiliy,

Cr el income will kargely depend on our ability to acquire morgage-related assels ot favorable spreads over our
bomowing costs. The availability of morigage-related nssels meeting our invesiment critena depends upon, among other thimgs,
the level of activity im the real estate marked and the quality of and demand for securities in the morgage secuntization and
secondary markets. The siee and level of activity in the residential real estate lending market depends on vanous ctors, including
interest rates, regional and national economic conditions and real estate values, In acquining investiments, we may compete with
other purchasers of these types of iInvestments, including but not limited o other mongage REITs, broker-dealers, hedge funds,
banks, savings and loans, insurance companies, mutual funds, and other entities that purchase assets similar to ours, many of which
have greater financial resources than we do. As a result of all of these factors, we may not be able 10 acquire sufficient assets ai
acceplable spreads o our borrowing costs, which would adversely afTect our profitability,

)



New aisels we acqulre may mof gemerate pleldys o aitraciive as ylelids on our current assers, resuliing in a decline in our earnings
PEF share aver e,

In order to maintain our portfolio size and our camings, we must reinvest te cash fows we receive from our existing
investment portfolio including monthly principal and interest payments, and proceeds from sales, IF the asscts we acquire in the
futare cam lower yiclds than the assets we currently own, our reported camings per share will likely decline over time as the older
assets pay down or are sold. The risk that new ly-sequired investments will ot gencerate viclds as attractive as yields on our curment
assets has been exacerbated in recent quariers due to the very low interest rate environment, Federal Reserve monetary policy and
open market parchases of asseis, and increased competition for investment securities.

thier Clrairmar and Chief Executive Officer devates a portion of his tiwee to another company in @ capacity that could create
conflices of irterest theat seay hars our investment opporfunites; teis fack of @ fill-timie commitment conld alie harm our

aperatirg resilis,

Cwur Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Thomas Akin, is the managing pencral panner of Talket Capital, LLC, o
which he devotes a portion of his fime. Talked Capital invests in both private and public companies, including investments in
common and preferred stocks of other public mongage REIT=, Mr Akin's activities with respect to Talkot Capital result in his
spending only & portion of his time and effort on managing our sctivities, as be is under no contractual obligation which mandates
that he devote a minimum amoant of ime to owr company. Sivce he iz nod fully focused on us at all imcs, this may harmm owr
overall management amd operating results,  In addition, though the investment strategy and activitics of Talkot Capital arc not
directly related 1o us, Mr. Akin's activitees with respect to Talkot Capital may create conflicts, Our corposate govemance policics
include formal notification policies with respect to potential ssues of conflict of inderest for competing business opporiunitics.
Compliance by Mr. Akin, and all employees, is closely monitored by our Chief Financial Officer and Boand of Dircctoss.
Noncthebess, Mr. Akin's activities with respect to Talkot Capital could create conflicts of interest.

Risks Related 1o Regulatory and Legal Requirements
Risks Specific ta Our REIT Status

(realifiving ax a REIT imvalves Fighly techwical and complex provisions of the Code, and a technical or inadvertent vielation
counld jeopardize our REIT qualification, Maintaining oar REIT statws may reduce onr flexibility to manage onr operations,

Cualification as s REIT invelves the apphication of highly technical and complex Code provisions For which only limited
judicial and administrutive suthorities exist. Even a technical or insdvertent violation could jeopardize our REIT qualification.
Cr qualification as 2 REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain asset, mcome, organizational, distrbution, stockholder
ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. Our operations and use of leverage also subjects us 0 interpretations of
the Code, and technical or inadvertent vielations of the relevant reguirements under the Code could couse us 1 lose our REIT
status o 1o pay significant penalties and interest. Tn addition, our ability (o satisfy the requirements to qualify as o REIT depends
in part on the actions of third parties over which we have no control or only limited influence, including in cases where we own
ari exuaty inferest in an entity that is classified as a pannership for LS. federnl income tax purposes.

Muntaining our REIT status mny limst flexibality in managing our operations, For imstance:

= If we make fregquent asset sales from our REIT entities 1o persons deemed customers, we could be viewed as a
“dhealer,” and thus subject 1w 100%% probibied transaction taxes or other entity level taxes on income from such
Lransaciions,

= Compliance with the REIT income and asset requirements may limit the tyvpe or extent of hedging that we can
undertake.

= Our ability to own non-real estate related assets and cam non-real estate related income is limited, Owr ability 1o
OWR eguity inferests in other entities is Bmates, 1 we fail to comply with these limits, we may be forced to lgpuidate
sitrsctive assets on short netice on unfavorsble terms m onder to mantan our REIT status,

= Chur ability o invest in taxable subsidianes = hmited under the REIT rules. Maintaining compliance with this
limitagion could require us o constrain the growth of future taxable REIT affiliates.
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= MNotwithstanding our NOL carmyforward, meeting minimum REIT dividend disiribwtion requirerments could reduce
our liquidity. Eaming non-cash REIT 1axable income could necessitate our selling assets, incurring debd, or raising
new equity in order 1o fund dividend distributions.

= Biwock ownership tesis may limit our ability @0 raise significant amounis of equity capital from one source,

If we do et qualify as o REIT or fail to remain qualiffed as a REFT, we may be sulfect to fax as a regular corporation and
conld firce o tae Nabifity, wirich wonld reduce the amounr of cash avallable for diseribution fo onr shareholders.

We intend io operaie in a manmner that will allow us to gualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Our gualification
az a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, disiribution, stockholder ownership and odher
requirements on a conlinuing basis. Our ability 1o satisly the asset tests depends upon our analysis of the characierization and fair
rndrket values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise determination, and for which we will not obtain
independent appraizals. Our compliance with the REIT income and quanerly asset requirements also depends upon our ability 1o
successfully manage the composition of our income and assels on an ongoing basis,

1M we were 1o fail to qualify as a REIT in any laxable veas, we would be subject to federal income tax, afler congideration
of our MOL carryforward but nol considering any dividends paid 1o our shareholders during the respective fax year, 1§ we could
not otherwise offset this axable income with our NOL carry forward, the resulling corporate tax liability could be material w our
resulis and would redwce the amount of cagh available for digtribution 1 our shareholders, which in turn could have an adverse
impact on the value of our commion stock. Unbess we were entitbed (o reliel under cenain Code provisions, we also would be
disqualified from taxation as a REIT until the Nth taxable yvear following the yvear for which we filed 1o qisalify as a REIT,

e fautire wse of owur fax YOL carryforvand 3 milted iender Seciton 382 of the Code, which cowld resuly in figher faxvable
frconne and greater disteibutfon regadrerents I order fo mialmtaln owr RETT stoties. Farther, §f we ankoowdngly andergo
areiler ovwriership charge parsiant to Section 382, or mibsealculare the liriitations inpesed by a kenown ownersivip change,
arrd wrifize an impermissible amount of the NOL, we may fail to meel the disietbution reguirevnenis of a REIT and therefore
we could lose onr REFT status,

We can use our tax NOL carmyforward to offset our taxable camings afier taking the REIT distribution requirements into
account. Section 382 of the Code lmits the amount of NOL that could be used 10 offset 1axable eamings afier an “ownership
change™ ocours. A Section 382 ownership change generally occurs iFf one or more sharcholders who own at least 5% of our stock,
or certain groups of shareholders, increase their aggregate ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership
percentage within a rolling thres-year period.

Chur public offering of common stock in February 2002 resulied in an ownership change under Section 382, Based on
management's analvsis and expert third-party advice, which necessanly mcludes certain assumplions regarding the charascieneation
under Section 382 of our use of capital raised by us, we determined that the ownership change under Section 382 will it our
ability 10 use our NOL carmyforward 1o offset our taxable income o an estimated maximum amount of $13.5 million per vear.
Because NOLs generally may be carmied forward for up to 20 vears, this annual limitation may efMectively limit the cumulative
amount of pre-ownership change bosses, including certain recognized buili-in losses, that we may utilize. This would result in
higher taxable income and greater distribution requiremients. in order 1o maintain REIT qualification than if such fimitation were
not in eflect.

We may incur additional ownership changes under Section 382 m the future, in which case the use of our NOL could be
further limited, Future issuances or sales of our stock (including transactions involving owr stock that are out of our control j could
resull i an ownership change under Section 382, 1T further ownership changes occur, Section 382 would impose stricter anmuaal
himits on the amount of pre-ownership change MOLs and other losses we could use to reduce our taxable iIncome,

If we unknowingly undergo another ownership change under Section 382, or miscaleulate the imitations imposed by a
known ownership change, the use of the NOL could be limited more than we have determined and we may utilize (or may have
utilized) more of the NOL than we otherwise may have been allowed. In such an instance we may be required to pay taxes, penalties
and interest on the excess amount of NOL used, or we may be required to declare a deficiency dividend 10 our sharcholders for
the excess amount, In addition, iF any impermissible use of the NOL led to a failure to comply with the REIT distribution
requitements, we could fal to qualily as a REIT.
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The fallure af investments sibfect fo reparchase agreements o guallfy as real estafe astels coild adversely affect oie abilfty
t giealify as o REFE

Repurchase agreement financing arrangements ane structiered legally as a sale and repurchasze whereby we sell cenain of
our investmens o a counterpany and simulianeously enler imo an agreement 1o repurchase these securities at a later date in
exchange for a purchaze price. Economically, these agreements are Minancings which are secured by the investments sold pursuang
thereto, We believe thal we would be treated for REIT asset and income test purposes as the oowner of the securities that are the
subject of any swch sale and repurchase agreement, notwithsianding thal such agreemenis may legally transfer record ownership
of the securities 1o the counterparly during the term of the agreemient. [t is possible, however, that the IRS couild assert ihat we
did not own the securities during the term of the sale and repurchase agreement, in which case we could fail o qualify as a REIT,

Even if we remtain gualified s a RETT, we piay foce otfer fax Babilitfes that rediuce owr casl ow and our profilabiliny.

Even il we remain qualified for laxation as a REIT, we may be subject 1o cemain federal, state and local taxes on owr
income and assets, incheding taxes on any ondistributled income, 1ax on income lrom some activilies conducted a5 a result of a
foreclosure or considersd prohibited transactions under the Code, and state or lecal income taxes. Any of these taxes would
decrease cach available For distrbution to oor shareholders. Im addition, in order 1o meet the REIT qualification requirements, or
to averl the imposition of a 106 tax that applics to certain gains derived by a REIT from prohibited transactions, we may hold
sorme of our assels through a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS"} or other subsidiary corporations that will be subject 1o corporate-
bevel incomie lax al regular rates to the extent that such TRS does not have an MOL carrnyforward, Any of these laxes would decrease
cash available for distribution 10 our sharebolders.

I we fieid fo meintain our REFT stadus, onre ability te wiilize repurchase agreemenis o5 a sonrce of finamcing amd fe enter info
frferest pale Swap agrecmients may be fmpacted

Mlost of our repurchase agreemenis and the agreements goveming our inberest rale swaps require thal we mainiain our
REIT status as a condition 1o engaging in a transaction with us, Even thowgh repurchase agreements generally are not commitied
facilities with our benders, if we failed (o maintain our REIT status our ability fo enter into new repurchase agreement fransactions
O renew existing, maturing repurchase agreements will likely be limited. Some of our repurchase agreements and swap agreements
have cross-default provisions which provide for lenders 10 terminnte these agreements if we default under any of our repurchase
pEreements or swap agreements, As such, we may be required 10 sell mvestiments, potentially under adverse circumstances, that
were previcusly financed with repurchase agreements and we may be forced 10 terminate our iverest rle swap agreements,

Certain of anr securifization frusts Hral qualify as “taxable mrorfgage pools” require ws fo maintain equity inferesis in e
secwritization frasis, [ we de pel, onr profitability and cash flow may be reduced,

Certain of our securitization trusts are considered taxable mortgage pools for federal income tax purposes. These
securitizalion trusts are exempt from taxes so long as we, or another REIT, own 10095 of the equity interests in the trusis, 1Fwe
fimil 1o maintain sufficient equity interest in these securitization trusts or if we il o maintain sur BEIT status, then the trusts may
be considered separaie taxable entities. 17 the trusts are considered separaie taxable entities, they will be required 1o compule
taxable income and pay tax on such income, Our profilability and cash flow will be impacted by the amount of taxes paid.
Moreowver, we may be precluded from selling equity interests, including debt secunities issued in connection with these trusts that
might be considered 1o be equily interests for tax purposes, 1o certain oulside imvestors,

I we finil fo properly comdner owur operations we could becowre subfeet fo regulation wnder the 1930 Act. Condircting our business
i a mraneer so that we are exempt feom eegisteation wnder and compliance with e T8940 Act may reduce owur flexibility and
conld fineis onr alility to pursie certain opporiunifies,

We seek o conduct our operations so as o avoid falling under the definition of an investment company pursant o the
1940 Act, Specifically, we seek 1o conduct our operations under the exemption provided under Section 3(cHSHC) of the 1940
Act, a provision available 10 companies primarnily engaged in the business of purchasing and otherwise acquiring morgages and
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other liens on and interests in real estate, According o SEC no-aciion letiers, companies relving on this exemplion must ensune
that a1 least 35% of their assels are mongage loans and other qualifiving assets, and ai least 80% of their assets are real estate-
relabed. The 19440 Act requires that we and each of our subsidiaries evaluate our qualification for exemption under the Act, Our
subsidiaries will rely either on Section 3 ) 3HC) or other sections that provide exemptions from registening under the 1940 Act,
including Sections 3(ak | HChand el 7 The SEC is currenily reviewing the Section e 3NC) exemplion as further discussed
below. We believe that we are operating our business in acoprdance with the exempiion requiremenis of Section 3(cH3HCL

Under the 1940 Aci, an investment company is required io regisier with the SEC and is subject to extensive resirictive
and potentially adverse regulations relafing to, among other things, operating methods, management, capital sirecture, dividends,
and iransactions with afliliates, IF we were determined 10 be an invesiment company, our abilily o use leverage and condwct
busginess as we do today would be substantially impaired,

Tei Awigust 2001, the SEC inittated a review of Section e 00C) af the T At and the regulations and regulatory nferpretiafions
promulgated therewnder. We rely on Secrion Ie)(SHC) as an exenipiion from regisiration and regulation under the T8 Act
artd ary regilatory changes ad o resill of this SEC review conld regafre us fo clange onr bivsiness arnd operafions,

O August 11, 2001, the SEC issued a concepl release relating 1o tse exclusion from registration as an investment company
provided 1o mongage companies by Section el SHO) of the 1940 Act. This release raises concems regarding the ability of
rvorigage REITS to continue 1o relly on the exclusion in the ludure, In pariicular, the release states the SEC is concerned that certain
types of morigage-related pools today appear to resemble in many respects investmenl companies such as closed-end funds and
may mol be the kinds of companies that were intended 10 be excluded from regulation under the 1940 Act by Section Ye)l 5HC).

Although we believe that we are properly relying on Section el 51(C) 1o exempt us lrom regulation under the 19240 At
{which belief in larze part is based on no-action betters issued by the SEC with respect 1o operations of olher mongage REITs)
the SEC review could eventually affect our ability to rely on that exemplion or could eventually require us o change our business
and operations in order FoF us 1o contimue 1o rely on that exemption. IMthe SEC changes or narrows this exemplion, we could be
required 1o sell a substantial amount of our MBS under potentially adverse markel conditions, which could have a material adverse
elfect on our Mnancial condition and resulis of operations. We could alsp be forced 10 materially alier our business model and
investment sirategies which could matenially and adversely affect our profitability.

The outcome of the review by the SEC a1 this time is not determinable, and the SEC may take no action a5 a resul of its
review of the Section e SHO) exemption from the 1940 Act. 1115 also possible that the SEC issues interpretative guidance for
mortgoge REITs as 10 how their operations must be struciured in order 0 avoid being considered an investiment company, and
compliance with any such guidance could limit our operations and our profitability as indicated above. Finally, it is possible that
the SEC requires morigage REITs 1o be considered investment companies and io register under the 1940 Act which would severely
limit our operations and profitability and hikely have a matenal adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations,

Other Regrulatory Risks

I the event af bankrapicy either by ourselves or one or mare of our thivd party lenders, under the U8, Bankrapiey Code,
assets pledged a5 collateral wnder repurchase agreenrenss may nof be recoverable by v, We may incwr fosses egual o fthe
excess of the calloterad pledped over the amonnt of the asseciated repuarchase agrecment borrawing,

In thie event that one of our lenders under a repurchase agreement files for bankruptcy, it may be difficult for us o recover
our asscts pledged as collateral 1o such lender. In addition, 1T we ever file for bankrupicy, lenders under our repurchase agreements
may be able 10 avoid the automatic stay provisions of the UL5. Bankrupicy Code and 1ake possession of and liquidate our collateral
under our repurchase agresments without delay, In the event of o bankruplcy by one of our lenders, or us, we may incur bosses in
amounis equal 1o the excess of our collateral pledged over the amount of repurchase agreement bormowing due to the lender.

I we foil to abide by cerfain Cormmodity Frtures Trading Comprission (“CF T relfes and regulations, we pray e sebiect
enforcement action by the CFTC,

Cn December 7, 2002, the CFTCs Division of Swap Dealer and Intermediany Chversight (the “Dhvision™) issued no-
pction reliel” from commaodity pool operator (“CPO™) registrafion to morigage REITs that use CFTC-regulated products
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(“commedity interes1s™) and that satisly cemain enumerated criteria, Pursuan to such no-action letter, the Division will not
recommend that the CFTC 1ake enforcerment action againgl a morigage REIT il its operator fails to register as a CPO, provided
that the morigage REIT (i) submils a claim 1o ke advantage of the reliel and (i) the mongage REIT: (a) limiis the initial margin
and premiuma required 1o establish iz commodity interest positions 1o no greater than 5 percent of the fair market value of the
morgage REIT's wotal assets; (b} limits the net income derived annually from is commaedity interest positions, excluding the
income from commodily interest positions that are “gualilying hedging ransactions,” 1o less than 3 percent of s anmwal gross
imcome; (¢} does not market interests in the morgage REIT 1o the public as interests in a commodity pool or otherwise ina vehicle
for trading in the commodity Tuwiures, commaodily oplions or swaps markeis, and (d) either: (A) ddentifbed itsell as a “mongage
REIT" in ltem G of its last LS. income tax retum on Form | 120-REIT; or (B} a1 it has not yet liled iis first LS. income 1ax returmn
on Form 1120-REIT, it discloses 1o iis sharehobders that it intends to identily itsell as a *mongage REIT in it first LS. income
tax return on Form 11 20-REIT.

We submitted our claim to the Division on December 19, 2012 and intend 1o satisfly the criteria sed fonh above. [7we do
not satisly the criteria sel forh above, we may become subject to CFTC regulation or enforcement action, the consequences of
swhich could have a material adverse effect on our Minancial condition of resulis of operations.

Risks Hela 1o Aceounting and Heporid ulremenis

Estimates are fnlierent in the process of applying GAAFR, and managentensd may wot alivays be able fo miake estimates which
accirarely reffect ectival resulis, which nray fead o adverse changes i our reporfed GAAP resadis,

Interest income on our assets and inderest expense on our liabilities is parially based on estimates of Neure events, These
estimates can change in a manner that negatively impacts our results of can demonsirate, in retrospect, thal revenue recognition
im preor pericds was too high or too low, Forexample, we use the efective yvield method ol accounting for many of our investmenis
which involves calculating projecied cash Nows for each of our assets. Calculating projected cash Mows involves making
assumptions abowt the amount and timing of credit losses, loan prepayment rates, and other factors. The yield we recognize for
GAAP purposes generally equals the discount rate that produces a net present value for actual and projected cash MNows that equals
our GAAP basis in that assel. We update the yield recognized on these assets based on actual performance and as we change our
estimates of future cash Mows. The assumpiions that underlie our projected cash lows and effective yvield analysis may prove to
be overly optimistic, or conversely, overly conservative, In these cases, our GAAP vield on the asset or cost of the lability may
change, leading to changes in our reporied GAAP results,

Risks Helated to Owning Our Stock

The stock ewnership limit imposed by the Code for REIT: and onr Arficles of Incorporation may restrict onr business
combingtion apporfurities. The steck ownership fmitation may alse resald in reduced Nguidity in owr stock ard may resadi in
losses fo an acquiring sharehelder,

To qualify as a REIT under the Code, nol more than 308%% in value of our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or
indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (s defined in the Code o include certain entities) al any time during the last half of each
taxable vear after owr first year in which we qualify as a REIT. Our Articles of Incorporation, with certain exceptions, authorise
our Board of Directors o take the acteons that are necessary and desirable to qualify as o REIT. Pursuant (o our Aricles of
Incorporation, no person may beneficially or constructively own more than 9.8% of our capital stock (including our common stock
and Series A Preferred Siock). Our Board of Directors may grant an exemption from this 9.8% stock owmership limilation, in its
sole discretion, subject bo such conditbons, represendations and underiakings as it may determine are reasonably necessary.

The ownership mils imposed by the 1ax law are based upon direct or indirect ownership by “individuals.™ but only duning
the last half of a tax year. The ownership limits comamed in our Articles of Incorporation apply 1o the ownership st any time by
any “person,” which includes entities, and are intended 10 assist us in complying with the tax law requirements and to minimiee
administrative burdens. However, these ownership limits might alse delay or prevent a transaction or a change i our control that
might invelve a premium price for our stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our sharcholders.

Whether we would waive the ownership limitation for any other shareholder will be determined by our Board of Directors
on o case by case basis. Our Aricles of Incorporation’s construgtive ownership rules are complex and may cause the outstanding
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stock owned by a group of related individuals or entitics 190 be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual or entity. As
a resull, the acquisition of less than these percentages of the outstanding stock by an individual or entity could cause that individual
of entily 1o own constructively in excess of these percemages of the outsianding stock and thus be subject 1o the ownership limil
The Board of Directors has the right 1o reluse 1o transfer any shares of our capital stock in a transaction that would result in
ownership in excess of the ownership limit. In addition, we have the right to redeem shares of our capital stock held in excess of
the ownership limit,

The stock ownership Nadl imiposed by the Code for RETTs and ouwr Aricles of Incerporadion wmay imipale the ability of holders
fo convert shares of onr Beries A Preferved Stock fnto shares of our common stock npon a change of confrol,

The termis of our Series A Preferred Stock provide thal, upon occurrence of a change of control (as defined in the Aricles
of Incorporation), each holder of Series A Preferred Stock will have the right {unless, prior to the Change of Control Conversion
Date (as defimed herein), we provide notice of our election to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock) 1o conven all or pan of the
Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares of our common
slock per share of Series A preferred Siock based on a foemula set forih in our Aricles of Incorporation.  However, the stack
ownership restrctions in our Arlicles of Incorporation also restrict ownership of shares of our Series A Preferred Stock. As a result,
no holder of Series A Preferred Stock will be emtitled 10 convert such stock inte cur common stock 10 the extent that receipt of our
common stock would cause the holder 10 exeeed the ownership limitations contaimed in our Articles of Incomporation, endanger
the tax staius of one or mone REMICs in which we have or plan to have an anterest, or result inthe imposition of a direct or indirect
penaliy tax on us. These provisions may limit the ability of a holder of Series A Preferred Siock to convert shares of Series A
Preferred Stock into our commion siock upon a change of control, which could adversely afTect the market price of shares of our
Series A Preferred Siock.

Dividends payable by RENTS di ol qualify for the reduced fax rates available for some dividerds,

The maximum tax rate applicable 1o income from “qualified dividends” payable 1o domestic sharcholders thal are
individuals, irusis and estates may be either? 3% or 20%, depending on whether the wxpaver's income exceeds the threshold For
the newly enacted 39.6% income tax brackel, Dividends payvable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for the reduced
rates. Although this legislation does nod adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, the more favorable
rates apphicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause imvestors who are mdividuals, trusts and estates 1o perceive
investments in REITs 1o be relatively less attroctive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends,
which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, including our common stock.

Recagnition of excess inclusion income by ws condd have adverse consequences fo ws or our shareholders,

Ceriain of our secunities have historically generated excess inclusion income and may continue Lo do so in the future,
Ceriain colegories of sharcholders, such as foreign sharcholders eligible for treaty or other benefits, shareholders with NOLs, and
certain tax-exempl shareholders that are subject 1o unrelated business income tax, could be subject 10 increased 1axes on a portion
of their dividend income from us that 15 atnbutable 1o excess inclusion income. In addition, 1o the extent that our stock is owned
by tax-exempd “disqualified orpantzations.” such as certain government-related entities and charitable remainder trusts that are
not subgect 1o lax on unrelated business income, we may incur a corporaie bevel tax on a portion of our income. In thatl case, we
may reduce the amount of our distributions to any disqualified onganization whose stock ownership gave rise o the tax,

Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no unresalved comments lrom the SEC StalT,

ITEM21.  PROPERTIES

We lease one facility located at 4991 Lake Brook Dinve, Suite 100, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060 under two separate leases
which provides a total of 9,250 square feet of office space for our executive officers and adminstrative staff, The term of the first
bewse for 7,068 square feet expires in March 2014, bat may be renewed at our option for one additional five-year penod at a rental
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rate 3% greaer than the rate in effect during the preceding 12-mombh period. The term of the second lease for 2,212 square feet
expires in January 2007 and s not subject 10 a rencwal option, We believe that our properly is maintained in good operating
condition and 15 suitable and adequate for our purposes,

ITEM Y  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company records acereals for certain outstanding legal proceedings, investigations of claims when it is probable
that a liability will be incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company evaluates, on & guanerly
basis, developments in legal proceedings, investigations and claims that could affect the amount of any accmal, as well as any
developments that would make a loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable, When a loss contingency is not both
probable and reasonably estimable, the Company docs nod accroe the loss. However, ifthe loss (or an additonal loss in excess of
the acerual) is at least a reasonable possibility and material, then the Company discloses a reasonable cstimate of the possible loss
of range of loss, if such reasonable estimate can be made. If the Company cannot make a reasonable estimate of the possible
msaterial loss, or range of loss, then that fact is disclosed.

The Company and its subsidiarics are partics to various legal proceedings, incleding those as described below. Although
the ultimate outcomc of these legal proceedings cannot be ascertained at this time, and the results of legal procecdings cannod be
predicted with certainty, the Company believes, based on current knoowledge, that the resolution of any of these procecdings will
not have a matenial adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial condition or liquidity. However, the reselution ol any
of the proccedings described below could have a material impact on conselidated results of operations or cash flows in a given
future reponting period as the proccedings are resolved.

Omne of the Company's subsidiaries, GLS Capital, Inc. {GLS™), and the County of Allegheny, Pennsylvania ("Allegheny
Couniy™) are defiendants in a class action lawsuait Giled in 1997 in the Coun of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania
(the “Coun™). Between 1995 and 1997, GLS purchased from Allegheny County delinquent property tax lien receivables for
progeriics located i ihe county. The plaintiffs in this matter alleged that GLS improperly recovered of sought recovery for certain
fees, costs, interest, and attomeys’ fees and expenses in connectbon with GLS® collection of the property tax lien receivables. The
Couri granted class action status and defined the class o include only owners of real estate in Allegheny County who paid an
plitomeys’ fee between |99 and 2003 in connection with the forced collection of delinguent propeny 1ax receivables by GLS
[generally through the mitistion of a foreclosure action), Amendmients 1o the statute that governs the collection of delinguent tax
lien receivables in Pennsylvania, related case law, and GLS' filing of one or more successiul motions for summary judgment
resulted in the dismissal of cenain claims against GLS and narrowed the issues being litigated wo whether attorneys' fees and related
expenses charged by GLS in connection with the collection of the recevables were reasonable, Such aitorneys” fees and lien costs
were assessed by GLS in s collection effons pursuant 1o the prevailing Allegheny County ordinance. On Aprl 23, 2012, a5 a
result of a petition 10 discontimee filed by the plaintifls, the Court dizmissed the remaining claims against GLS,  Plaintifls
subsequently appealed the dismissal w the Pennsyivania Commonwealth Count of Appeals. The clums made by plaintiffs on
oppeal include only the kegality of charging and recovenng attomeys” fees and tax lien revival and assignment costs [rom the class
members, Plamtiils have nod enumerated therr damages in this maner,

The Company, GLS, and Allegheny County are named defendants in a putative class action lawsan Gled in June 2002 in
the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, The lawsuit relates 1o the activities of GLS in Allegheny County
related 1o the purchase and collection of deliquent property tax lien receivables discussed above, The purported class in this
pction consists of owners of real estate i Allegheny County whose property is or has been subject 1o atax hen Gled by Allegheny
County that Allegheny County either retained or sold 1o GLS and who were billed by Allegheny County or GLS for attorneys'
fees, interest, and certain other fees and who sustained economic damages on and aller August 14, 2003, The putative ¢lnss
allegations arg that Allegheny County, GLS, and the Company violpted the class's constitutional due process rights in conneclion
with delinguent tax collection efforts, There are also allegations that amounts recovered from the ¢lass by GLS and / or Allegheny
County are an unconstitulional taking of private property. The ¢laims agninst the Company are solely based upon its ownership
of GLS, The complaimt requests that the Coun order GLS 10 account Tor amounts alleged o have been collected in violation of
the putative class members' nghts and create a constructive trust for the réturn of such amounts 16 members of the purporied class,
The same class previcusly filed substantially the same lawsun in 2004 against GLS and Allegheny County (ACORM v, County
of Allegheny and GLS Capital, Inc.), and GLS's Motion for Summary Judgment is pending in that action, The Company beligves
the ¢claims are withowt ment and intends to defend agamst them vigorously in this matter,
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The Company and D1 Commercial, Tnc. ("TRCI®), a fommer afliliate of the Company and formerly known as Dynex
Commercial, Inc., are appellees (or respondenis) in the matter of Basic Capital Managemen, Inc. et al. {collectively, “BOM™ or
the “Plainaailz™) versus DT et al. currenily pending in siate court in Dallas, Texas. The matter was initially filed in the state coun
in Dallas County, Texas in April 1999 against DCI, and in March 2000, BOCM amended the complaint and added the Company as
a defendant. Fellowing a trial count decision in faver of both the Company and DCI, PlaintifTs appealed, seeking reversal of the
trial court's judgrment and rendition of judgment against the Company for alleged breach ol loan agreements for lenant improvements
in the amount of 303 million. Plaintiills also sought reversal of the trial court's judgment and rendition of judgment against DCI
in favor of BCM under two mutually exclusive damage models, for 522 millipn and 5256 million, respectively, related o the
alleged breach by DO of a $160 million “master™ boan cornmitment. Plaintifls also sought reversal and rendition of a judgrment
im their favor for altorneys’ fees in the amount of 2.1 million. Alematively, Plaintilfs sought a mew irial. On February 13, 2013,
the Filth Circuit Court of Appeals in Dallas, Texas (the “Fifth Cireuit™) ruled on Plaintifl's appeal, aMirming the previous decision
of no liability with respect o the Company, and reversing the previous decision of no liability with respect w DCI relating 1o the
S160 million “master” loan commitment. The Filth Circuil ordered a new trial 1o determine the amount of attomeys” lees and
prejudement and post-judgment interest due 1o Plaimills and reinsiated the 5256 million damape award against [2C1, The Fifik
Circuit's decision appears to permitl PlaimtifTs 1o recover the costs of their appeal from bath the Company and DL The Company
and DCT currenily intend 1o file 3 motion for rehearing with the Fifth Circwit on the issue of the costs, As part of the motion For
rehearing, DCT may also challenge the 325.6 million damage award and the decision reganding attormeys’ fees.  Managerment
belicves the Company will not be obligated Ffor any amouwms that may ullimately be awarded against I

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY MSCLOSURES

None.
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ITEM S5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Chur comimon stock is iraded on the MNew York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol DX, The common stock was
hield by approximately 25,728 holders of record as of Febmaary 28, 2003, Omn that date, the closing price of our common stock on
the MNew York Stock Exchange was 510,83 per share, The high and low stock prices and cash dividends declared on our common
stock For each quaner during the last two years were as follows:

Common Stock

Dividends
High Low Declared
2012:
First quarter $9.64 0,04 50,28
Second quarter $10.49 $5.94 50,29
Third quarter <1098 59,92 $0.20
Fourth quarter $10.90 $8.66 $0.29
20112
First quarter £10.98 £9.93 $0.27
Second quarter $10.14 $9,40 $0.27
Third quarter $9.87 S8.06 $0.27
Fourth quarter $9.65 $7.25 50,28

Any dividends declared by the Board of Direciors have generally been for the pumpose of maintaining our REIT status
and mainiaining compliance with dividend requirements of the Series A Prefierred Siock, The Series A Preferned Stock has a siated
quarterly dividend of $0.53 123 per share and was declared and pasd im full for the st two quarters of the 200 2 fizcal penod, taking
il account a proportional adjusiment to the third quaner 2002 dividend because the Seres A Preferred was issued during the
third quarter of 2002,



The fellowing graph isa five year comparnson of cumulative iotal returms for the shares of cur cormmeon stock, the Standard
& Poor’s 500 Stock Index (M58&P 3007), the Bloomberg Mongage REIT Index, and the SNL US. Finance REIT Index, The iable
below assumes 5100 was invesied al the close of trading on December 31, 2007 in cach of our common stock, the S&P 300, the
Bloomberg Mongage REIT Index, and the SMNL LS. Finance REIT Index and assumes reinvestment of dividends,
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Cumulative Total Stockholder Returns as of December 31,
Index 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Dynex Capital, Ing. Commaon Stock $ 10000 5 8060 § 12022 5 16568 5 15565 §  180.61

S&P 500 5 10000 5 63005 7968 S 9168 § 9361 § 10859

Bloomberg Morgage REIT Index $ 10000 5 58755 467 5 9319 5 9147 5§ 10830
5

SML LLS. Finance REIT Index 1L 5 5364 5 6725 5 - B201 5 EAR

The sources of this information are Bloomberg, SML Financial, and Standard & Poor’s, which management believes to
be reliable sources. The historical information s¢t forth above 15 nod necessanily indicative of future performanee. Accordingly,
wi do ol make or endorse any predictions as o Future share perfonmance,

Um Movember 7, 200 2, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a commaen slock repurchase program under which
the Comipany may purchase up to 550 million of 15 cutstanding shares of common stock through December 31, 2014, Subject 1o
apphicable secunitics laws and the torms of the Series A Preferred Stock designotion, which is contmined in our Anicles of
Incorporation, future repurchases of common stock will be made 01 nmes and In amounts as the Company decms appropriaie,
provided that the repurchase price per share 1s kess than the Company's estimate of the curment net book value of a share of common
stock. Repurchases may be suspended or discontimeed o1 any ime. The following table provides common stock repurchases made
by or on behalf of the Company during the three months ended December 21, 20012:
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October 1, 2002 - October 31, 2012
Movember 1, 2002 - Movember 30, 2012
Drecember 1, 2002 - December 31, 2002
Tial

ITEM &.

Maximum

Total Mumber Approximate
of Shares Dllar Value of
Furchased as Shares that
Part of Publicly May Yei Be
Total Mumber Announced Purchased
of Shares Average Price Plams or under the Plans
Purchased Faid per Share Programs or Programs
% b thorrands)
s — - =
104,000 ] (LS KL LY £9.070
1020600 5 586 102000 5 L9070

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected Nnancial information should be read in conjunction with the avdited consolidated finamcial
statements of the Company and notes contained in Item 8 of the Annual Repont on Form 10-K.

(% i thonsandy excepi per share olarfa)
Miet interest mcome

Met interest income after provision for loan

borsses
Giain on sale of invesiments
Fair value adjustments, net
(her income, met
General and administralive expenses
Net income
Met meome bo common shareholders
Mel income per common share;
Basic
Diluted
Divedends declared per share:
Commen
Serics A Preferred
Series [ Prefemed

Average interest caming assets '
Average interest bearing liabilities "
Average cifective vield camed on assets™
Average effective rale on Iiahil'iliﬁ':'

Net interest spread !

For the Year Ended December 31,

202 il
S T840l S 59.298
TR2049 SR 424
BAd61 2096
(173) L]
281 134
{12,736) {0,956)
74,042 39812
72 006 39,512
£ I35 £ 103
5 I35 5 1.03
4 .15 5 109
5 (0,97 5
5 — 5 —
£3,407 158 £ 2283440
(3,069, 345) (2,002,981)
325% 164 %
(1, 12% 119
213% 245%

A

2010 1009 2008
S 1424 S 24558 % 10547
13,045 23,776 9,556
2891 i | 2316
254 205 7147
[,49% 145 1,734
(8.817) (6.716) (5.632)
29472 17,5581 15,121
26,411 13,571 TREY
5 150 5 | .04 5 {1,49]
£ 141 & .02 £ 09
5 098 5 092 £ 07
5 — 5 1 —
5 071 5 095 5 055
81012520 £ T40640 5 421,79
(B65,920) (627 848) {327 ,687)
481 % 5.29 % 6.79 %
(1.64)% (2.06)% (5.28)%
307 % 3123% I.51 %



il Average balances are calcidated ay a stmple ovrage of the daily heafances and exclude nprealized gatny and losses on
everifable=for-sale securities. Average balances alvo exclude fuvidk held by rrsrees except procecels frovn agfiraced Toaris
hela by fracirces.

(2 Effrcrive vields frates) ave based on annnalized ineome fexpensel anpannts, Recaleularion of effeciive vields o rates sray
ol be possille weing data provided because certatn incorte and expense o of o ove-rfime raliore gre pol aeaualized for
the ealeularion of effirctive vields or rates, An example of such a one-time e i e rerospeciive adfustmens of discowny
aned et aeroviizations arising from ediisments of effective fnterest rates,

As of December 31,
ferimerinanls o Moy except e and per
share dafal 2012 2011 20000 L1 2iHIR
Investments 5 40175662 5 25009T 5 L6412 F RI442] 5 372EV6
Total assets 4,280,229 2582193 | 649, 584 D58 062 60719
Repurchase agreements 3564128 2,093,793 1,234,183 638329 274217
Mon-recourse collaicralized financing 30, 50a 70805 107, 103 143,081 177157
Total lizhilities 3663519 2210844 1,357,227 789,300 466,782
Shareholders' equity S &l6TI0 5 3ITN4% S5 202357 % 168,753 5 140409
Common shares outstanding H.268915 40382530 30,342 897 13931512  12.169.762
Book value per common share ' 5 1030 § e 5 964 5 g0OR § B07

(1} The colculmton of book value per common share as of December 31, 3002, Deceniber 37, 2000, and December 31, 2008
excludes the ageregare Nguidatton value of e preferred stock ourstanding as of these dares which was 3575 million, 3422
retillfentt, erred 84 2.2 miillion, rezpeetively.

ITEMT. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The folffewing discussion showld e read or comfuncion with onr Srancial satements and e relafed notes inclinded in
foem 8, “Fimancial Statemenis aod Sipplemeniary Data ™ in this Awwnial Beport on Form 1=K, This discussion comtaing forwarnd-
looking statvavents tat invelve risks and wrcertainties, Cur actived resiles conld differ marerially from those anticipated in these
Sforward-fooking statements ax a vresalt of various factors including, bt not limited to, those disclosed in ltem [A, " Risk Factors ™
elsevliere i this Ammal Report on Form DK and in other docements filed with the SEC and otherwise publicly disclosed, Please
refer to “Forward-Looking Statements ” contained within this Nem 7 for additional information.

EXECUTIVE OWVERVIEW

We believe that the outlook for our busingss model 15 favorable given the economic backdrop, despite the uncerainty
regarding government policy and it potenteal effects on prepayments of our imvestments, the impact on our porifielio from assct
purchases by the Federal Reserve in a third round of quantiative easing, or "E3", and the uncertanty in Evrope (in particular,
uncertainty regarding the European Union's political, economic and monctary future) and its patential impact on the UL, credit
markets, During 2002 we significantly expanded our investment in Agency CMBS [0 and non-Agency CMBS and CMBS [0
given the atractive risk-adjusted retum and prepayment profection profile of these investments, With respect 10 non-Agency
CMBS and CMBS [0, we have purchased higher quality securities { A -rofed and AAA-rvted, respectively) which will have higher
wields than Agency CMBS and CMBS [0, but which camy higher financing risks and costs and can exhibit mone price volatility.
Wi alsor addexd longer-to-reset Agency Hybrid ARMs as we expect interest rtes overall to remain range-bound for the foreseeable
future,

Highlights of the Fourth Quarter

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we reported net income of 518.3 million, or 50,34 per common share versus 3184
millson, or 50,34 per commen share For the third guarter of 2002, Cur net interest income increased to 520, 1 million for the fourth
quarer of 2002 compared 1o 5191 million for the third quarter of 200 2 due to the higher average balance of our investment portfolio
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of 54,11 7.5 million during the founh quamer of 2002 versus 53,7291 million For the thind quarter of 2002, Although our average
inlerest eaming assets increased, our weighted average netl interest spread declined fo 1.93% for the fourth quarter of 2002 from
206 for the thind quarter of 20012, Ohur net interest spread is declining as a result of purchasing lower spread asseis and also
from inleresi-rale resels on our Agency ARM portiolio,

The following table surmmarises the average annualived vield by type of MBS investment for the founh quaner of 2002
and for each of the preceding four quaners:

Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, March 31, December 31,
ol ni2 June 3, 2012 ol Zodl

Average annualized yields:

Agency RMBS 2 0R% 2.15% 233% 2 T0%% 283%

Agency CMBS (includes 10s) 4.3%% 4.35% 4.32% 4.05% 4.4%%

Mon-Agency RMBS 5.55% 5.63% 5.60% 5.69% 6275

Hon-Agency CMBS (includes [0s) 54T S68% 6.07% 6.52% T

All otbier investmenis 508% 531% 4.97% 4.13% 5.74%
Cosis of financing (1.11% (1.12)% (1L.11)% (1L.171% {1.201%
Met interest spreaid 1.93% 2.0, 218% 2.41% 2.56%

Although we have targeted a 6005404 allocation between Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS/ Toans, our Agency MBS
allocation in recent quarters hag imcreased ouiside of this range due o attractive investment oppontunities in Agency CMBS 10,
The following table provides our asset allocation as of December 31, 2012 and as of the end of each of the four preceding quarters:

Deecmber 31, Scptember 340, Juame M0, March 31, December 31,

2012 2012 2012 2012 oin
Agency MBS B3.6% 84.6% 52.1% 8. 1% TR.6%
Mon-Apency MBS 4. 7% | 3.6% 13.4% 14.2% 16.8%
Other investments 1.7% 1.8% 2.5% 4.7% 4.6%

Chir sharehelders' equity decreased 1o 5616.7 million as of December 31, 2012, or 510.30 per common share, from $617.9
million, or 510,31 per common share as of September 30, 2012, The decrease in shareholders” equity since September 30, 2012
resulted from a net decrease in accumulated other comprehbensive income of 53.4 million, partially offset by our net income in
excess of dividends declared. The decresse in accumulated other comprehensive income was due to o net decrease inthe fair value
of available for sale investmenis due to decreases in the fair value of Agency RMBS caused by increased prepayment concems.

As of December 31, 2012, we had an estimated net operating loss ("NOL") camyfoward of $135.9 million. As a result
of our common stock offenng in February 200 2, we underwent an “ownership change” under Section 382 of the Code {"Section
352" In general, if & company undergoes an ownership change under Section 382, the company's ability 1o untilize an NOL
carryforward 1o offset its taxable income (and, in our case, after king the REIT distribution réquirements info account), becomes
limited to @ certain amount per year. For purposes of Section 382, an ownership change occurs if over a rolling three=year period,
thi percentage of the company stock owned by 5% or grester sharcholders has incressed by mone than 50 percentage points over
the lowest percentage of common siock owned by such sharcholders during the three-vear perniod. Bosed on management’s analysis
and expert third-party advice, which necessanly includes certain assumptions regarding the charactenzation under Section 382 of
our use of copital rised by us, we determined that the ownership change under Section 382 will limit our abality to use our MOL
carryforward to offset our taxable income to an estimated maximum amount of 513.4 mallon per vear. The NOL carmyforward
expires substantiolly beginning in 2020,

The following marketplace conditions and prospective trends have impacted and may continue to impact our future results
of operations and our financial condition. For additional information about risks that may be posed by these trends, please refer
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to Part I, liem 1A, "Risk Faciors® and Pam 11, Tem TA, "Cuaniitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk" comained
within this Anmusal Report on Form 10-K.

Federal Reserve Monetary Policw and the Effecrs on Agency RMBE and Prepavments

In September 2012, the Federal Open Market Committee ("FOMC™) announced QE3 by indicating that it will purchase
540 billion per month in Mxed-rate Agency EMBS, continue 1o reinvest principal repayments on ils existing Agency RMBS
porifplio, and extend the average maturity of its holdings of securities. These actions are expecied to increase the FOMC's holdings
of longer-term securities by about 583 billion each monih.. The Federal Heserve expects these measures o put downward pressure
on bong-term interest rates. While the Federal Reserve hopes that QF3 will expediie an economic recovery, slabilive prices, reduce
unemployment and restan business and household spending, there is no way of knowing what impact QE3 or any lulure actions
by thie Federal Reserve will have on the prices and liquidity of Agency RMBS or other securities in which we invest, The Federal
Reserve indicated in January 2003 thay QE3 would continue in 2013 and until improvements in economic conditions and labor
rvarkets are achieved.

Dhiring the fourth quarter of 200 2, we received principal payments on our Agency RMBS ol S214.9 million, Ouwr average
constand prepayment rate, or CPR, for our Agency RMBS during the foaunh quaner of 2002 was 24 3% versus 23.4% o the third
quarter of 2002, 20.8% for the second quarter of 2002 and 21.4% for the first quarer of 2002, As of December 31, 2002, the
weighted average coupon on the morigage loans underlying our Agency RMBS was approximately 4. 16%, while the monthly
average 30-year Mixed morigage rate and the S-vear hybrid ARM morigage rate as of that date, as published by Freddie Mac, were
3.66% and 2. TEYS, respectively,

Generally, the lower coupons available on new morigage loans, the actions by the Federal Reserve and the kow interest
rate environment should emice borrowers to refinance their mongage loans at lower rates, Today, kowever, many obstacles exist
to refinancing, including but not limited to, tighter lender underwriting standards, the lack of borrower's equity in the underlying
real estate and the lack of an acceptable level of income, These obsiacles are currently confributing to limited refinancing of leans
in our Agency RMBS portfolio and are keeping prepayment speeds low relative 1o expectations and 19 historic prepayment rates
in guch a low interest rate envirgnment. [nan eflon 1o increase reflinancing of Agency RMBS, the U5, Treasury created the Home
Affordable Refinance Program, or HARP, which secks to ease refinancing restrictions for high Ioan-to-value borrowers, The
HARP program eases underwriting requirements for lenders and qualification conditions for borrows 1o extend loans which qualify
for inclusion in Agency RMBS, HARP is currently set to expire on December 31, 2003,

Given the continued low interest rate environmend, the changes 10 HARP, and the commitment by the Federal Reserve
to keep bong-term interest rates low, including the Federal Reserve's actions through QE3, we continue io expect somewhal elevaled
prepayment speeds on our Agency RMBS nto 2003, As explained more Fully in this Annual Reéport on Form 10-K, increased
prepaymenis impact our net inferest income by increasing the amorization expense on any myvesiments wie own al premiums o
their par balance and lowers secunity yvields.

Aszet Spreads and Competition for Assets

Crver the past few years, cradit markets in the United States have generally experienced tighteming credit spreads (where
credit spreads are delined as the difference between yields on secunties with credit nisk and vields on benchmark ULS, Treasury
secunties). In paricular, spreads on MBS hove tightened over the past several quariers from increased competition for these assets
from lack of supply, from favorable marked conditions in large part due to the Federal Reserve's involvement in the markets {as
discussed above and below ) and from subsiantial amounis of capital raised by morigage REITs and other market paricipants in
2002, Reductions in credil spreads will generally resull in increased assel prices (assuming no cormesponding increase in the
benchmark Treasury rate) which imcreases our book value, However, when credil spreads tighten and assel prices increase, vields
on podential new imvestment opportunities will decrease. On balance, we saw declining new investment yields during 2002 from
tighter credit spreads and from declining benchmark Treasury rates. Inthe first two months of 200 3, credit spreads have continued
Lo fighten.

Grovernmens Palicy lnitiatives
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The U5, government is actively secking 1o suppon the LS, housing market and has introduced programs such as the
HARP program noded above. Changes in the HARP program initiated in 200 2 represent continued e fTons to spur refinance activity.
In addition, Senators Barbara Boxer and Rober Menender have reintroduced a bill im February 2003 that would sireamline
refinancing of lpans currently guaranieed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and extend the expiration date of HARP by one year,
The U5, government has alse introduced the Home AlMordable Mongage Program, or HAMP, which seeks o assist borrowers
through the modi fcation of morgage loans to reduce the principal amownt of the loan, the rate on the loan, or o exiend the payment
terms of the loan, We expect that the LS, povernment will continue 1o introduce and experiment with housing programs and
policies to assisl the recovery of the housing market. These programs could increase prepayment rafes which would result in lower
wields on our Agency RMBS,

firerest Rates

The Federal Reserve contimees 10 maintain & very accommodative monetary policy, The FOMC in January 200 3 reiterated
its target range for the federal funds rate (the rate at which LS. banks may borrow from each other) at 004-0.25%, The FOMC
conlinues 1o emphasize that economic growth might not be sirong enough 1o generate sustained improvement in labor marker
conditions and that siraing in global financial markets continue o pose significant downside risks o the economic putlook. The
FOMC also indicated that it currently anticipates that the exceptionally low range For the federal funds rate will be appropriate at
Peast as long as the onemplovment rale remaing above 6.30%, infation between one and two years ahead is projecied o be no
rvore than a hal Fpercentage point above the 2% longer-run goal, and longer-teom inflation expectations continue 1o be well anchored.
In determining how long to maimtain a highly accommoadative stance of monetary policy, the FOMC indicated that it will also
consider other imformation, including additional measures of labor markel conditions, indicators of inflation pressures and inflation
expectations, and readings on linancial developments, Finally, the FOMC indicated that when it decides to begin to remave policy
accommndation, it will take a balanced approsch consistent with its longer-run goals of maximum employment and inflation of
2%,

The actions by the FOMC noted above have continued 10 keep overall imterest rates low and the Treasury yield curve
relatively Mal (as measured by the difference of 1.53% between the two year Treasury rate and the wen year Treasury rale as of
December 31, 2002 versus 1.64% as of December 31, 2000 Assel credit spreads also remain tight despite cominued economic
uncertainty both domestically and abroad, in our judgment pomanly due to the extraordinary involvement by the Federal Reserve
in the markets, While our borrewing costs are based on short-term market rates such as LIBOR and the Federal Funds Target
Rate, our asset yvields more closely correlate with longer-term Treasury rates and longer-term swap rales. In general, o Mot yield
curve will resull in reduced net inderest spreads for new investments and will impact our ability 10 reinvest our capital on an
accretive basis,

A negative impact of a Mattening vield curve is the prospective reduction of our net interest spread {and the related retum
on our invested capital) for new investments, Since the first quarter of 20012, we have seen declining net interest spreads on our
new investment purchases in part as a resull of the fatienimg vield curve and in part as a result of reduced credit spreads discussed
further below.

Financing

Owir busimess model requires thal we have access 1o leverage, principally through the repurchase agreement market. We
aocess the repurchase agreemient markets through relationships with broker-dealers and financial instiuitons. Repurchase
agreement financing is generally uncommitted fnancing and as such, there can be no guarnmiee that we will always have access
to this financmg. During periods of sustained volatility in the credit markets, such os was experienced m 20808, or other disruptions
to the credit and financing markets, access o repurchase agreement financing may be limited as liqusdity providers reduce their
exposure o the short-term funding credit markets, Repurchase agreement markels also fund many different types of assets for
many different tvpes of bormowers including MBS, asset-backed securities, commencial paper and government securities. Recent
activities by the Federal Reserve, including Operation Twist, have increased the supply of these other types of assets which has
increased competition for repurchase agreement financing. Consequently, we have seen a modest increase in our repurchase
agreement financing costs during most of 2012,

Hegwlatory Reform
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I July 200 O the Droxdd-Frank Act was enacted into Faw, This legislation aims 1o restore responsibility and accountabiliny
to the financial system. It remains unclear bow this legistation may ultimately impact the Company , credil markets and the market
for repurchase agreements or other borrowing facilities, the investing environment for Agency and non-Agency MBS, or interest
rabe swaps and other derivatives, since the rules and regulations under the Dodd-Frank Act continue 1o be promulgated, implemented
and inerpreted by the CFTC,

On Auvpust 11, 2001, the SEC issued a concepl release relating 1o the exclusion from registralion as an imvestment company
provided to morigage companies by Section HeSHO) of the 1940 Act. This release raises concerns regarding the ability of
morigase REITs to continue fo rely on the exclusion in the luiure. In pariicular, the release siates the SEC iz concemed that certain
types of morigage-related pools today appear to resemble in many respecis investment companies such as closed-end funds and
iy ol be the kinds of companies that were intended 1o be excluded from regulation under the 1940 Act by Section e SHC ),
The outcome of the review by the SEC at thiz time i3 pot determinable. For a discussion of the uncenaintics and risks related to
the SEC's review, please refer 10 "Risk Factors” contained withinm Par 1, lem 1A of this Anmweal Repon on Form 10-K.

G5E Reform

On February 11, 20011, the Treasury released proposals o limil or potentially wind down the role that Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mae play in the mongage market. Similar proposals 1o limit or wind down the role of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have
been proposed by a mumber of other parties. Any such proposals, il enacted, may have broad adverse implications for the MBS
rarkel and our business, resulis of operations, and Mnancial condition. We expect such proposals 1o be the subject of significant
discussion, and it is ned yel possible 1o determine whether such proposals will be enacted. We do not believe the uliimate reform
of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will oocur in 2013, Howewver, it is possible that mew types of Agency MBS could be proposed
and sold by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac that are structured differently from current Agency MBS, This may have the eflTect off
reducing the amount of available investment opporunites for the Company, Mo such new structures have as yel been proposed.
For further discussion of the uncenaintics and risks related 10 GSE reform, please refer 1o "Risk Factors" contained within Par [,
liem | A of this Annual Repon on Form 10-E.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical sccounting policies are defined as those that require management’s mostdifficuls, subjective or comples judgments,
and which may result in matenally different results under different assumptions and conditions. The following discussion provides
more information on the sccounting policies management believes include the most significant judgments, eslimales or
unRcerlnntes.

Amrortization of Investorert Preminms, 'We amortiee premiums and acerete discounts associated with the purchase of our
IVESIMenE SeCurities inbo imlerest income over the projected lives of our securities, ineluding contraciual payments and estimated
prepayvments, using the effective vield methosd in sccordance with ASC Topic 310220, Estumates and judgments related 1o fiture
bevels of morgage prepayments are crtical 1o thas determination, and they are difficul for management 1o predict.  Morgage
prepavment expectations can change based on how changes in current and projected interest rates impact a borrower's likelihood
of relinancing as well as other octors, including but not limied 1o real estate prices. bomowers” credit quality, changes i the
stringency of loan underwriting practices, and lending industry copacity constraims. In addition, funher modilications: 10 exisling
programs such as HARP, or the implementation of new programs can bave a significant impact on the rve of prepoymients. Funther
GSE buyouls of loans in immisent risk of defaul, loans that have been maodified, or oans that have defiulied will genemlly be
reflected as prepayments on our secunties and increase the uncenamy around management's estimates,

We estimate long-term prepayment raes on our investments using a third-party service and market data, The third-pany
service calimates prepayment rbes using models that incorporate the forward vield curve, curment mortgage rtes and characteristics
of the outstanding loans, such as loan age and current interest rates. We review the third-party service estimates and compare the
results o any available market consensus prepayment speeds, We also consider historical prepayment rates and current market
conditpons o validate the reasonableness of the prepayment rates estimated by the third-party service and, based on management's
Juedgment, we may make adjestiments iF deemed necesary, Actual and anticipated prepayment experience 1s reviewed quarterly
and eflective vields are recalculaied when dilferences anse between the previously estimated future prepayments and the amounts
pctually received plus current anticipated futune prepayments.
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Cher-tha- Temporary fmpoirmenss, When the fair value of an available-for-sale securily is less than s amorticeed cost
as of the reponting date, the sccurity is considercd impained. 'We assess our securitics for impairment on a1 least a quancerly basis
and determine ifhe impairmenis are cither temporary or “odher-than-temporany® 10 accordance with ASC Topic 320-10. Accounting
literature does mol define what it considers an other-than-temporary impairmenl (SOTTI®) to be: howewer, it does state that an
OTT] discs mol mcan permanent impairment, The literaure does provide some examples of factors which may be indicative of
an OFTTI, such as: (@) the length of time and cxtent 1o which markel value has been less than cost, (b) the financial condition and
mcar-term prospects of the sswer; and () the imtent and ability of the holder 1o retain its investment in the issuer for a period of
time suflicicnt 1o albow For any anticipated recovery in market value,

We assess our ability to hold any Agency MBS or non-Agency MBS with an unrealized boss wniil the recovery in ins
value, Our ability to bold any sech MBS is based on the amount of the unrealized loss and signilicance of the related investment
as well as our current leverage and anticipated ligquidity. Alhough Fannie Mac and Freddie Mac are not explicitly backed by the
full faith and credit of the United Siates, given their guarantee and commitments for suppor reeeived from the Treasury as well
as the credit quality inherent in Agency MBS, we do pot typically consider any of the unrealized losses on our Agency MBS 1o
be credit-related. For our non-Agency MBS, we review the credii ratings of ihese MBS and the seasoning of the morigage boans
collateralizing these securities as well as the cstimated fulure cash lows which include any projecied losses in order 1o evaluate
whether we believe any poriion of the unrealized loss al the reporting date is related to eredit losses.

The determination as o whether an OTTH exists ag well as its amount 19 subjective, as such determinations ane based not
oply on feteal information available at the time of assecsament but also on management’s eatimates of fulure performance and
cash [bow projections. As a resull, the timing and amount of any OTT] may constitute a material estimate that is suseceptible 1o
signilbcant chapge. Our expociations with respect 1o our securitics in an unfealized loss position may change over ime, given,
among other things, the dynamic nature of markeis and other variables, For example, although we believe that the conservatorship
of Fannie Mae and Freddic Mac has (urher strengthencd their creditworthiness, there can be no assurance that these actions will
b adequate for their needs. Accosdingly, iF teese government actions are inadequate and the GSEs continue 1o sulfler bosses or
cease 1o exist, our view of the credit worthiness of our Agency MBS could materially change, which may affect our asscssment
of OTTI for Agency MBS in future periods. Fulure sabes or changes in our cxpectations with respoct to Agency o - AZcncy
securities in an unrealized loss position could resull in us recognizing other-than-lemporary impairment charges or realusaing losses
on sales of MBS in the future.

Fuir Falwe Measuremients. As delined in ASC Topic 820, the fair valwe of a Mnancial instrument is the cxchange price
in an orderly transaction between market participants o sell an assel or wransfer o hability in the market in which the reporing
entity would transact for the asset or lability, that is, the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or hability, The
transaction ko sell the asset or transfer the liability &5 a hypothetical transaction at the measurement date, considered from the
perspective of & market participant that holds the asset or liability, ASC Topic 820 provides a consistent definition of fair value
which focuses on exil price and prioritizes, within a measurement of fair value, the use of market-based inpats over entity-specilic
inputs. In addition, ASC Topic 320 provides o framework for measuring fair valuge and cstablishes a three-level hicrarchy for fair
vilue measurements based wpon the transparency of inputs 1o the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement dase,
Please refer 1o Note 10 of the Notes 10 the Consolidated Financial Stuements contained in this Annual Beport on Form 10-K for
o deseription of this hicrarchy,

The Company's Agency MBS, as well a majority of its non-Ageney MBS, are substantially similar 1o securities that either
are currently actively traded or have been recently traded in their respective market. Their faor values are derived from an average
of multiple dealer quotes and thus are considered level 2 fair value mensurements.

Less than 20% of the Company’s non-Agency MBS are comprised of securities For which there are not substantinlly
similar securities that trade frequently, and therelore, estimates of Tur valuee Tor those level 3 securities are based primanly on
muanagement's judgment. The Company determines the fair value of those scounities by discounting the estimated fulure cash
Mows derived from cash Mow models using assumptions that are confirmed to the extent possible by third party dealers or other
pricing indicators. Signaficant impuls into those pricing models are level 3 inonature due to the lack of readily avaitable market
quotes.  Information utilized inthose pricing models include the scourity’s credil ating, coupon rde, ecstimated prepayment speads,
expocted weighted average life, collaenl composition, estimated future intercst mies, expecied credit losses, and credin
cnhancement as well as certain other relevant information. Generally, level 3 assels are most sensitive 1o the default rate and
sevenly assumplions. Significant changes in any of these mputs i isolation would resull in o sigmificantly dilferent fir value
micasurement, and accordingly, there 15 no assurance that our estimates of fir value are indicative of the amounts thit would be
redlized on the uwliimale sale or exchange of these assets,
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FINANCIAL CONDITION
The following discussion addresses items from our Conselidated Balance Shect that had significant sctivity duning the
past year and should be read in conjunction with the Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within Item 2 of
Part Il of this Annual Repont on Form 10-E.
Agency MBS

Activity related to our Agency MBS for the vear ended December 31, 2002 is as follows:

ferAmaiTEs i et RMES CMBS CMBES 10 Taotal
Beginning balance as of January 1, 2012 $ 1577250 § 302244 §  BSGES 5 1,965,159
Purchases 1,721.284 49,826 532454 2,303,564
Principal payments (638, 064) (4,785) B (642.854)
Sales i61.534) {23.940) {85.474)
Change in net unrealized gain 4,958 10,447 17,822 33,227
Nel amontization {32.552) {3,590) (44.821) {80,963
Ending balance as of December 31, 2012 § 2571337 § 354,142 § S6T.IB0 S 3492659
Par/notional value as of December 31, 2012 § 2425826 § 306,527 510059495

W utilized the majerity of the preceeds from our equity capital raises during 200 2 to purchase Agency RMBS and expand
our imvestments in Agency CMBS 1. We focused our purchases on shoner-duration Agency RMBS to minimize our cxposunc
to extension msk if interest rates were (o incrcase in future pervsds, and we purchased CMBS 10 in osder to diversify prepayment
risk exposure im our portfolio. Agency CMBS IO are less prepayment sensitive than Agency RMBS given the prepayment protection
fieatures of the leans underdying those securities, This helps to minimize the prepayment volatility of the investment pontfiolico.

Asof December 31, 200 2, 63% of our Agency portfolio was comprised of Fannie Mac investmenits with the balance being
comprised of 29% Freddic Mac investments and 6% Ginnie Mae investments compared to 67% Fannic Mac investments and 33%
Freddie Mac investments as of December 31, 2001, As of December 31, 2002, 73% of our Agency MBS investments are varable-
rate MBS with the remainder fixed-rate MBS,

The folbowing table presents the weighted average coupon (“WAC™) by weighted average months-to-reset (“MTR™) for
the variable-rate portion of our Agency RMBS portfolio based on par value as of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
feremossnts fin thonsands) Par Value WAL ™ Par Value WAC ™
0-12 MTR € 323711 304% § 321,042 4.32%
13-24 MTR 108,372 4.41% 384,184 5.00%
25.36 MTR 194,814 3.82% 142,321 4. 78%
Ower 36 MTR 1,582,017 3.54%, 618,318 4.33%
§ 2405914 360% S 1,466,765 4.57%

e

il As aof December 31, 2002, appraximetely 1% of our Agency ARMs and hybrid ARMs reset based wpon the fevel of six
movth LIBOR, 95% reset based on the level of one-vear LIROR ard 425 rexed based on the level of one-year CMT,

2 Ax of December 31, 2001, approximately 225 of ouwr Agency ARMs and hybrid ARMs reset based wpon the fevel of six
mowth LIBOR, 89% reset based on the fevel of one-vear LIROR ard 25 rexed based on the fevel of eee-year CMT,

As of December 31, 20012, approximately 95% of our vanable-rate Agency RMBS porfolio resels based on one-year
LIBOR plus a weighted average rate of 1,.81%, Because we typically finance these investments using 30-day repurchase agreement
financing for which we pay interest expense based on ong-menth LIBOR plus a spread, our nel inlérest imcome 15 sensilive 10
changes in the interest rate environment. This sensitivity 15 discussed Turther in lem TA "Cuantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk” of this Annual Report on Form 10K,

Now-Agency MBS
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Activity related to our non-Agency MBS for the year ended December 31, 20012 is as follows:

feremadiitls i Flaonisands ) KN BES MBS CAMEBES 10 Taotal
Beginning balance as of January 1, 2012 5 15270 5 354070 § 51,756 5 42106
Purchases 7500 165,466 68315 241,281
Principal paymcents {13 204) (21.084) — {34,290
Sales —_ (34.315) i {34.315)
Change im net unrealized gain 1314 22,232 4,523 28069
Met accretion (amortization ) 1640 (ZT) {10.652) {10,519
Ending balance as of December 31, 2012 5 11038 &5 486342 § 1342 5 611322

The combined motienal Balance of our investment in non-Agency CMBS 10 secorities as of December 31, 2002 was 524
billion. The weighted average months to mawrity for all of pur non-Agency CMBS (including 10 securities) as of December 31,

2002 was 68 months with 72% having origination dates of 2009 or later, 1 1% between 2066 and 2003, and the remainder pricr to
2000,

During 2012, the Company expanded its investments in non-Agency CMBS and CMBS 10 based on the favorable risk-
return profibe of these investments. Our noa-Agency CMBS investments consist principally of securities rafed 'A' or higher and
are primarily Freddie Mac Multifamily K Cerificates on pools of recemtly originated multifamily morgage loans. These certificates
are miot guaranteed by Freddie Mac and therefore, repayment is based solely on the performance of the underlyving pood of loans.
These loans have prepayment bock-owt provisions which reduce the risk of early repayment of our investment.

The folleowing table presents ratings information on oar non-Agency CMBS and CMBS [Qinvestiments asof December 31,
2002 as an indication of the overall credit risk of these investmenis:

Mon-Agency CMBS Non-Agency CMBS [

Mt Met
Unrealized Related Unrealized Related
{errmannines for thonsanls ) Fair Value Crain Borrowings  Fair Value Ceain Borrowings
AAA § 156,180 S B034 £ I346TR 5 112006 5 4935 % 86,731
A 46,967 3,600 37207 1830 7™ 1. 4%
A 275,310 26,786 222,873 —_ —_ —_
Below ANot Rated 7885 SHE 2401

5 486342 § 39908 § 397159 5 113941 § 5014 § 88,221
... .. ... ... . .. _ _ . _ ____. .. ;B .. ... .../

The lollowing table presents the geographic diversilication of the colloteral underlying our non-Agency CMEBS by the
top 5 slales as of December 31, 2012:

Market Value

{eranaunils i Phorsands) of Collateral  Percentage
Florida 5 75,001 12.8%
Califormin 74,723 12.7%
Texas 71564 12.2%
Mew York 35043 f.6%G
Monh Carolina 30,734 5.2%
Remmning states (ned exceeding 4. 7% individually) 296,743 50.5%

5 SBE, 108 100,05

Secwritized Moripage Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses

Chr secuntized mongage loans, net of allowance for loan losses decreased almost 38% from December 31, 2001 1o
December 31, 2002, This 15 primanly due 1o our receipl of 54008 million in principal payments, which includes unscheduled
prepaymienis ansing from increased refinancing activily dunng 2012,
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Dwring the year ended December 31, 2002, one of our secunitized commercial mongage loans with an amosised cost of
536 million was liquidated, resulting in a recognized gain of 52,1 million. In addition, the teems for one of our securitized
commcrcial mortgage loans were modificd during tee yearended December 30, 2002, This loan is secured by a mixed-use propeny
becated in the Midwest which has an appraised value in excess of the contraciual payments due on the mvodilied loan, The
evcdification resulted in an effective vield as favorable to the Company as the effective yield of the ariginal loan. [n accondance
with ASC 310-20, the Company accounied for this modificd loan as a new loan which las an amonized cost basis of 582 million
as of December 31, 2002,

Cwur allowance for loan losses decreased approximately 82% during the vear ended December 31, 20012 as we have
cxperienced & significant decrease in our seriously delinguent mongage loans. During the year ended December 31, 2002, we
imcurred charge ofls of 52,3 million for secuntized mongage loans previously identilied as impaired while increasing our provision
50,2 million For newly impaired monigage loans identified during the vear,

Derivative Assets and Liabifitles

As of Decemnber 11, 2002 and December 31, 2001, we have enicred inlo interesi raie swap agreements in which we pay
ronihly an agreed upon fixed rate of inierest and receive a variable rate of inderest based on 1-menth and 3-month LIBOR. Owr
primary use o inlerest pate Swap agrecmedls is 1o hedge our exposiene W Drcreases in interest mies on the repurchase agrecments
wit use o Fund our investment purchases. As such, we increased our volume of interest rale swap activity 1o compensate for the
growth in our repurchase agrecment borrowings nsed 1o fupd our investment portfolio. As the duration of our portfiolio iecreases,
we will generally add additional hedging nstnements such as interest rate swaps to lower our poffolio duration and o hedge the
upcertainty of interest expense cash Nows op repurchase agreements anticipated for the lutwre,

The mstional amoun sulstanding for our interest rale swap agreements as of December 31, 200 2 05 51,4620 million with
a weighted average lixed rawe swapped of 1.33% compared to a notional amount sulstanding of 51,002.0 million with a weighted
average lxed rate swapped of 1.58% as of December 31, 2001, Since December 31, 2001, we have entered into fificen additional
inlcresl rate swaps with a combined notional amsount of 54950 million, a weighted average pay-fixed rate of §,33%, and a weighted
average term unti] maturity of approximately &6 moenths. Included in the balamce as of December 31, 200 2 are seven intercst rale
swaps which ane pot effective untal 2003, We utilized forwand-stanming inlercst rate swaps in this inslance in response W stalemenis
by the Federal Reserve that the federal funds warget rate will remain low for an exiended period of time as discussed earlier within
this iem 7 inthe "Excewtive Overview" section. The able below provides additional information related to these forwand-staming
mileresl rale swaps:

Weighted-
Average
Molionul Fized Rule
feremnanints i Phonsards) Amaunt Swapped
Forward-start date:
January 8, 2013 5 1 50000 1.43%
March 25, 2013 {111 1.59%
April 15, 2013 25000 1.70r%%
(3 275000 1.62%

Onir dervative habilities designnted as cash flow hedges had a net fair value of 339,38 million as of December 31, 2002
compared to 5255 million as of Decernber 31, 20011, For the vear ended December 31, 200 2, our inerest mate swap expense from
cash flow hedges recognmized in our consclidated statement of income was 5144 million compared to 5106 million for the yvear
ended December 31, 2001, and this increase in expense is primanily related o the increase in the notional amount of our denivative
instruments outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2002 compared the vear ended December 31, 2001,

Three of our interest rate swaps ingheded within derivative liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets are designated
o5 trading instruments and had a fair value of 2.7 million as of December 31, 2002 compared to $2.5 million as of December 31,
2001, For the vear ended December 31, 2002, we recognized in our conselidated statement of income o loss of S(0.9) million
related to these trading swaps, which includes the change in their fair value as well as the net interest payments made on these
trading swaps, compared to a loss of 5{2.8) millson for the year ended December 31, 20011, The Company entered mto these inferest
rate swaps as trading instruments during the year ended December 31, 2011,

Repurchase Agreemenis
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Repurchase agreements increased a net 51,4703 million from December 31, 2001 o December 31, 200 2 primsarily due
to addditeonal borrowings o finance owr purchases of invesiments during U vear ended December 31, 2002, and principally 2002
purchases of Agency RMBS and CMBS 10, Daring 2002, the Company entered intoa 5200 million two-year committed Faciliny
to finance a pomion of itz investeents in CMBS 10 securitics.  The Company will continue 1o seek longer-torm of commitied
repurchase agrocment [inancing when management believes that reasonable terms are available, Please refer 1o Mote & of the
Motes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements contained within [term 8 of Pan 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as
“Liquidity and Capital Resources”™ conaimed within this lem 7 for additional information relating to our repurchase agrecmenls,

A portion of our repurchase agreement financing is collateralized by secwritization [nancing bonds that were issued in
the past by ope of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and then were subsequenily repurchased ("redeemed™ ) by ws through a differcn
wholly-owned subsidiary. Alhough these bonds are legally custanding, the balances are eliminated on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP and are therefore not included in the “non-recourse collateralized financing™ balapces shown on our
consolidaled balanee sheet, The additional repurchase agreement borrowings collateralized by these redecmed bonds were wsed
to finance the bond redemplion as well as 1o purchase additional invesiments. The following tables summarize the par and fair
vaalues of these redecmed bonds weed as collaieral for repurchase agreement linancing as of the periods presented:

December 31, 2002
Repurchase
Par Value Agrecment
ferarainis for fleonesinds ) Oatstanding Fair Value Balance
Collateral Type:
Single-family mongage loans 5 18095 § 17,331 & 15986
Commercial morigage loans 14,160 14,152 12,127
5 J2255 § J1ABZ & 28,113
December 31, 2011
Repurchase
Par Value Agrecment
ferrmannines G thonsanls ) Cratstanding Fair Value Balance
Collateral Type:
Single-family mongage loans 5 20477 % 15616 § 16,4980
Commercial mortgage loans 49,2 459,256 43482
5 T069T 5 67872 § 6, 4462
—————————— . — .|

Naw-recowurse Cellateralized Financing

Chir non-recourse collateraliered financing decreased from December 31, 2001 o December 31, 2002 primarily becwsse
we pand off the balance of our TALF finoncing, which had o fixed imterest rate of 2. 7% and a remaiming balance as of December 31,
2001 of $37.6 million, and replaced it with repurchase agreement financing.

Supplemental Information

The tables below present the allocation of our shareholders' equity to our assets and habilities. The allocation of
shareholders’ equity 15 determined by subtracting the associated financing for ench asset from that asset's carmying basis. Duning
2002, we allocated o substantial portion of our available investment capital to CMBS and CMBS 10 mvestments because of their
superiorn risk-adjusted retumn profiles as well as their prepayment protected profiles which offset our prepayment risk from cur
EMBS asscts,
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feramerliitls £ PRonsaards )
Agency RMBS

Agency CMBS

Agency CMBS 10
Mon-Apency RMBS
Mon-Agency CWBS
Mon-Apgency CMBS 10
Securitized mongape loans
Other investments
Derivative assets (liabilities)
Cash and cash equivalents
Ohher assets’other liahililies

fenerentiitls for Mooy
Agency RMBS

Agency CMBS

Agency CMBS 10
Mon-Agency RMBS
MNon-Agency CMBS
Mon-Agency CMBS [0
Securiized mongage loans
Dther investments
Denvative assets (liabilities)
Cash and cash equivalents
Onher assets/other liabalitics

As of December 31, 2002

Associated
Financing""

Asset Liahility Allocated % of
Carryving Carrving Sharcholders” Shareholders

Basis Basis Equiity Equiiy
30 OXSTLAAT 5 236598 % 205,335 333%
354142 248771 105,371 17.1 %
567180 442 BR1 124,20 0.2 %
11038 7 B0 3230 0.5 %
486,342 INT. 159 B9, 183 14.5 %
113,942 BE 22 25T 4.2 %
TOEXS 43.E1D a3 44 %
B3R -— E3R 0.1 %
— 42,537 {42,537} {6.9%
55,800 —_ 55, 8 2.0 %
48758 26,350 22 408 3.6%
5 428079 5 3663519 3 al6. 710 0.0 ¥

As of December 31, 2001
Associated
Financing'""

Assel Liahility Allocated % ol
Carrving Carrving Sharcholders’ Sharcholders

Basks Beasks Equity Equikty
£ 1377250 5 AT § 129,742 4.9 %
302,244 222 021 79,323 214 %
B5.6635 67441 18,224 4.9 %
15,270 12,19 3075 0.5 %a
354,070 296,739 57331 154 %
51,756 IR ERD 12,873 15%
113,703 T9.00 1 34,702 9.3 %
1LOl% [EHIE] 0.3 %
27.997 (27.59497) (7.5
45,776 = 48,776 13.1 %
32441 18,159 14,282 1.9 %
5 1582193 5 ZZI0MA4 5 371,349 1040, [k %a

I | | e —

(1} Associated financing related to imvestments inclides reprrchase agreements as well as payables pending for imsettled
trawdes a5 of the reporting peviod, and non-recosrse collateralized financing. Associated financing for devivative
iRsrramrenis represeints e fair value of the interest ralfe swap agreemends i a lability pesifion,
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion sddresses significant activity in ouwr Consolidated Statements of Income fior the yvears emnded
Drecember 31, 2002, December 31, 2001, and December 31, 2000 and should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the
Consolidaved Financial Statements contained within Iiem 8 of Par 11 to this Annual Bepon on Form 10-K and the Exccutive
Cwverview contained within this Tem 7.

Year Ended Decewber 31, 2002 Compared o Year Evnded Decewmber 31, 2001

During 2012, contineed monctary casing initiatives instituted by the Federal Reserve and general cconomic weakness
led to declining interest rates with the S-vear to 10-year portion of the LS. Treasury curve declining by 0.1 1%-0.17%, This low
rate cnvironment impacted our results of operations by increasing actual and estimated prepayment speeds on our Agency RMBS
and by reducing retums on new investments that we added to the iovestment portfolio, During 2012 we also saw increased
repurchase agreement costs on our Agency RMBS versus 2011 as lenders began to pass through increased regulatory compliance
costs and also due to competition for financing and temporary increases in costs from the Federal Reserve's sale of short-term
Treasury securities pursuant to Operation Twist. The sale of shor-term Treasury securitics by the Federal Reserve reduces the
amount of repurchase agreement available as buyers of these securitics typically finance them through the repuschase agreement
rarkets,

Ner Imterest Income - Agency MBS

The following table provides a summary of the resulis of our Agency MBS investments and related financings by type
of collateral for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 11,
2002 2001
Elfective Elfective

_ Income - Average Yicld 1 Income " Average Yicld 1
fermmanrnnts i thonsands) [ Expense) Bulance (Rate)” [ Expenst) Bulance (Rate)”
Agency MBS 5 50319 % 1,250-.41"7" 224% 5 45013 5 1,567 408 28T %
Financing (15016)  (2,081,370) (0,71 (9.595)  (1.451,790) {0,661
Met interest incomespread 5 35,303 1.53 % % 35418 221 %
Agency CMBS 5 1601 § 30769 369% 8 o711l § 250,333 381 %
Financing {5.335) (259.632) {2.02)% {3.946) {183, 86K) {2.12)%
Met interest income/spread 5 6,260 167 % 5 5,705 1.69 %
Agency CMBS 10 5 15841 § 325541 S02% 5 000 5 28,203 .71 %
Financing (3411) (258,955) {1.300% (245) (20,0546 (1.21%
Mel intenzsl income spnzad 5 12.430 IT2% % 1.545 f.500 %
Total Agency MBS 5 71761 § 2,586,709 271 % & 56814 5 ]545.044 3.07 %a
Total finanging (23.762)  (2.599.957) {0.90)% (13.786)  (1,655.714) {0.52)%
Total net interest income/
spread: Agency MBS 5 53.999 1Bl % & 43028 225 %

(1} Expense awours and financing rafes inclinde allocated inferest rirle expense on inferest rave swaps designated as hedges.
20 Average halances are calclaned ax a simple average of the daify amortized cost basis and exclude narealized gaing and
lasses,



(30 Effeciive vields (rates) are baved on ammalized fncowne (expeise) amonnty.  Becalcnlanion of effective vieldys aodl rafes
riery et B posville ping dana providied becaice certain incone and expenye fems of g ove=iime Ratire ane mod arisualied
Jor the colcidarion of effective vields or rates, A example of swch a ore-fisne em 5 e retrospective aaasiments of
it e preminm amorfizations arisimg o adiicrments of effecnive inresest rates,

The majority of the increase in our interest income from Agency MBS for the year ended December 31, 200 2 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2011 is due to the growth of our Agency MBS porifolio, During the vear ended December 31,
2002, we purchased 52,3036 million in Agency MBS which increased our average inlerest eamnings assets 1o 52 886.7 million
from 1,845 % million For the year ended December 31, 2011, The increase in average interest earning assels helped offset a decline
in ihe weighied average yvield during 2002 of 0C36% 10 2,71%,

Decreases in weighted average coupons on our Agency RMBS and Agency CMBS negatively impacted our interest
income and effective yields on Agency MBS during the vear ended December 31, 2012, The weighted average coupons for the
vear ended December 31, 2012 were 3.89% and 3.19% for Agency RMBS and Agency CMBS, respectively, compared to 4.51%
and 5_36% for the yvear ended December 31, 2001, respectively, The decline in weighted average coupon for Agency RMBS is
the result of purchases of newer issue Hybrid ARMsz and resets in the coupon rates over the last iwelve months in our Agency
ARMs, The decline in weighted average coupon lor Agency CMBS is primarily the result of purchases of invesimenis with lower
coupons over the kst fvelve months,

Our Agency CMBS 10 investments positively impacted our Agency MBS effective vield by 0.30% for the vear ended
December 31, 2002 even though vields on Agency CMBS 10 declined in 2012 relative o 20011, We were able to buy Agency
CMBS IO investments at better vields than Agency RMBS as demand for the Agency UMBS 10 products was nod as strong relative
to the demand for Agency RMBS.

Mel premium amortizaton en Apency MBS increased 5530 million to $81.0 million for the vear ended December 31,
2002 compared o 528.0 million for the vear ended December 31, 2001, This increase in net premium amomization is dwe primarily
to the purchases of higher-priced Agency CMBS 10 and Agency RMBS during 2002, To a lesser extent, our net premium
amortization also increased due o actual prepayment activity as well as an increase in our forecasted prepayment speed during
the second quarter of 2002 in response to declining morigage rates and the HARP refinance program. We estimate that 1.0 million
of our net premium amortization of $31.0 milkion was due to actual prepayments exceeding forecasted prepayments during the
vear a5 well as changes 1o expected fulure prepayment activity on our Agency EMBS,

Excluding inferest rale swap expense, our financing cost for Agency MBS increased 57.9 million to $12.7 million for
the yvear ended December 31, 200 2 from 54,8 nulhon for the year ended December 31, 2001, This increase 15 primarily due Lo the
addinional repurchase agreement bormowings we used 10 finance our Agency MBS purchases over the past 12 months. Inaddition,
the average rade on the repurchase agreements imcreased to (.48% for the vear ended December 31, 2012 from 0.29%% for the year
ended December 31, 2001, This higher cost of finanging is indicative of the higher costs of linancing Agency CMBS [0 nvesiments
and generally increased costs for repurchase agreements during the vear as discussed above,

Our financing costs for Agency MBS shown in the table above for the vear ended December 31, 2002 inchudes 511.1
million of inferest expense related to imterest rle swaps compared to S50 million of inferest rate swap expense for the year ended
December 31, 2001, Interest e swap expense mncreased our bormowing cosls For Agency MBS by 0.42% Tor the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to an increase of 0.53% for the year ended December 31, 2011,

Ner Inverest Income = Non-Agency MBS

The Tollowing table provides a summary of the results of our non-Agency MBS investments and relsted financings by
type of collateral for the peniods indicated:



For the Year Ended

December 31,
202 2001
Income Average Effective Income Average Effective

fenmanentes i thonsands) {Expense) " Balanee™  Yield'Rawe™ (Expense)™  Balanee'™  Yield/Rare'™

Mon-Agency RMBS 5 B4 3 15401 F1a% § T 3 13,086 608 %
Financing (216) {11.57T) (1.83% (133) (9.715) (1.36)%
Met interest income/spread & 668 3191 % § 662 T 4%
Mon-Apency CMBS 5 24568 5 406918 GG % 5 16668 & 275469 605 %
Financing (9.335) (331,036) (277 {7.233) {235,498) (3.04)%
Met interest income/spread & 15,233 329% § 9435 T 30 %
Non-Agency CMBS 10 5 4515 § 71,882 539% § 1,362 % 14.647 9.30 %
Financing (933) {55 86 i 1.641% (252 {11.082) i 1.4%%
Net interest income/spread =~ & 3,582 375% $ 1,110 T 181 %
Total non-Agency MBS § 29967 5 494201 595% § 18825 5§ 30320 621 %
Total fikancing {10484 {398 47TT (2.59% {T.H618) {256,205) (2.91)%
Total net interest income/ S T
spread: non-Agency MBS § 19,483 336% § 11,207 31.30 %

- - e

(1) Expense awteionis ard Tranetng rafex imelide allocaned inferest rale gxpense on tnferest rete swaps desieraneod ax Recdges.

{20 Average halances are calenlared as a sinple averaee af the dally amersized cost by angd exclude nnrealized gaing and
fosses.

(31 Effective vields frates) are based on ammiialzed incowme fexpense) amonnis.  Recalcwlation of effeciive yvields awd rares
mery e B possifle uxing deva provided becawse corfain income and expense ifems of @ ooe-1me mafre ave not aunsialized
Jor the calcwlarion of effective yields or rates. An example of such o one-fime item is the refrospeciive aadiusiments of
discount and premitm amortizations arising from adinsimenis of effective infonesi rafes.

Chur mderest income from non-Agency MBS mereased over 59% for the vear ended December 31, 2012 compared 1o the
vear ended December 31, 2011, The increase is due 1o & higher average balance resulting from purchases of 5241.3 mallion of
these invesiments subsequent to December 31, 2001 as well as a favorable increase in imerest income for the year ended December
31, 2002 for those investments held as of December 31, 2011,

As shown in the table above, the effective yicld on our non-Agency MBS portfolio decreased for the vear ended
December 31, 202 comparsd to the vear ended December 31, 2001, We sdded non-Agency CMBS 10 investments sl higher
premiums during 200 2 and lower yields as the demand for those investments increased our purchase prices. The higher premiums
on our nen-Agency CMBS 10 increased our premium amonization expense for the vear ended December 31, 2012 compared 1o
the year ended December 31, 2011,

Clur interest expense from repurchase agreemenis collateralized by non-Agency MBS increased 1057, 1 million {excluding
interest rafe swap expense) for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $2.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2001, an increase driven by the increased volume of repurchase agreement borrowings used to finance our non-Agency MBS
purchases. In addition to the increased average balance, the average rate on these repurchase agreements increased 1o 1.53% for
the year ended December 31, 200 2 from 1.27% for the vear ended December 31, 20011, This higher cost of financing is indicative
of the higher cost of financing for non-Agency CMBS 10 as well as peneral increases in repurchase agreement costs discussed
abavyie,



Chur Ninancing costs shown in the table above for non-Agency CMBS include interest rate swap expense ol 534 million
and 52,6 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and Decembser 31, 2001, Owerall, the financing costs (including inderest
rale swap expense) for mon-Agency MBS decreased 32 basis points For the year ended December 31, 2002 from the year ended
December 31, 2001 because our inlerest rate swap expense impacied our bormowing cosis for non-Agency MBS by only 1.06%
for the vear ended December 31, 2012 compared 1o 1.64% for the yvear ended December 30, 2001,

Ner Fverest Fncome - Securitized Worigage Loans

The following able provides a summary of the resulis of our securitized morigage loans and related linancing for the
peripds indicated,

For the Year Ended
December 31,
iz 2ol
Income Average Effcetlve Income Average Effcetlve

{erAmaTES i P terany ) {Expense) Balance " Yield'Rawe™  (Expense) Balance " Yield/Rate™
Securitized mongage loans  § 5395 8 91,873 586% S 1615 § 133,198 370 %
Financing (i) {58.921) (1L.447% (26T8) (90.972) (2.94)7%
Net interest income/spread  § 4331 442% 5 4937 T 276%
Provision for loan losses (192} (871}

s 439 5 4066

(1 Average balance exelies funcs Feld by irusrees exeepr proceeds from defeased loomes beld by trostees,

(2 Effecnive vields (rates) are baved on ammialized incowe fexpene) amonnty.  Becalenlanion aof effective vields amed rates
riery mof be possilble wedng dota provided te the talle becanse cortain incovre aand experee frems of o ene-time nafire are
nof annnalized for the caleulation of effective vields or rates, An example of such o one-tinte frem is the refrospective
{.l.u:{fuﬂ.ﬂ'rﬂ:lm r{,l" alixcoer angd l|!hri:'mcrlu’a.r.l\:rl' TR SN N OvLE m'u:m,g _.I';t.lm mﬁl' L PRI t._!,l'- ﬂﬁ'ﬁ frive riferest Fafes,

The decrease in interest income on secuntized mortgage loans is the result of the lower average balance outstanding for
the vear ended December 31, 20012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, These balances have decreased vear over
vear because we are no longer adding securitized mordgage loans to our imvestment porifelio. Principal payments, including
unscheduled pavments, were 540.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared 10 537.6 million for the yvear ended
December 31, 2011.

The decrease in interest expense associnted with securitized morgage loans is related to o decling in the average balance
of outstanding financing. which declined due to the prncipal payments on the mortgage boan collateral that are discussed above
(@5 these pavments received are used (o pay down the principal on the related bonds). In addition, our mterest expense associated
with secuntzed mortgage loans was favorably impacted by our redemption of 323.7 million of our non-recourse collateralized
financimg at the end of the third quarter of 20011, This redemption, which consisted of a portion of our securitvation financing
bond ssued in 1998 with a coupon of 7.16% that 1= collateralized by our secunitized commercial morgage loans, was financed
using varable-rate repurchase agreement financing at a significantly fower effective interest rate than the previously outstanding
portion of the securitizaiion financing bomd,

Provision for Loan Losses, Durning the vear ended December 31, 2012, we added $0.2 million of reserves for estimated
bosses on our securitized mortgage loan portfolio compared 1o an addition of 50.9 million of reserves for the vear ended December
30, 2011, The majority of this additional reserve was related to our single-family secunitized mongage loans,

e Revenwes and Expenses

Cipring on sply of imvestments, nit, The following table summarnizes information related to our gain on sale of investments,

net for the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001,
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For ilke Year Ended December 31,

012 nii

Amortized  Gain on sale,  Amortized  Gain on sale,
feramerlitls i iareramdy ) cost basis sold net cost hasls sold net
Twpe of Investment
Agency RMBS 3 61,534 § 2112 % 152,165 § 1,240
Agency CMRBS - — 26,662 B35
Agency CMBS 10 23,939 194 —_ —
Non-Agency CMBS 343515 ioli _ —
Securilized monigage loan liquidation 3612 2072 —_ —
Fredaie Mac Senior Unsccurcd Reference Motes 99 5 1.070 —_ —

§ 223366 5 8461 § 178,827 3% 2,006

The increased gain on sale reflects prece appreciation durmg 2002, We purchased the Freddie Mac Senior Unsecured
Reference Motes during 2002 with procecds from our capital raise in February 20012 as a temporary investment and subsequenmly
sold these notes in favor of Agency MBS, We sold the MBS scouritics durimg 2012 as a result of ponfolio rebalancing and 1o
reduce our exposure to prepayvosent rigk in the case of the Agency RMBS,

Furir werlne adiusimenis, met, For the year ended December 31, 2012, our Fair value adjustments, nel of 50002} million
consist of unrcalized losses of $(0.9) million related o the changes in fair value of our derivative instruments designated as trading
securitics partially offset by unrcalized gains of 30.7 million related 1o changes in fair value of our Agency CMBS designated as
trading securitics. For the year ended December 31, 2001, our fair value adjustments, net consisted primarily of an unrealized
gain of $1.9 million related 1o the changes in fair value of our Agency CMBS designated as trading securitics and an unrealized
boss of (52.8) million related o the changes in fair value of our derivative instruments designated as irading securitics.

Greneral ard Administrative Expenses

General and adminisirative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased approximately 52.8 million
compared to the vear ended December 31,200 1. The majonty of this increase is dee to increased incenlive compensation expenses
a5 well as an increase in our number of employees. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of sharcholder's equity
decreased to 2.3% for the year ended December 31, 20012 compared to 2.8% [or the year ended December 31, 2001 as we grew
our equity capital during 2012 without incurring sigmificant addiional overhead expenses.

Net Imferest Income — Agency MBS

The fellowing table provides a summary of the resulls of our Agency MBS investments and related financings by type
of collateral for the penods indicated:

Ay



For the Year Ended

December A1,
2011 oo
Eflective Eflective
Incame Average Yield Incame Average Yield

ferdrmaniints i Phonisamnds) {Expense)'”  Balance'™ (Rate)™ {Expensc)'”  Balance'™ (Rate)™
Agency RMBS 5 45013 § 1,567 408 2RT%8 20404 5 566788 .60 %
Financing (9.595)  (1,451,790) (0.t )% (3.614) (523.260) (0L67
Met interest income/spread 8 35418 221 % S 16,700 293 %

———————————
Agency CMBS 5 8711 5 250333 IR % 5 2.516; 5 65 [ER R4 %
Financing (3.946) (153 B68) (2.12% (144 {47861 ) (0.300%%
Met intercst incomc/spread 8 5,765 169 % & 2aT2 154 %

_ —J ——————
Agency CMBS 10 5 2090 5 28203 T.71 % 8 = = — %
Financing (245) {20,056) (L.21)% — — — %
Met interest income’spread 8 1,845 G50 % 8§ — — %

—_— _—
Total Agency MBS -2 J6.814 5 1845044 30T % 5 200 5 63147 363 Y
Total financing (13.786) (1,655,714 (0.82)% (3758} (570.121) (065 )%
Total met interest income
spread: Agency MBS § 43,028 225% § 19,162 298 %

(1) Experise aoroinnts and fnaneing rales inelinde allocated interest rale expense on inferest rele swaps desigraned as bedges,

(2} Average balances are calendated ax o simple average of the daily amoriized cost basis and exclude wnrealized gaing ard
fosses,

(3) Effecrive vields frates) are based on annialized income fexpense) amonunts. Recalendaion of effective vields and rates
rycry e b possible neing daia provided becawse cerfain income and expense ilems of @ one-time Ratre ane el annualized
Jor e colcwlanion of effective vields or rates. An example of swch a one-tiore ifem @5 e retrospeciive aaiusiments af
discount and premium amortizations arising from adinstments of effective intevest rales,

Chur interest income from Agency MBS inereased dunng the vear ended Diecember 31, 2001 compared to December 31,
2000 primarily due to our purchases of $1,215.2 million of Agency RMBS and 5206.6 million of Agency CMBS during the vear
ended December 31, 2001

CHfsetting the benefitofthese purchases, our inferest incomse and effective vield on Agency MBS were negatively impacted
by an increase in our net premium amortizagion, Our net premium amoriization inereased during 2011 because our purchases of
Agency RMBS duning the year ended December 31, 20011 were ot higher prices and ot lower effective vields than our Agency
RMBS portfolioas of December 31, 2000, The effective vield on our Agency RMBS purchased during the vearended December 31,
2001 was 2.69% compared to the effective vield of 3600 eamed on our Agency REMBS portfolio duning the year emded
December 31, 20040.

During the third quarter of 2011, we increased our forecasted prepayment speeds for our Agency RMBS to 28% CPR
due to cur belief that prepayment speeds on vanable-mate Agency RMBS investments will increase in the next twelve months as
a result of the contineed bow interest rate enviromment and proposed changes o the HARP program.  Increasing our forecasted
prepaymient specd reduced our interest incomse from Agency MBS by increasing our net preminm amorization expense for the
vear ended Decembser 31, 2011,

Excluding interest rate swap expenss, our financing cost for Agency MBS increased 53,1 million to 545 million for the
vear ended December 31, 2001 from 51.7 million for the vear ended December 31, 2000 due to our increase in average balance
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of repurchase agreement Ninancing, which increased due 1o our use of repurchase agreement borrowings to pamially finance our
Agency MBS purchases during the yvear ended December 31, 20011, The average raie on the repurchase agreements (excluding
imleresl rate swap expense) collateralived with Agency MBS remained Mat at 0.29%% for both vears ended December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 20040,

Crur linancing costs for Agency MBS shown in the table above for the year ended December 31, 2011 include the allecation
of 59.0 million of interest expense related to our interest rate swaps designated as cash low hedges compared o 2.1 million of
imberesl rale swap expense for the vearended December 31, 2000, This increase isduwe 1o the additional interesi rate swapagreements
we have entered into since December 31, 2000 in order fo hedge our increased exposure i inlerest rale risk associated with our
increpsed use of repurchase agreement bormowings.

Net Fterest Fncone — Non-Agency MBS

The fallowing Lable provides 3 summary of the resulis of our non-Agency MBS investments and related lnancings by
type of collateral [or the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2ol 2000
Income Average Effcctive Income Average Eflective

fermoets b thonsands) {Expense) ' Balamee'™  YieldRare™  (Expense)'"  Balance™  VieldRawe™
Mon-Agency RMBS 3 TS 5 13,086 608 % § 5 5 9.635 6,70 %
Financing (133) {9.715) (1.36)% (94 (6.295) {149
Net interest income/spread 662 472 % $ 551 — s2l%

=~ -.-—- e ————— — ]
Mon-Agency CMBS k] 16668 5 275469 6.05% § 12846 5 1839 6.99 %
Financing (7.233)  (235,498) (3.04)% (4,129 (152.452) {2.69)%
Net interest income'spread  § 9435 301 % § 8717 4,30 %

T — ——— P —————CF |
Non-Agency CMBS 10 3 1362 § 14647 930% 3§ — 5 —_ — %
Financing (253} (11,083) (1. 49% -_— —_— — %
Met interest income/spread S 1,110 T8l % § — — %%

fatia s = uoliu . | e 1)
Total non-Agency MBS 5 18,835 ~§. 303202 62l %W § 13491 § 193,535 6,97 %
Total financing (T.018) (256,295) (2.9 % (4.223) {158,747) (2.64)%
Total net interest income/
spread: non-Agency MBS 5 11.207 330% 5§ 9.268 4,33 %

T ——— T e —— —_— e

(1) Expense awrownts and financing rafes inclivde allocated interest rale expense on inferest rale swaps designoted ax hedges,

(2) Average balances are calewdated as a simple average of the daily amortized cost basis and exclude wnrealized gains and
losses,

(3) Effective yields {rates) are based on anmivalized income fexpense) amonunis. Recalewlation of effective vields and rates
may wed e possible uxing data provided becawse cerfain income and expense ifems of g one-iime natire are not annualized
Jor the calewlation of effective yields or rates, An example of siwch a one-time item is the refrospeciive adjusiments of
discouni and preminm amortizations avising from adivsimenis of effective intevest rales,

Clur inferest income from non-Ageney MBS increased for the vear ended December 31, 2001 compared to the vear ended
December 31, 2000 due to our purchase of $189.2 million in non-Agency MBS during the vear ended December 31, 20011, These
purchases increased our avernge balance on which we earned interest income to 5303.2 million for the vear ended December 31,
2001 from 5193.5 million for the vear ended December 31, 2010,
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OT the 5189.2 million of non-Agency MBS purchases during the vear ended December 31, 2001, 3529 million represenis
the premiums we paid for non-Agency CMBS 105 which increased our nel premium amortization on non-Agency MBS o 53.1
rillion For the year ended December 31, 2001 compared 1o 51,4 million for the vear ended December 31, 2000, This increased
nel premium amonization contribwted 1o the 0.T6% decrease in our elfective vield on our non-Agency MBS for the vear ended
December 11, 2001 cormpared 10 the vear ended December 31, 2000, Also coniributing 1o this decrease in effective yvield is the
average coupon on the remaining 51363 million non-Agency MBS purchases for the year ended December 30, 200 1 was 4_86%
compared to the average coupon of §.97% for non-Agency CMBS for the vear ended December 31, 2010,

During ihe years ended December 31, 2001 and Diecember 31, 20010, owr non-Agency MBS porilolio was financed using
recourse repurchase agreements and non-recourse securilization and TALF financings. Inlerest expense from nom-recourse
Minancing was 525 million for the vear ended December 31, 20011 and 52,2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, Inderest
expense from recourse Minancing increased w $2.5 million (excluding inerest rate swap expense ) for the year ended December 31,
2001 compared to 516 million for the vear ended December 31, 2000, an increase primarily driven by the increased volume of
repurchase agreement borrowings used 1o linance our 20011 non-Agency MBS purchases, The overall financing rate for non-
Agency MBS shown in the table above mcreased 27 basis points from the yvear ended December 31, 2000 w0 the yvear ended
Drecember 31, 200 1 because of interest rale swap expense that was allocated 10 the repurchase apreements collateralized by mon-
Agency CMBS, which was 526 million for the vear ended December 31, 2001 compared to 30.4 million for the vear ended
December 31, 2000,

Net Iterest Income — Securitized Morigege Loans

The following table provides a summary of the resulis of our securitized morgage loans and related Minancing for the
perimds indicated;

For the Year Ended
December 31,
o on
Income Average Effective Income Average Effective

fermaents i thonsands) (Expense)  Balance'  YielHate'”  (Expense)  Balance ' Yield/Bate™
Securitized mongage loans 5 7615 5§ 123,198 570 % S 12234 § Iﬂi.ﬂﬂ_T- 6,58 %
Financing (2.678) (9,97 2) (2.9 )% (6.376) (136,052) (4.62)%
Met interest income’spread. 5 4937 2.76% 5 5858 1.96 %
Provision for loan losses (871} (1,144

5 4. (ebs 5 4,664

(T T P R I

(1) Average befance exciindes fumds held by imistees excepl proceeds from defeased looans kil by trusiees,

(2) Effective viclds frotes) are based on avsnralized income fexpense) omonnis.  Becalowlation of effeciive yields awd roates
micry noi be possible using dota provided in the fable becanse corfain income ad expense ifems of o one-fime Raivre ane
not il ized for the calcnlation of offective vields ov rafes, An example of sich o orc-fime fem is e refrospeciive
adfustmenis of discownt and pressinm awortizations arising from adiusiments of offective inferess rafes.,

The decrease in imerest income on securitized morigage loans s the result of the lower average balance of the secuntized
mortgage loans outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to the year ended December 31, 2000, These balances
have decreased year over year because we are no longer adding mongage Ioans to our investment portfolio. Principal payments,
including unscheduled payments, were $37.6 million for the yvear ended December 31, 2001,

Interest income also declined as a result of the decrease in the average vield camed on the securitized mortgage loan
portfolio, The primary cawse of this decline was related to the average vield on our secuntized commercial mortgage loans declining
by 94 basis points from 20010 to 2001, This decling 15 primarily related to an increase in the avernge balance of commercial
mortgage loans on nonaccreal status which was approximately 318.0 million for the vear ended December 31, 2001 compared 1o
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5129 million for the year ended Diecernber 31, 2010, The average ballance increased due to ome delinquent commencial mongage
bman, which was restructured in bankrupicy court subsequent o December 30, 2001,

The decrease in interest expense associaled with securitized mongage loans is related o a decline in the average balance
of outstanding Mnamcing, which declined duee 1o the principal payments on the morigage loan collateral that are discussed above
(as these payments received are used 1o pay down the principal on the related bonds), Tn addition, at the end of the third guaner
of 2011, we redeermed 23,7 millipn of our non-recourse collaeralized Minancing. This redempion, which consisted of a ponion
of our secuntization inancing bond isswed in 1998 with a coupon of 7.16% ihat is collaieralized by our securitized commercial
morigage loans, was financed using variable-raie repurchase agreement Mnancing a1 a significantly lower effective interest rale
than the previously outstanding posiion of the securitization financing bond,

Provition for Loan Lotted

During the year ended December 31, 200 1, we added a net 3009 million of reserves for estimated losses on our secufitized
morigage loan porifiolio, Additional reserves of 52.7 million were added for securitized commercial mongage loans collateralized
mecstly by multifamily or retail properties. These reserves were offset by 518 million of benefits from the recapiure of previously
reserved losses. The additional reserves thal we added for our portiolio of securitized single-family morigage loans during the
vear ended December 31, 2011 were relatively minimal as we believe that our current reserves are sullicient to cover projected
bosses on those morigage loans. Dunng the vear ended December 31, 2000, we added 51.4 million of reserves for estimated losses,
512 millzon of which was on our securilieed mongage loan porifolic and 0.2 million on our unsecurilized mongage loans.

Mlier Revenues and Expenses

Livigationt setrlemen ovad olated costs, During the vear ended December 31, 2001, we incurred $8.2 million of litigation
settlement and related defense costs penaining to the class action lawsuil brought by the Teamsters, In December 20101, we entered
a stipulation of seilement agreement whereby we agreed o seitle this litigation for 37,5 million. The remaining 30.7 million
represents the additional legal expenses of Mnalizing the settlernent as well as the defense costs we incurred once we reached the
cap on litigation expenses covered by our directors’ and olTicers’ insurance palicy (5D & O policy™), Further details regasding this
litigation are provided in ltem 3, "Legal Proceedings™ of Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

loss) gain o me-recourse coflaierglized fimgrcing, We redeemed 5237 million of our non-recourse collateralized
financing im 2011, This redemplion resulted in o non-cash charge of 2.0 million for the write-ofT of the related unamoriized bond

discount and bond isseance costs, Duning the vear ended December 31, 2000, we recorded non-cash ingcome of 50,6 million for
the write-ofT of bond premium, net of bond issuance costs related 10 our redemplion of 5564 million of our non-recourse
collateralized financing.

Cigin ow sale of investments, e, Duning the year ended December 31, 2011, we sobd Apency RMBS with a par value of
S134.7 millkon and Agency CMBS with o par value of $29.2 million, resulting in net gains of 1.2 million and $0.9 million,

respectively, These sales resulied from owr continued efforts 1o diversify our invesiment portfolio while capitalizing on the strong
market demand for these assets. During the vear ended December 31, 20010, we recorded o gain of 52,2 million from the liquidation
of a delinquent commercial morgage loan and o gain of 50,7 million from the sale of Agency RMEBES.

Fuir value agdiistments, nel, For the yvear ended December 31, 2001, our Agency CMBS designated as trading securnities
increased in fair value $1.9 million while our interest mie swap agreements designated os tradimg nstruments decreased n Gair
vilue 52,8 million,

Greneral and Adminisirative Expenses
Crur compensation and benefits expense increased 5004 million for the yvear ended December 31, 2001 compared 1o the
wear ended December 31, 20010, Our stock based compensation expense increased 50.2 million because we issued approximately

335,000 shares of restricted stock 1o employees during the vear ended December 30, 2011, In addition, our salary and related tax
expenses increased 50,2 million during the year ended December 31, 2011,
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Our other gencral and administrative expenses increased 30.7 million for the vear ended December 31, 2011 compared
to the year ended December 31, 2000, Increases in our consulting, relocation, and sharehobder expenses account for 39, 2004,
and 8%, respectively, of this increase with the remainder resulting lrom other miscellaneous expenses,

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Onr primary sources of liquidity include borrowings under repurchase arrangements, monthly principal and intencst
payments we recgive on ouf investments, and cash. Additional sourcces may also include procecds from the sale of investments,
equity offerings, issuances of collateralized Fnamcings, and payments reecived from counterpartics from indercst rate swap
agrecments. W use our liquidity to fund oor investment purchases and odher operating costs, to pay down borrowings, to make
paymenis to counterpariics as required under interest rate swap agrecments, and to pay dividends on our common stock,

The capital we raisod during the past twelve months throwgh offerings of common stock and Series A Prefemed Stock
incrcased our available liquid asscts as of December 31, 2002 1o 5186.0 million compared to 5134, 1 million as of December 31,
2001, Asof December 31, 2012, our liquid asscis consist of unrestricted cash and cash equivalenis of 535 8 million and $130.2
million in unencumbercd Agency MBS, Uncocumbered Apency MBS are consedered part of our liguid asscis as we may pledpe
them to lenders and inderest rate swap counterpartics if we expericnes a margin call (which is discussed below). 'We monitor our
currend and forecasted available liquidity on a daily basis.

We perform sensitivity analysis on our liquidity based on changes in the value of our investments duc to changes in
inberest rates, market credil spreads, lender haircuts and prepavrent speeds. We also closcly manage our debi-to-invested equity
ratio{which is equal to the ratio of debt versus equity financing of any investment) as part of our liquidity management process, Our
current operating policics provide that recourse borrowings including repurchase agreemenis wsed 1o finance invesimenis will be
im the range of three (o ten imes our invested equity capital. Ouwr current operating policies alsoe limit our overall debi-io-invested
cquity ratio ie no more than sevien times our invested equity capital for the entire investment porifolio and provide different limits
by investment type. Car masimum targed leverage is up to ten imes our invested equity for Agency RMBS, cight times for Apency
CMBS and five times for Ageney CMBS [0, With respect (o non-Ageney MBS, our maximun target leverage is up 1o five limes
our invested equity capital in non-Agency CMBS and BMBS, and up 10 four times our invested equity capial in non-Agensy
CMBS 10, The maxinium targets represent fined limns for leveraging our investment capital. Based on our investment porifolio
0% of December 31, 2012, our overall current leverage tanget is approximately six tmes our invested equity capital. The leverage
target may change in the future as the portfolio mix changes, We may also inerease our leverage target by holding less capatal
DEAInE certain investments in our portfolio in the future (therefore elfectively increasing the leverage on those investments), In
pddition, because non-Agency MBS are less liquid and their Gair values are more volatile than Agency MBS, we are more
conservative in leveraging non-Agency MBS as evidenced by a lower targeted debt-to-gquity ratio.

In general, we have had ample sources of hguidity 1o fund our activities and operations.  Ligquidity in the repurchase
agreement market has steadily improved since the financial crsis i 2008 and 2009, However, credil markels remain frgake and
susceplible 1o exogenous shocks, Further, regulatory reform could imipact the availability of credin.  In times of severe market
stress, repurchase agreement availability could rapadly be reduced and the terms on which we ¢an borrow could be materally
altered. Competitsn from other REITs, hanks, hedge funds, and the federal government for capacity with owr repan:hise agreement
kenders could also reduce our repurchase agreement wvanlability, While we do ned anticipate sech events in the near term, a reduction
in our borrowing capacily could foree us 1o sell assets in order 10 repay our lenders or could otherwise restrict our wbility o operale
our business,

Owver the course of the last several vears we have raised significant amounts of common and preferred sharcholders’ equity.
Depending on our ligquidity levels, the condition of the credit markets, and other factors, we may from tme 10 tme consider the
issuance of debt, equity, or other securities, te procesds of which could provide additional liquidity for our operations, While we
will pftempt 10 avord dilwtive or otherwise costly 1ssuances, depending on market conditions, in order 10 manage our lguidity we
could be forced 1o issue equity or debt securitics which are dilutive 1o ower capital base or our profitabality,

Repurchase Agreemenis
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The follewing table presents cerlain quantitative information regarding ouwr shon-term bormowings {excluding inferest
rale swap expense) under repurchase agreemends for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
fersmanitis 1 thotsands) o1l il Inin
Average balance outstanding § 3021641 S I90M4R9 5 TISTER
Wieighted average borrowing rate (excheding interest rate swap expense) 0.63% 042% 0. 54%
Maximum balance outstanding £ 3689052 5 2167302 S 256406

Or repurchase agreement bormowings gencrally have a term of between onc aml three mombs and carry a rate of interest
based on a spread 1o an isdex such as LIBOR. Repurchase agrecments are rencwable at the discretion of our lenders and do not
comain guaranteed roll-over terms. 'We attemipt to maintain unosed capacity under our existing repunchase agreement credat lines
with multiple counterpartics which helps protect us in the event of a counterparty's failure to renew existing repurchase agreements
cither with favorable werms or at all,  As of December 31, 2002, we had 2B repurchase agreement counterpartics and 53,6 billion
in repurchase agreement borrowings outstanding with 19 of those counterpartics ata weighted average borrowing rate of 07005, As
of December 31, 2001, we had 52,1 billion cutstanding with 20 counterpartics at a weighted average borrowing rate of (.61 %,

The fllowing table discloscs our repurchase agreement amounts outstanding and the value ofthe related collateral pledged
by geographic region of our counterparties as of December 31, 2002:

Repurchase Market

Agrecment Value of
Amonnt Collateral
fermneninanes fer Mhecnerdnls ) Ouistanding Pledged
Morth America £ 2220812 § 2474622
Asia G992 300 T34.640
Europe 650,926 126,242

§ 3564128 5 3,935504
N ]

For our repurchase agreement borrowings, we ane required to post and maimtain margin to the lender {i.e., collateral in
excess of the repurchase agreement financing) in order to support the amount of the financing. This excess collateral is often
refierred to as a “haircut™ (and which we also refer o as equity at risk). The amount of haircut posted, particularly for non-Agency
MBS, 15 hased on the quality and type of collateral being pledged. Because we have increased our investments in both Agency
and non-Agency CMBS 10 investmients, our weighted average haircut has increased from 5.5% as of Decemiber 31, 2001 10 7.4%
5 of December 31, 2002 for repurchase agreements collateralized by Agency MBS and from 16.9% to 19.5%, respectively, for
repurchase agreements collateralized by non-Agency MBS, The increase in haireut since December 31, 2001 is due to the advance
rates under repurchase agreement financing being lower for CMBS 10 investments than for other MBS, We have not otherwise
experienced any increases in hairewuts by our lenders due to market conditions, credis nisk, or otherwise,

As the collateral pledged is Agency MBS and non-Agency MBS, the value of the collateral can fhectuate with changes
in market conditions, If the fair value of the collnferal falls below the initin] haireut amound, the lender has the right to demand
pdddigional margin, or colbateral, to increase the haircut back 1o the initia] amount. These demands are typically referred 1o as
"margin calls”. There i5 no minimum amount of collateral value decling required before the lender could initiate a margin call,
and we tvpically will experience margin calls for downward fluctuations in collateral values. Declines in the value of investments
oceur for any number of reasons including but not imited to changes in inferest rates, changes in ratings on an investment, changes
in sctwal or pereeived liquidity of the investment, or changes in overnll market risk perceptions, Additionally, values in Agency
RMBS will also decline from the payvment deloy feature of those securities. Agency EMBS have a payment delay feature wherchy
Fannie Mae and Freddic Mo announce principal payments on Agency RMBS but do not remit the actual principal payments and
interest for 20 days in the case of Fannie Mag and 40 days in the case of Freddie Mae, Becovse these securities are financed with
repurchase agrecments, the repurchase agreement lender generally makes o margim call for an amount equal o the product of their
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advance rale on the repurchase agreement and the announced principal paymenis on the Agency BEMBS. This causses
a temporary use of our liguidity 1o meet the margin call until we receive the principal paymems and imerest 20 1o 40 days later.

The counterparties with whom we have the greatest amounts of eguity at risk may vary significantly during any given
peripd due 1o the shom-term and generally uncomminied nature of the repurchase agreement borrowings, Equity &t risk is defined
as the amount pledged as collaleral to the repurchase agreement counterparty in excess of the repurchase agreement amount
outstanding. The following tables present the five counterparties with whom the Company had the greatest amounts of equity at
risk as of Decembser 31, 112 and az of December 31, 20010

December 31, 2012
Repurchase
Agreement
Amonnt Equity st

ferkmariites i tapnerands ) Outstanding risk
Well Fargo Bank, WA and affiliates 5 A65ATO 5 110,708
Bank of America Secunties LLC 287319 37461
Credin Suisse Securitics LLC 245,220 52.037
Momura Securities International, Inc. 206,201 21266
JP Morgan Securities, LLC 199 380 el
Remaining countcrpartics 2260520 113,645

§ 3564128 5 371376

December 30, 2001
Repurchase
Aprecment
Amount Equity at

{ermmannis i Phansands) Outstanding risk
Bank of America Securties LLC 5 226728 % KE |
Giuggenleim Secuntics 214,605 11,343
Deutsche Bank Securnties 178,284 0305
Momura Securilies Intermational, Tnc, 31 15,502
Jefteries & Company, Inc. 100,354 18,098
Remaining counterparties 1250610 25030

§ 2093793 § 174519

Our repurchase agreement counterparties require us to comply with various operating and financial covenants. The
financial covenants include requirements that we maintain minimum shareholders' equity (usually a set minimum, or a percentage
of the highest amount of shareholders’ equity since the date of the agreement ), maximum decling in shareholders’ equity (expressed
% o percentage decline in any given period), and limits on maximum leverage (0% a multiple of sharecholders’ equity), Opernting
requirements include, among cther things, requirements 1o maimiaim our status as & BEIT and 10 maintain our bsting on the NYSE,
Vislations of one or more of these covenants could result in the bender declaring an evend of delfault which would result in the
termination of the repurchase agreement and immediate acceleration ol amounts due thereunder, Tnaddition, some of the agreements
contain cross default features, whereby default with ong lender simultaneously causes defaull under agreements with other
lenders. Vielations could also restrict us from paying dividends or engaging in other transactions that are necessary for us 1o
magintain gur REIT status,

We monitor and evaluate on an ongoing bases the impact these cusiomary linancial covenpnts may have on our operating
and financing fexibility. Currently, we de not believe we are subject 10 any covenants that materially resirict our financing
Nexibility, nor do we believe thal we are in danger of breaching any of these covenants,

Derivatives
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Char interest Fate swap agrecments reguine us to post initial margin at inception amd variation margin bascd on subsequcnt
changes in the value of the swap. The collateral posted as margin typically is in the form of cash, Agency MBS, or Treasury
securitics. Ciencrally, as interest rates decline we will have 1o post collateral with the counterparty, and, as inderest rates increase,
the counterparty will deposit collateral with us or returm our collateral (tyvpically when the amount of collateral required 1o be
posted exceeds a contain dollar amount). As of December 31, 200 2, we had Agency MBS with a fair value of 347.3 million posted
as credit suppon wnder the agreements and noe collateral had been posted 1o us,

Repurclase Agreement Refarm

In addition 1o market related issues, the Federal Reserve Bank of Mew York along with certain industry participants have
tssed a reporn that makes recommendations for reforming the toi-party repurchase agreement market o address potential systemic
risk concems associated with its infrastructure.  The repont focuses primarily on the sciiling and clearing mechanisms of the
repurchase agreement market and the tao primary clearing banks, 1.1 Morgan and Bank of New York Mellon. It i unclear if
these pecommendations of any subsequent recommendations will have any impact on our ability to borrow using repurchase
agreements of increase the cost of borrowing under these agrecments.

Ividesds

As a REIT, we are required to distribute to our sharcholders amounts equal to at beast 90% of our REIT taxable income
fior cach taxable year after consideration of cur tax NOL carmyforwands, We generally fund our dividend distributions theough owr
cash flows from operations. 1f we make dividend distributions in excess of our operating cash flows during the peried, whether
fior purposcs of mecting our REIT distribution requirements o other strategic reasons, those distributions are gencrally fumded
cither through our existing cash halances or through the return of principal from our investments (either through repayment o
sale). Asof December 31, 200 2, we had an estimated NOL camryfoward of 51359 millien, We may utilize our NOL carryforward
to offsct our REIT distribution requirements, subject (o limitations as discussed further below. This would albew ws to retain capical
and increase our liguidity by reducing or eliminating our dividend payout 1o commeen sharcholders,

As o result of our common stock offening in February 2002, we have meurred an “ownership change”™ under Section 332,
In general, if a company incurs an ownership change under Section 382, the company's ability to wtilize an NOL carmyforwand o
offset its taxable income (amd, in our case, after taking the REIT distribution requirements into acoount) becomes limited to a
certain amount per year, For purposes of Section 382, an ownership change oocurs ifover a rolling three-year period, the percentage
of the company stock owmned by 3% or greater sharcholders has increased by mose than 30 percentage points over the lowest
percentage of common stock owned by such shareholders during the three year period. Based on management's analysis and expernt
third-party advice, which necessarily includes cenain assumptions regarding the characterization under Section 382 of our use of
capital raised by us, we deterrnined that the ownership change under Section 382 will limit our ability vouse our NOL carmyforaard
to offset our taxable income to anestimated maximum amount 0F% 134 million per year. The MOL carrvfiorwand expires substantially
beginning in 2020,

Contractunl (Bgeilons
The following table summarizes our contracteal oblipations by payment doe date a5 of December 31, 2002:
(erAROETESs. 0 sl Payments due by period
Contractual Obligations:"™" Tuotal < | year 1-3 years 3-8 vears = & years

Repurchase agreements 5 3564.THT 5§ 3564.THT S — 5 — 5 —
Securitization financing "' 30974 10,767 12.283 4.539 3385
Operating lease obligations arT 200 B3 44 5
Total £ 3596038 5 357579 5 12366 35 4563 5 3435

il Awrenranie presented exelide ineress on the relased obligatiors,

2 Representy financing thal v non-reconrse fo s as phe dely o pavable solely from loans and securities pledged ax
collateral. Paymicnis due I period were estimated bosed o the principal repervmcinis fovecasied for the inderlving loavis
arid securittes, spbstamiially all afwiich s wsed to vepey the atsocioted fitarcing oulsianading.
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in addition, we had contractual commitments under interest rate swap agreements as of December 3, 2002, These
agreements were for a total notional amount of 51,4620 million, had a weighted average rate of 1.53% and a weighted average
term of 41 months,

(NT-Balanice Sheet Arrangentesirs

As of December 31, 2012, we do not believe that any off-balance sheet arrangements exist that are reasonably likely 1o
have a material effect on our current or future financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Please refer to Note | of the Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on recent accounting upsdates
to the ASC which have been issued but ane not yel effective.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Coemain written statements in this Annual Report on Form 10K that are not historical facts constitute “foreand-looking
statemends” within the meaning of Section 27A of the 1933 Act and Section 21E of the Exchanpge Act. Siatemenis in this report
addressing expectations, assumpiions, beliefs, projections, future plans and sirategies, fulure evenis, developments that we expect
or anticipate will occwr im the future, and future operating results are forward-looking siatemenis. Forward-looking staiemenis
are¢ based upon management’s beliefs, assumplions, and expectations as of the daie of this report regarding future evenis and
operating performance, taking into account all information currently available 1o ws, and are applicable only as of the date of this
report. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by wse of words such as “helieve™, “eapect”, “anticipate”,
“estimate”, “plan™ “may”, “will”, “intend”, "should”, “could” or similar expressions. We caution readers nod 10 place undue
reliance on our forwand-looking statements, which are nod historical facts and may be based on projections, assumptions,
expeciations, and anticipated events that do not materialize. Excepl as required by law, we are not obligated 1o, and do not intend
tor, update or revise any forward-looking statement whether as a result of pew information, future events, of otherwise.

We make forward=looking statemients 1n this Annual Report on Form 10=K regarding;

Our business and investiment sirategy imcluding our abality o generate acceptable nsk-adjusted retums;

Owr Mmancing and hedging strvegy, including our tanget leverage ratios and anticipated trends in financing costs;

Chur investment portfolio composition and 1angel myvestments;

Chur investment portfolio performance, including the fir value, yields, and forecasted prepayment speeds of our

mvestment port folio;

= Dur hiquichty and ability 10 access financing, and the anticipated availability and cost of financing;

= Owr use of and restnctions on using our tax MNOL carmy foward;

= The status of pending litigation;

= Estimates of future interest expenses related to the Company’s denvatives designated as hedging instruments;

= The status of regulatory rule-making or review processes and the status of reform effons in the repurchase
pgreement financing market;

= Market, mdustry and economic trends; and

= Interest miles,

Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 1o neks, uncertamizes and other factors that could couse our actual
results o difler matenially from historical resuliz or from any results expressed or imphied by such forward-looking stalements, Mot
all of these risks and other factors are known 10 us, Mew risks and unceriainties anse over ime, and 1t 15 pol possible o preduct
those events or how they may aflect us, The projections, assumplions, expectations or beliefs upon which the forward-looking
statements are based can also change as a result of these nsks or other fctors, 17 such a nisk or other fctor materialies i future
periods, our buginess, Nnancial condivion, hguidity and results of operations may vary materially from those expressed or implied
in our forward-looking statements,
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While it is mol possible o identify all factors, some of the factors that may cause sctual resulis 1o differ from historical
resulis or from any resulis expressed or implied by forward-looking staterments, of thal may cause our projections, assumplions,
expectations of belieli 1o change, include the following:

= the risks and uncenainties referenced in this Annual Repon on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, pamicularly those set forth under lem 1A, “Risk Faclors™,

= pur ability 1o lind suitable reinvestment opporiunities;

= changes in econpmic conditions;

= changes in inferest rates and interest rate spreads, including the repricing of inleresi-carning assels and interesi-
bearing liabilities;

pur ivestment porifolio performance pamicalarly as it relates to cash Mow, prepaymem rates and credit
pef foFmance,;

¢ adverse reactions in [imancial markets related 10 the budget deficit of national debt of the United Siates

government; potential or actual default by the United States government on Treasury securities; and potential

or actual downgrades to the sovereign credil rating of the United Siates;

the cost and availability of fnancing:

the cost and availability of new equity capital;

changes in our use of leverage;

the quality of performance of third-pany servicer providers of our oans and loans underlying our securities;

the level of defaulis by bormowers on loans we have securitized;

changes in our imndusiry;

increased competition;

changes in government regulations affecting our business;

changes in the repurchase agreement financing markets and other credit markets;

government initiatives o suppon the U5 Mnancial system and U5, housing and real estate markets;

GSE reform o other government policies and actions; and

cwnership shifls under Section 382 that funher limit the use of cur 1ax NOL carrylorward,

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We sirive to manage various risks inherent in our business strategy, which inchede interest rate, prepayment, réinvestment,
market value, credit, and liquidity risks, We do not seek 10 avoid risk completely, but rather, we attempt to manage these risks
while eaming an acceplable nsk-adjusted return for our sharcholders,

Interest Rate Risk

Investing in interest=rale sensitive imvestments on a leveraged basis subjects us o inierest rvte sk, Interest role risk arses
primarily because of the mismatch between inlerest-rate neset dales or matunty of our assets and our labilities durnng a specilied
periosd, The cosis of our borrowings are generally based on prevailing market rates and reset more fregquently than imlerest rates
on our assels. In addition, our adjustable rte assets may have limits or caps on the amount that an imterest e may resel while
our liabalitics do ned have rvie resel caps. Duning a penod of nsmg mlerest mtes (particalarly shon erm rates), our borrowing
coats will increase laster than our asset vickds, negatively impacting our net mierest income, The amoum of the impact will depend
on the composition of posifolio and on the effectivencss of our hedge instruments ot the tme, o3 well as the magnilude and the
duration of the increass i milerest rates.  Kising interest rtes will alse negatively impact the market value of our invesimenis
which reduces our book value, See "Market Value Risk™ below for further discussion of the risks 1o the market value of our
mvestneents,

We atlempl to manage our exposure to changes in interest rmics by investing in instruments that have shorter maturities
or inferest resel dates, entening inte hedging ransactions and by managing our investment portfolio within interest rate sk 1olerances
set by our Board of Directors, O current goal is 10 madniain a net pertfolio duration {a measure of ingrest rale risk) within a
range of 0,5 10 1.5 years, Our portfolio durntion has drified outside of our target range at various imes dug 1o changes in market
conditions, changes in actual or expected prepayvment rales on our investiments, changes in interest rates, changes in market spreads,
and activity in our mvestment portfolie, In addinion, duration i driven by model inputs, and in the case of Agency EMBS, the
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sl imporiant inputs include amicipated prepayment speeds. Estimates of prepayment speeds can vary significantly by investor
for the same security and therelore estimates of securty and porifolio duration can vary significantly,

We will use interest rate swaps (0 help manage our interest rate risk and, where practical, we will attempt 1o lund our
asaels wilh Ninancings that have similar terms as te related invesimens. Since inlerest rate swaps [ix the rate of interest Tor the
notipnal amount of the swap, such mstruments generally result in inflerest savings in a rising interest rale environment when the
current market interest rate we receive on the swap (which generally is equal o ong-month LIBOR) rises higher than the stated
lixed rate we pay on the notional amount for each interest rate swap agreement. Allematively, a declining or stable interest rate
environmenl generally resulis in interest expense equal 1o the difference between the sialed flixed rate we pay less the current
markel interest rabe we receive,

Ouir adjustable rate investments have imerest rates which are predominantly based on upon ix-month and one-year LIBOR
and contain periodic (or interim) and lifetime interes rate caps which limit the amount by which the interest rte may reset on the
imvestmbent. The following table presents information about the lifetime and interim interest rate caps on our adjustable-rate Agency
MBS portfolio as of December 31, 2002 {which totaled 52,6 billion):

Lifetime Interest Rate Caps Interim Interest Rate Caps
e of Total Yo of Total
B0 1o 10.0% T 100 0.5%
= 10,00 o 11.0% 1508 2.0% 13.9%
=] 1.0% o 12.1% 43% 500600 B5.6%
QT 100,07

Effect of Choaviges in Interest Reles o Net Interest Incomie and Market Value. The table below shows the sensitivity of
our projected net interest income and the projected market value of our investments (for those carried an fair value on our balance
sheet, including all interest rate swaps) as they existed as of December 31, 2012 based on an instantancous paralle] shift in marker
interest rates as set forth in the table. The "percentage change in projected net intenest income” and the "percentage change in
progected market value™ included in the table below are based on the projected net interest income on and projected marker valus
of the investment partfolio over the next twenty-four (24 months. Apart from the changes in interest mtes, the net interest income
progections are bised upon a varety of other assumptions incleding investment prepayment speeds, credit performance, market
credit spreads, and the availability of financing over the projected period.  The projections for market value are based on the same
sssumptions a5 projected net interest income excepd they do not not assume any change in market credil spreads,

The tabde below assumes a static portfolio and does not consider any reinvestmend or rebalancing of the mvestment
portfilioor additional hedging activity by the Company, Changes in types of investments, changes in future interest mtes, changes
in creslit spreads, changes in the shape of the yvield curve, the availability of financing and/or the mix of our investments and
financings may couse actual results to differ significantly from the modeled results. In addition, given the low interest rate
envirenment existing a5 of December 31, 2012, the impact of increasing interest rafes on market expectations of future changes
in intenest rates may couse declines in the market value of our investments (from widening credit spreads) that are not modeled in
the table below, Other factors will also impact the table bebow, such as whether we paise additional capital or change our investment
allocations or strategics. Accordingly, interest ingome may differ from that shown below, and such difference may be material.
There can be no assurance that assumed events used for the mosdel below will oceur, or that sther events will mot occur, that will
affect the outcomes; therefore, the tables below and all related disclosures constitute forward-looking statements,
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December 31, 2002

Percentage change In Percentage change in
Basis Point Change in Interest Rates projected net interest income'”’  projected market value '
+100 (6.6)% (L77%
+50 (3.3 (08
0 = —5%
Sl 4,595 0.8%
=[] 0. 7% 1.6%
] fivelivales chgnges br (nterext expense frivm the Trenetngs for owr fnvestrrents ax well ey onr derivative Bslfrurments,

(2 fircliveles changes b market valine of aor investoreniy andd derivanive instrvments, brt excludes cheaiges fn marker value
of einr fnaeie gy hecanse Ney are wof carried ol feir valie on owe balance shirer,

Prepayment and Reinvestment Risk

Prepayment risk is the risk of an early, unscheduled returm of principal on an investmen. We are subject 1o prepayment
risk from premiums paid on investments which we acquire, In general, purchase premiums on our investments are amorized as
a reduction in interest income using the effective yield method under GAAP, adjusted for the actual and anticipated prepayrment
activity of the investment. An increase in the actual or expected rate of prepayment will typically accelerate the amontization of
purchase premiums, thereby reducing the yieldinterest income earned on such assets.

Prepayment risk resulis from both our RMBS and CMBS invesimenis. Loans underying our CMBS and CMBS [0
securities generally have some form of prepayment protection provisions {such as prepayment lock-puls) or prepayment
compensation provisions (such as yield maintenance or prepavment penalties). Without these prepayment proleclion provisions,
prepayiment fisk on CMBS 10 would be particularly acute as the investments are all premivn. Yield maintenance and prepayiment
penally requirements are intended to create an economic disincentive forthe loans 1o prepay; however, the amount ol the prepayiment
penalty required 1o be paid may decline over time, and as boans ape, inferest rates decline, or marked values of collateral supporiing
the loan increase, prepayment penalties may lessen as an economie disincentive 1o the borrower over time. Generally our experience
has been that prepayment lock-out and yield maintenance provisions result in stable prepayment performance from period (o period.
There are no prepaymend protections, however, if the loan defaults and the loan is partially or wholly repaid earléer as a result of
lass mitigation achions 1aken by the underlying loan servicer. Historically, our defasl expenence on loans in CMBS and CMBS
10 has been relatively low. Delmquencies as of the last reported date are less than 1% for our CMBS 10 secunities.

Loans umderlving our RMBS do not have any specific prepayment profection. All of the leans underlying our RMBS are
ARMs or Hybrnd ARMs. Prepayments on these loans accelernte in a declimimg rate environment and as they near their initeal reset
date. Crur prepayment models anticipaie acceleration of prepaymenis in these evenis. To the extent the actual prepaymends exceed
our modeled prepayments, or if we change our future prepayment expectations, we will record adjustments 1o our premium
amoriization which may negatively impact our net interest income and could impact the market value of our RMBS,

Principal prepayments on our investments are influenced by changes in market interest rates and a vanety of economic,
gecgraphic, and other factors beyond our control. In addilion, actions taken by the ULS. government could increase prepayments
as discussed in "Trends and Recent Market Impacts” in ltem 7 of Part 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012,

The following table discloses the net premium (discount) by months until interest rate reset as well as the net premium
(discount) as a percentage of par value (or notional valwe in the case of CMBS 10) for Agency and non-Agency MBS in our
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imvestrent portfolio as of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 1:

ferAmaenls i Haoiurands) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2001

Ageney: ~ RMBS CMBS CMBS 10 RMBS CMBS  CMBS 10
0-12 months to reset § 35675 8 — 5 — 5 15338 § — % 7
Gircater than 12 monihs 1o resci Lol 505 70,150

Fixed rate (13) 23517 F50L171 {17} 21,627 B6. 358
Total premium, et 5 137167 § 23517 5 5500171 5 REATI 5 21627 £ BAA5R
Par‘motional balance EIAX5 826 5 306527 510,059,495 51488397 5 6,952 51,813 0%
Premium, nct as a % of par value 57 % T.7 % 5.5% 57 % g1 % 4 K%
Non-Agency:

0-12 months to reset §  (406) S — $ — 5§ (5400 S — ¥ ==
Cireater than 12 months o reset — - — — - -—
Fixed ratc (375) (17.313) 108,928 [463) (13,565) 51239
Total {discount) premium, met 5 (781) 5 (17313 5 108928 5 (1003 5 (13.865) § 51239
Par'notional balance 5 l11all § 463,747 52393614 F 17119 5 359833 5506202
(Driscowmnt) premium, net as a %

of par value (6.8 (3.70% F6% (5.90% (3.9%% 5.71%

We seek o manage our prepayment risk by diversifying our investments, seeking investments which we believe will have
superior prepayment performance, and investing in securities which have some sort of prepayment prohibition or yield maintenance
(ag s the case with CMBS and CMBS 10

We are also subject to reinvestment risk as a result of the prepayement, repayment or sale of our investments, Yields on
pssets in which we imvest now are generally lower than vields on existing assets that we may sell or which may be repaid, due 1o
lower overall interest rates and more competition for these as investment assets, As o result, our inferest income may decling in
the future, thereby reducing eamings per share. In order to maimntain our investment portfolio size and our eamings, we need 10
reinvest our capital in1o new inferest-enming assets. [Fwe are unable to find suitable reinvestment opporiunities, inferest incoms
on our investment portfolio amd investment cosh flows could be negatively impacted.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that we will not recerve all contractual amounts due on mvestments that we own due to defanlt by
the boarower or due to o deficiency in proceeds from the quidation of the collateral secuning the obligation. We are also exposed
to credit misk on investments that we own ot & premium. For investments owned of premiums, defaulis on the underlying loan
typically result in the complete loss of oy remainimg unamortized premium we paid,

We attempt to mitigate our credit risk by purchosing Agency MBS and higher quality non-Agency MBS, Agency MBS
have credit sk to the extent that Fannie Mae or Freddie Maoc fails to remit payments on the MBS for which they have ssued a
guaranty of payment. Given the conservatorship of these entities and the continued support of the ULS, government, we believe
thi risk is low, For our non-Agency MBS, we will generally only purchase secunties "A'-rated or better by o least one of the
notionally recognized statistical ratings onganizations, with the concentration of these securities being rated '"AAA". For secunities,
such as CMBS 105, where we have a higher premium ot risk, we seek to invest in securities where we are comfortable with the
credit profile of the loans underlving the secunty.

The following table presents information on our nen-Agency MBS by credit rating as of December 31, 2012:



December 31, 20012

Weighted
{eritatninls fi Macanus i) CMBS CMBS 10w RMBS AVErage

AAA s 156,80 § 112,107 § TS 0%
AA 46,967 1,836 — B
A 275310 — 3328 45.6%
Below A or pof rated T.RRS 6,535 2.4%

With respect 10 our securitieed mongage loans, these loans ane well-seasoned, thereby lowenng our average loan-to-value
(“LTV") ratio and decreasing our risk of boss, (iher efforts (o mitigate credin risk include maintaining a sk management function
that monilors and oversees the performance of the servicers of the morigage loans, as well as providing an allowance Tor loan loss
as required by GAAP

Markel Value Risk

Market value risk generally represents the risk of loss from the change in the value of a financial instrument due 1o
Muctuations in interest rates and changes in the perceived risk in owning such Minancial instrumenl. Securilies in our investrment
porniiolio are rellected an their estimated Fair wvalue, with the diference berween amortized cost and estimated fair value reflecied
in accumulated sther comprebensive income il the securities are deemed available lor sale, or fair value, net in owr staterment of
operations if the securities are viewed as trading, Regardless of how the investment is carried in our lnancial statements, we will
monitor the change in ils markel value, In particular, we will monitor changes in the value of invesimenis collateralizing our
repurchase agreements for liguidity management and other purposes, including maintaining appropriate collateral marging, The
fair value of our securities Muctuates primarily due 1o changes in inderest rates, changes in credit spreads (which represent the
market’s valuation of the perceived riskiness of assels relative to risk-free rates), changes in aciual prepayments or expecied
prepayvments, the perceived liquidity of the invesiment, and other factors.  We attempt to manage market value risk by managing
our exposure 1 these Mactors (alithough we do not actively atlempl to manage market value risk from changes in credit spreads).
For example, the types of derivalive instruments we are currently using 1o hedge the inerest rates on our debl tend 1o increase in
value when our invesiment portfolio decreases in value, although not a one-to-one comelation. See the analysis i the “Interest
Rate Risk™ section above, which presents the estimated change in our portfolio given changes in market inferest rates,

Liquidity Risk

Wi have liquidity nisk principally from the use of recourse repurchase agreements (o finance ourownershipof securities. In
general, our repurchase agreements provide a source of uncommitted short-term financing that finances a longer-lerm asset, thereby
crealing a mismatch betweesn the maturity of the asset and of the associoled financing. Chr repurchase agreements are renewable
at the discretion of our lenders and do notl contain guaranteed roll-over terms. [T we fail to repay the lender a1 maturity, the lender
has the night 10 immediately sell the collateral and purswe us for any shorifall if the sales proceeds are inadequate 1o cover the
repurchase agreement financeng. In additeon, repurchase agreements aré collateral based and declines in the market value of our
investments subject us 1o hiquidity risk.

For further information, including how we attempt to mitigate liquidity nisk and recent developments with respect 1o our

liquidity position, please refer to “Executive Overview™ and “Liquidity and Capital Resources™ in lem 7 of Part 11 to this Annsal
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001,

ITEMBE,  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPFLEMENTARY DATA

COur consolidated financial statements and the related notes, wogether with the Repons of the Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon, are se1 forth on pages F-1 through F-32 of this Annual Repon on Form 10K,



ITEM S  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
MSCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls amd Procedures

Cur management evaluated, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Dificer, the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and proceduares, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15{e), as of the end of the period
covered by this repon. Based on that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded thar
our disclosure comrols and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2002 to ensure that information required 1o be disclosed
in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summanzed and reported, within the time
perads specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and commumnicated 1o our management,
including our Principal Execufive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow tmely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

in Intermal Conirol over Financial Reporti

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting duning the three months ended December 31, 2002
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect, our internal control over financial reponting.

i eni’s B on Intemnal Control over Financial B in

Chur management s responsible for establishing and maintaining adeguate intemal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Because of inherent limitations, a system of intemal control over financial reporting
may wol prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 1o future permosds are subject 10 the
risk that controls may become inadeguite due o chinge i conditions, or that the degres of compliance with policies or procedunes
miy deteriorate,

Onir management evalunted, with the participation of our principal executive officer and primcipal fmancial officer, the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS07) in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework,” Based on that evaluation,
our principl executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our interal contrel over financial reporting was
effective as of the end of the period coverad by this report,

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20012 has been audited by BDO USA, LLP,
the independent registered public accounting firm that alse pudited the Company™s consolidated financial statements ingluded in

thiz Annual Repont on Form 10K, The attestation report of BDOUSA, LLP on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting appears on page F-4 herein.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Mone,
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FART I
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information about our exceutive officers reguired by this item s included in Pan 1, lem ©of this Annual Repont on
Form 10-K wnder the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrand™, The remaining information required by lem 10 will be
included in our definitive proxy statement for wee in connection with our 200% Annual Mecting of Sharcholders (“20013 Proxy
Simtement’”) under the captions " Election of Directors,” “Committees of the Board," "Code of Ethics™ and "Section 16(a) Bene [icial
Owmership Reporting Compliance.” and is incorpoated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by [tem 1] will be incloded in the 2003 Proxy Sdatement under the caplions “Compensation
Commitice,” “Executive Compensation” and “Directors’ Compensation,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM I1E SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICTAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth mformation as of Decembser 31, 200 2, with respect i the Company s eguity compensation
plans, under which shares of our common steck are awthorized for isspance.

Number of Securities  Weighted-Average Mumber of Secaritics

to Be Issued upon Excreise Price of  Hemaining Available for
Exercise of Craistanding Future Issuance Under
Chatstanding Chpti Oiptions, YWarranis Equity Compensation
Warrants and Rights "' and Rights Plans"™
Equity Compensation Flans Approved by
Sharcholders:
20 Siock Incentive Plan 15,000 % Q.81 —_
200} Siock and Incentive Plan 1805276
“quity Compensation Plans Not Approved - - =
ML:.' %\qnhﬂd«;ld"n
Total 15,000 5 251 1,805,276

— - - - - 0 - a0

(1} Awrowed foclides alf outstandiog siock aprion awards, bt exclivdes all owtstanding stock appreciation rights, which can anly
be seitled for cash,

(2 Heflects shares available to be granted under the 208 Stock and facentive Plan in the form of stock oplions, steck appreciation
rights, stock awards, dividend egquivalent rights, performance share awards, stock weits and Incemiive awards, No niow awards
mery be isswed pnder the 2004 Stock facentive Plan effective May 13, 2000,

(3} The Company does nol ave any equity compensation plans that have wal been approved by shareholders.

The remaining information reguired by ltem 12 will be imcluded in the 2013 Proxy Statement under the caption “Ohwnership
of S1ock™ and is incorporated herein by reference,

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIFS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND IMRECTOR INDEPENCENCE

The information required by lem 13 will be included in the 2003 Proxy Statement uriber the captions “Related Person
Trimsactions™ and “Dhrector Independence,” and 15 inconporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Trem 14 will be included in the 2003 Proxy Statement under the caption “Audit Information,”
ansd is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as pant of this report:

Financial Statements and Schedules:

The information required by this section of liem 15 is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Siatements and
Repons of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm beginning at page F-1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The index to the Financial Statements is set forth at page F-2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

Exhibii

Restated Anticles of Incorporation, cffective July 9, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference 1o Exhibit 3.1 to
Dynex s Current Report on Form B-K filed July 11, 2008)

Articles of Amendment 1o the Restated Articles of Incorporation, effective July 30, 2012 {incerporated herein
by reference fo Exhibit 3.1.1 to Dynex's Registration Statement on Form &-A filed August 1, 2001 2).

Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective August 1, 2012 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 1o
Dynex’s Current Repont on Form 3-K filed August 3, 2012}

Dymex Capital, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated hercin by reference to Exhibit 1001 to Dynex's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decervber 31, 2004).

409A Amendment to Dynex Capital, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, dated December 31, 2008 (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 to Dynex's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2008).

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Non-Emplovee Directors under the Dwnex Capital, Tnc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Dynex s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) for
the quarter ended June 30, 2005),

Form of Stock Appreciation Righis Agreement for Sentor Executives under the Dynex Capital, Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10,3 to Dynex s Quanerly Report on Form 10-0} for
the quaner ended June 30, 2005},

Severance Agreement between Dynex Capital, Ing, and Stephen J, Benedetti dated June 11, 2004 (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10,5 w0 Dynex's Annual Bepont on Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31,
2007).

4094 Amendment 1o Severance Agreement between Dynex Capital, Inc. and Stephen J. Benedetn, dated
December 31, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 10 Dynex s Annual Repon on Form 10=
K for the vear ended December 31, 2008),

Dynes Capatal, Ing, 400(k) Overflow Plan, effective July 1, 197 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi
10,7 to Dynex's Quarterly Beport on Form 1060) for the quarter ended March 31, 2008),

Dynex Capital, Ing, Performance Bonus Program, as approved August 5, 2000 (incorpormted herein by
reference (o Exhibin 10,9 bo Dymex’s Quarterly Report on Form 100 for the guarner ended June 30, 20010),
Dhynex Capital, Ing, 2008 Stock and Incentive Plan, effective as of May 1.3, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference
to Appendiz A 1o Dyvnex's Proxy Statement filed Apnl 3, 20099,

Employment Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2009, between Dynex Capital, Ine, and Byron L. Boston
{incorporated herein by reference 1o Exhibit 10,12 to Dynex"s Quanerdy Eeport on Form 10-0) for the guaner
ended Seplember 30, 2008,

Equity Dhstribution Agreement between Dyvnex Capnal, Inc. and JMP Secunties LLC, dated June 24, 2000
(incorporated herein by reference 1o Exhabat 10,14 to Dyvnex"s Current Repont on Fomm B-K Dled June 24, 2000,
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Exhibii
Amendment No. | m l:lmnhuum Agrecment between lt:l,lm. and JMP Secarntics LLC,
Mﬂawnhrﬂ,:ﬂ herein by reference 1o Id-ltﬂﬂymn‘sﬁu'reﬂthpm;m

Form 10-K ﬂled[hmwﬂll, 11).

Form of Restricied Swek Agreement for Exccutive OiTicers under the Dynex Capatal, Ine, 2009 Swsck and
Incentive Plan (incorporated hercin by relerence 1o Exhibin 10016 1o Dyvnex's Annual Bepont op Form 10K Tor
the yvear epded December 31, 200109,

Base salaries for named executive officers of Dynex Capital, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference 10 Exhibit
10.17 to Dynex's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 ).

Mon-employvee direciors” annual compensation foe Dynex Capatal, Ine. (incorposated herein by teference 1o
Exhibit 10,18 to Dynex's Anmuaal Beport on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 20000,

Underwriting Agreement, dated March 4, 2011, by and Dynex Capital, Inc,, Merrill Lynch, Pieree, Fenner
& Smith Incorporated and Credil Suisse Securities (LUSA) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1.1
o Dynex’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Lewer Agreement between Dyvnex Capital, Inc. and Byron L. Boston, dated September 7, 20101 {incorporated
by reference (o Exhibat 10020 w0 Dyvnex's Current Report on Form 8-k Gled September 9, 2001}

!L?m d-alﬂl]ammrgﬁ 2012, by and among Dynex Capital, Inc., Credit Suisse
(ﬁs LLC, Merrill mle':rr& Smith and JMP Securities LLC
filgl:;lf&rﬁﬂdhﬂtmb}'rﬂmmﬁlhhll o Dynex's Current Eeport on Form B-K filed January 31,

Underwriting Agreemend, dated July 25, 2002, by and among Dynex Capital, Inc,, LF, Morgan Securitics
LLC, Barclays Capital Inc. and Jefferies & Company, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1.1 1o
Dynex’s Current Repont on Form 3-K (Tled July 30, 2002),

Repurchase and Securities Contract dated as of 6, 2012 between lssued Holdings Capital
Corporation, Dhyex [, Tc. (a5 guaranmion) and Wells amnhni.ﬁmmulhmnlm
herein by reference o ibit 10,23 1o Dynex's Current Repon on Form 8-K filed August 8, 2002).

Ciuaraniee Agreement dated as of August &, 2012 by Dynex, Capital, Inc. in faver of Wells Fargo Bank,
MNational Association (incerporated herein by reference o Exhibit 10.24 1w Dynex's Current Report on Form
B-K filed August 8, 2012),

Form of Restnicied Stock Agreement for Mon-Emploves Directors under the Dynex Capatal, Inc. 2009 Stock
and Incentive Plan (filed herewith)

List of consolsdated entities of Dynex (filed herewith),
Consent of BDO USA, LLP (filed herewith).

Certification of principal executive officer pursuant 10 Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed
herewith).

{:n'hﬁglmdmmwl financial officer pursuant 1o Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed
herewith).

Certification of principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oiley Act of 2002 (filed herewith),

The following materials from Dynex Capital, Inc's Annual on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language), furmished herewith: (i)
Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited), (it} Consolidated Statements of Income (unaudited), (i)
Consolidated Statements of Comprebensive Income (unaudited), (iv) Consolidated Stalements of
Sharcholder's Eqmty{nudlndj (v} Consolidated Statemends of Cash Flows (unaudited), and (vi) Notes 1o
Consolidated Financial Statements (unandited).

* Denotes management contract.

Exhibits; See ltem 13{al3) above,
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James C, Wheat, 111
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Report of Independent Registersd Pablic Aecoanting Firm

Baard of Dircctors and Stockholders
Dymex Capital, lne,
Cilen Allen, Virginia

We have audited the accompany ing consolidated balanee shects of Dynex Capital, Inc. {Dynex) as of December 31, 2002 and 2000 1
and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, sharcholders’ equity, and cash flows for cach of the
three years in the period ended Decembser 31, 2012, These financial statements are the respensibility of the Company's management.
Chur responsibility is to express an opinien on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standands of the Public Company Accoumting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards reguine that we plan and perform the audit to obain reazonable assurance about whether the financial statemcents
are frec of material misstatement. An audit alse includes cxamining, on 4 test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by managemcnt, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 'We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinien,

In cur opimicn, the consolidated financial statements refermed o above present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial position
of Dynex at December 31, 2002 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for cach of the three years in the
perked ended December 11, 2002, in conformity with accounting prnciples generally accepicd in the United States of America.

Wi also have awdited, in accordance with the standands of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Drymex’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2002, based on crternia established in fafermal Cowtrod' -

Niitegreared Framework issued by the Committes of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0) and our repor
dated March 7, 2013 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

BDO USA, LLP
Richmond, Verginia

March 7, 2013
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Report of Independent Registersd Fablic Accounting Firm

Beard of Directors and Stockholders
Dymex Capital, lne,
Cilen Allen, Virginia

We have audited Dhvnex Capital, Inc"s (Dynex ) internal contral over financial reporting as of Decembser 30, 2002, based on criferia
catablished in el Comirad - fntegrated Fraomework issued by the Commitiee of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway
Commission {the COS0 eriteria). Dynex's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over finzncial
reporting and for its ascessment of the effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
lItem 94, Management's Report on Internal Control Owver Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinien on the
company’s internal conteol over financial reponting based on our swdin

We conducted our sedit in accosdance with the standands of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those stamsdards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranee about whether effective intemal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
cftectivencss of internal control based on the asscssed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedurcs as we
considered mecessary inthe circumstances. We belicve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s informal contrel over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonahle assurance reganding the reliabiliny
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemnal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting prnciples. A company’s internal contrel over finencial reporting inchsdes those policies amd procedures that | 1) pertain
tio the maintenance of records that, in reasenablie detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions arc recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statemients in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that reccipts and expenditures of the company are
being made enly in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and {3) provide reasonable
pssurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unasuthonized scquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that
could lave o material effect on the finoncial statements.

Because of ifs inherent hmitations, mtemal control over financial reporting may et prevent or detect misstatements, Alse,
proqections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futire periods are subject to the sk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of comphiance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate,

In our opinion, Dynex maintaised, in all matenial respects, effective internal control over financial reperting as of December 31,
2002, based on the COS0 criteria,

We also have audited, in secordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Dynex as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of income and

comprehensave income, stockholders” equaty, and cash Aows for ecach of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002
anl our report dwted March 7. 2013 expressed an unqualified opinson thereon.

BDO USA, LLP

Richmond, Yarginia
March 7, 2013
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
furianres (0 Hhonsards excepd shore deara)

ASSETS

Agency MBS (inchuding pledged of 53362427 and S1.879 831, respectively]
MNon-Agency MBS (including pledged of 3604, 707 and 5415, 193, respectively)

Securitized morigage loans, mef
Cither invesiments, ne

Cash and cash equivalends
Principal receivable on investments
Accrued interest reccivable
Otther assets, met
Total asscis
LIABILITIES AMD SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Liabilitics:
Repurchase agreements
Mon-recourse collateralised financing
Drervvafive liabilities
Accnued interest payable
Accrued dividends payable
Other liabilivies
Tonal Liabalivies
Commitments and Contingencics (Note 13)
Shareholders” equity:

Preferred stock, par value 5.01 per share, §.5% Series A Cumulative
HRedeermable; £,000,000 shares authorized; 2,300,000 and no shares issoed and
uum:lm.lillj,-_. rl..'n.l'u:u.:li'u.'-l,'l'_l.' (557,500 aggregaie |i|.|ui-|h|!i1m Flmrm"llﬂ.!j
Common siock, par value 501 per share, 100,000,000 shares

authorized; 54,268,915 and 40,382,530 shares issued and outstanding,

respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit
Total sharcholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity

See mvex o conselidaed fimancial stafements,
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Decembeer 30, 2002 December 31, 2001

5 3492659 8 1,965,159
611,322 421,09

70,823 113,703

R38 1018

4,175 662 2,500,976

55,809 48,776

17.008 13826

23073 12,600

8677 6,006

5 4280229 S 2,582,193
g 3564128 8§ 2,093,793
30504 70895

42,537 27.997

28935 2.165

16,770 11307

fGES A4 6RT

3,663,519 2,210,844

55407 —

43 ELEs]

759,214 634,683

52511 (3.253)

(250,965) (260,483

616,710 371,349

5 4,280,229 5 2,582,193



DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Feimionnis in diocscnas exor per slhane data)

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2000 oia
Interest incoms:
Agency MBS 8 761 5 56814 5 22910
Non-Agency MBS 29,967 18,825 13.491
Secuntized mongape loans 5,395 T415 12,234
Cliher investmenis 25 1Z3 1346
113,548 23377 48,71
Inferest expense;
Repurchase agreements 33,789 19,569 6368
Mon-recourse collateralized financing 1,358 4513 T8
35147 24082 14357
Net interest income 78,401 59.295 34424
Provision for loan losses (192) (871 {1,379
Met interest income after provision for loan losses T8 209 58424 33045
Litigation settlement and related costs —_ (85,2400 —_
(Loas) gain on non-fecourse collateralized Nnancing {1,970 56l
Girin on sale of investments, net S4al 2096 2,891
Fair value adjustments, net (173) (676) 24
(nher income, met 281 134 1498
Cieneral and adminisirative expenses:
Compensation and benefits (7,635) (5.321) {4,930)
Other general ad administranve (5,101) (4,635) {3.88T)
Mt ifcome § T042 5 39812 & 20472
Prefermed stock dividends {2.036) (3.061)

Met income b comimon shareholders
Weighted average common shares:
Basic
Diluted
Met income per common share:
Basic
Drihuted
Dividends declared per common share
Sew novey o consolidated financial stotements,

£ 2006 5 39812 5 26411
L=}

53,146
33,146

LT

133
1.35
.15

[P,

F-t

38,580
38,581

5 1.03
§ 1.03
5 1.0

17,595
20,919
& 1.50
§ 141
4 .98



DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(cretererds G Blrontixernals )
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2oid 2oii Iojn

Met income £ 4042 5 39812 5 9472
Other comprehensive income:

Change in fair value of available-for-sale securitics 15377 11408 4603

Reclassification adjustment for gain on sale of invesiments, net included i

statement of incame (5319 {205 (7T

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (28, 740) {34 27H) {6.315)

Reclassification adjustment on derivativies included in statement of income 14,448 11,604 2487
Cither comprehensive income (loss) 55,766 (13312) (4]
Comprchensive income 129808 206, 5040 259 468
Dividends declared on preferred stock (2.036) —_ (3061
Comprchensive inceme to comman sharcholders § 122,772 5 26500 5 26407

S ptertes b consolidated ool stalemens,
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Franarls i Phvarraradt )

Accamulaied
ther
Additional Comprehensive
Preferred Commoen  Paid-in { Lianss) Accamulated
Stock Stack Capiial Income Deficit Tatal

Balance as of Janwary 1, 2000 5 41,749 § 139 § Am™717 & o6l 5 (262,913} 5 168,753
Conversion of preferred sharncs o (41,749) 42 41,707 = =
commoen shanes —
Common stock issuance — 122 | 16,594% —_ —_ 117,070
Ciranting and vesting of restricted
stock —_ — Bl —_ —_ Bl
Copitalized expenses associabed — = = =
with stock 15s5uances {128} {128)
Cumulative effect of adoption of — —_ -— —
new accounting principle 12 12
Mt income — — — — 29472 20472
Dividends on prefemed siock — —_— — — (3,061 ) (3.061)
Dividends on common stock — —- - — (1817 (19817
Other comprehensive loss — — = (4) i (4)
Balance as of December 30, 2000 — 303 Z38.304 11,057 {256,307y 292357
Comman stock issuance — o7 05327 — _ 95,424
Granting and vesting of restricted
stock — - 1,194 —_ -— 1,198
Cuiimlimd exXpenses associated — - - =
with stock 1ssuances { 142} {1:42)
Met income —_ - — - Rz W RI2
Dividends on common stock - (43.988)  (43,958)
Other comprehensive loss — - .- (13,312) - (13,312)
Halance as of Decembrer 31, 2001 — 404 34,683 (3,155) (2e0483%) 371,349
Stock ssuance 55,650 138 123,859 — — | TO.6E6
Ciranding and vesting of restricted
sdock —_ 2 1,721 - - 1,723
C:_-%imlimd_mpﬂm associated (282) — (129) s - ity
with gtock issuances
Common stock repurchased (1 (9200 (921)
Met income —_ _— —_— —_— 74,042 T4.042
Dividends on prefemed siock (3, 036) 12,036)
Dividends on common stock - —_ -_ —_ (62 488)  (61488)
Oiher comprehensive income L5, 766 28 T66
Balance as of December 31, 2012 § 55407 § 5431 5§ 759214 5 53,511 8 (230,965) 5 616,710

See maves to the covsolidated financial slavemions,
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DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.

CONSODLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

foaraneranttis dor Mroerealil

Orperating activities:
Met mcome

Adjustments to reconcile net income (o cash provided by operating activities:

Increase in acersed interest receivable
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable
Provizion for loan losses
Ciain on sale of investments, ned
Loss (gain) on non-recourse collateralized financing
Fair value adjustments, nct
Amortization and depreciation
Stock-based compensation expense
Cash payments on stock appreciation righis
Met change in other assels and other liabilitics
Miet cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activitics
Investing activitics:
Purchase of investments
Principal payments reccived on investments
(Imcrease) decrease in principal receivable on investments
Proceeds from sales of invesiments
Principal paymeents received on securitized morigage loans
Chher investing activities
Met cash and cash equivalents used in investing aclivities
Financing activities:
Bormowings umber repurchase agreements, net
Deferred borrowing costs paid
Borrowings under non-recourse collateralized Nnancing
Principal payvments on non-recourse collateralized financing
Cash paid to redeem securitization financing bonds
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Cash paid for commaon stock repurchase
Dividends paid
Met cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities
Met inerense (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents af end of period
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Activity:
Cash paud for interest
Sew moves o oonsolidated financial statements,

F-%

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2002 2001 LI
£ T4042 S I9R[Z 5 94T
(10,464) {6.504) {1.522)
730 1,06 (129
192 71 1379
(BA61) {2.096) {2.891)
— 1.970 (561}
173 676 (294
00,530 32505 6, | 80
1,828 o917 66
(116) (134) (420)
934 1.538 {1.76%9)
149,388 70,641 ENH
(2,639.909) (1,606819) (1,112,804)
GE2RLT ATHARR JI5E. 00
(3.182)  (10,087) |68
230,145 154,688 56,585
40,830 17,556 54977
{2.893) 419 (297)
(1,691,192} (915.755)  (685.662)
1,470,995 BS9610 595,854
(825) — —_
: : SOATH
(40.036) {15.200) (43,820
- {23.669) {56,406)
5407 = :
123,868 95.282 116,850
(921) — —_
(55.061) (40.873) (18.893)
|, 548,437 875054 Hdd 254
74033 29,540 (11.337)
48,776 18,836 0T
§ 55409 5 4877 85 18.E3e
T
£ 035 5§ 22010 85 14568



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DYNEX CAPITAL, INC.
feriinnis i Hnsarndy except shore and per share o)

NOTE 1 -SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemsents of Dynex Capital, Inc. and its qualificd real estate investrent tnst
("REIT") subsidiarics and its taxable RETT subsidiary (together, “Dynex™ or the “Company™) have been prepared in accondance
with the generally acoepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP") and the instructions 1o the Annual Report on
Form 10-K and Article 3 of Regulation 5-X promulgated by the Sccuritics and Exchange Commidsséon (the “SECT),

Cerain items in the priog years' consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform 1o the current year's
presentation. The Company s consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 20011 and December 31, 2000
now present "interest income: cash and cash equivalenis” toegether with "interest income: other investments”. These prescntation
changes have no ¢ffect on reported total asscis, to2al liabilitics, resulis of operations, or cash flow activities.

Conselldation

The consolidatied fimancial statements inclwde the accounts of the Company, its qualified REIT subsidiaries and its taxahble
REIT subsadiary. The consolidated financial statements represent the Company s accounts after the elimination of intcrconpany
balances and transactions. The Company consolidates cntities in which it owns moere than 50% of the voling equity and control
docs not rest with others and variable intercst cotitics in which it is determined 1o be the primary beneficiary in accordance with
Financial Accounting Siandards Board (“FASBE™) Accounting Standards Codification {(*ASC™) Topic 210-10. The Company
fiollows the equity method of accounting for investments with greater than a 20% and bess than 507 interest in parinerships and
corporate joimt veniures or when il is able o influence the financial and operating policies of the investee but owns bess than 504G
of the voting equity. As of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2001, the Company did not have any invesimends in which it
owned less than a 50°G interest in the voling equity.

In accordance with ASC Topic 810-10, the Company also consoludates certain trusts through which it has secunitieed
morgage loans. Additional information regarding the accounting policy For secuntized mongage [oans is provided below under
"Investments”,

Use af Extimotes

The preparation of Tinancial sieements in conformity with GAAP requires management o make estimates and assumplions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and labilines and the disclosure of contingen assets and labalities al the date of the
financial statemems as well as the reported amoums of revenue and expenses during the reported penod. Actual results could
differ from those estimates, The most significant estimales wsed by management include but are not imited o Tar value
measurements of 1ts mvestments, allowance For loan losses, other-than-lemponny iImpainmens, commilmenis and contingencies,
and amartization of premiums and discoums. These items are discussed Turther below withan this node 1o the consolidated financial
statemients.

Federal Income Taxes

The Company believes it has comiplied with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenws
Codie of 1986, as amended (the “Code™). As such, the Company believes that it qualifics as a REIT for federal income tax purposes,
and it generally will not be subject to federal income 1ax on the amount of s mcome of gain that is distributed as dividends 1o
sharcholders, TheCompany uses the calendar year for both tax and financial reporiing purposes.  There may be differences between
taxable income and income compated in sceordance with GAAR

Cash and Cash Equivalents



Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less.

Investments
The Compary's investments include Agency MBS, non- Agency MBS, securitized morngage loans, and other investments.

Agency MBS, The Company acoounts for s investment s Agency MBS in accordance with ASC Topic 320, which
requires that investments in debt and equity securities be designated as either “held-to-maturity,” “available-for-sale” or “trading™
al the time of acquisition. As of December 31, 2012, the majority of the Company’s Agency MBS are designated as available-fior-
sale (or "AF5™) with the remainder designated as wrading, Although the Company generally infends to hold its available-for-sale
securities undil maturity, it may, from fme to Ame, 22l any of these securities as part of the overall management of iis business. The
available-for-sale designation provides the Company with this flexibility,

All of the Company's Agency MBS are recorded at their fair value on the consolidated balance sheet. In sccordance with
ASC Topic B20, the Company determines the fair value of its Agency MBS based upon prices obiained from a third-party pricing
service and broker quotes. The Company’s application of ASC Topic 820 guidance is discussed further in Mote 10, Changes in
the fair value of Agency MBS designated as trading are recognized in net income within “fair value adjustmentz, net”, Gains
(losses) realized upon the sale, impairment, or other disposal ofatrading security are also recognized within “fair value adjustments,
net”, Alternatively, changes in the fair value of Agency MBS designated as available-for-sale are reported in other comprehensive
income as unrcalized gains (losses) until the security is collected, disposed of, or determined to be other than temporarily
impaired. Upon the sale of an available-for-zale security, any unrealized gain or loss is reclassified owt of accumulated other
comprehensive income (“ADCT™) inte net income as a realized "gain (loss) on sale of invesiments, net” using the specific
tdentification method.

Non-Agency MBS, The Company accounts for its investment in non-Agency MBS in accordance with ASC Topic 320, As
of December 31, 2002, all of the Company's non-Agency MBS are designated as available-for-sale and are recorded at their fair
villue on the consolidated halance sheet. Changes in fair value ane reported in other compeehensive income until the security i4
collected, disposed of, or determined 1o be other than temporarily impaired. Like Agency MBS, the Company generally intends
to hold ifs investments in non-Agency MBS until maturity, but it may, from time to time sell any of these secunities as part of the
overnll management of its business, Upon the sale of an available-for-sale secunty, any unrealized gain or 1oss 15 reclassified out
of ADCT into net income a5 a realized “gain (loss) on sale of investments, net” using the specific identification method.

In sccordance with ASC Topic 820, the Company determimes the fuir value for the maponty of 15 non-Agency MBS based
upon prices obtained from o third-pary pricing service and broker quotes.  The remainder of the non-Agency MBS are valued by
discountimg the estimated future cash flows denved from cash flow maodels that wilize imformation such as the securty s coupon
rate, estimated prepayment speeds, expected weighted average life, collstern] composition, estimated future inferest rates, expected
bosses, credit enhincement, as well as certain other relevant information. The Company™s application of ASC Topic 820 gusiance
is discussed further in Mote 10,

Chiher-them- Temporary fmpairmend, The Company evaluates all MBS i its investment portfodio for other-than-temporry
impairments by applying the guidance preseribed in ASC Topic 320-10,  The Company compares the amortized cost of cach
secunity in an unrealized loss position against the present value of expected future cash flows of the secunity, If there has been a
significant adverse change in the cash flow expectations for a security resulting in the its amortized cost becoming greater than
the present valee of its expected future cash flows, an other-than-temporary credit impairment has eccurred. If the Company does
not indend 10 sell and &5 not more likely than not regquired to sell the security, the credit 1oss is recogmized in epmings and the balance
of the unrealized loss 15 recognized in other comprehensive income (loss), If the Company intends to sell the secunty or will be
meore likely than not required to sell the security, the full unrealized loss is recognized in eamings,

In penods after the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment loss for MBS, the Company shall account for the
other-than-temporanly impaired MBS as if the MBS had been purchased on the measurement dote of the other-than-temporary
impairment 34 an amortized cost basis equal to the previows amortized cost basis less the other-than-temporary impairment
recognized in eamings. For MBS for which other-than-temporary impairments were recognized in eamings, the difference between
the new amortized cost bazis and the cash flows expected to be collected shall be acereted into interest income using the effective
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imterest method. The Company shall continue to estimate the presemt value of cash Mows expected to be collectad over the lile
of the MBS, For all other MBS, il upon subsequent evaluation, there is an increase i the cash Nows expected 1o be collected or
iractual cash Mows are greater than cash flows previously expecied, such changes shall be accounied foras a prospective adjusirment
to the accretable yield in accordance with Sublopic 310-30 even if the MBS would not otherwise be within the scope of than
Subtopic, Subsequent increases and decreases in the fair value of the MBS that are not other-than-temporary shall be ineluded in
other comprehensive income,

Please see Notes 3 and 4 for additional information related o the Company's evaluation for gther-than-temporary
impairmienis.

Secnritized Mortgege Logis, Securitized morigage loans consist of loans pledged 1o suppon the repayment of
securitization financing bonds isswed by the Company. The associated securitization financing bonds are treated as debt of the
Company and are presented as a portion of "non-recourse collateralized Nnancing” on the consolidated balance sheet. Inaccordance
with ASC Topic 310-10, the Company™s securilized mongage loans are reponied at amonized cosl. Securilized morigage loans
can only be sold subject o the lien of the respective securilization financing indenture, An allowance has been established For
currenly existing and probable losses on such ksans as Turther discussed below,

Chher frvestoens. Other investments include unsecuritized single-family and commercial morgage loans which are
carried at amonized cost in accordance with ASC Topic 310-10, An allowance has been established o currently existing and
probable losses on these loans as funther discussed below.

Allowance for Lovn Losses. An allowance for loan losses has been estimated and established for currently existing and
probable losses for securitized and unsecuritized morigage loans that are considered impaired in accordance with ASC Topic
30-10. Provisions made fo increase the allowance are charged as a current peried expense. Commercial morigage loans are
secured by income-producing real estate and are evaluated individually for impairment when the debt service coverage ratio on
the morigage boan is bess than 121 or when the monigage loan is delinguent, Commercial monigage loans not evaluated for individual
impairment are evaluated for a general allowance. Cenain of the commercial morgage loans are covered by mongage loan
guarantees that limit the Company "s exposure on these mortgage loans. Single-family mongage loans are considered homogeneous
and are evaluated on a pool basis for a general allowance.

The Company considers variows factors in determining its specific and general allowance requirements, including whether
o loan is delinguent, the Company s historical experience with similar types of loans, historieal cure rates of delinguent loans, and
historical and anticipated loss severity of the mortgage [oans as they are liquidated. The factors may differ by morgage loan type
(.., simggle- family versus commercial ) and collateral tvpe (e.2., multifamily versus office property). The allowance for loan losses
15 evaluated and sdjusted periodically by management based on the sctual and estimated tming and amount of probable credin
bosses, using the above factors, as well as industry foss expenence.

Repurchase Agreemienis

Repurchase agreements are treated as finaneings in accordance with the provision of ASC Topic 860 under which the
Company phediges its secunties os collateral to secure a loon, which is equal in value to o specified percentage of the estimated fair
vilue of the pledged collateral. The Company retains beneficial ownership ofthe pledged collateral. At the maturity of a repurchase
ogreement, the Company 15 required to repay the loan and concurrently receives back its pledged collateral from the lender or,
with the comsent of the kender, the Company may renew the agreement at the then prevailing financing rate. A repurchase agreement
fender may require the Company 1o pledge additional collateral i the event of a decline m the fair value of the collateral
pledged. Repurchase agreement financing is recourse to the Company and the assets pledged, Most of the Company™s repurchase
ogreements are based on the September 1996 version of the Bond Market Associstion Master Bepurchase Agreement, which
generally provides that the lender, as buyer, is responsible for obtaining collateral valuations from a generally recognized source
agreed to by both the Company and the lender, or, in an instance when such source is not available, the value determination 15
meade by the lender,

Derivative Instruments



The Company may enler into interest rale swap agreemenis, inlerss) rale cap agreemenis, interest rate Noor agreemenis,
Minancial forwards, financial futeres and options on Ninancial fotures (“interest rate agreements” ) Lo manage ils sensilivity W changes
in interest rates. The Company acoounis (o ils interest rate agreements under ASC Topic 813, designating each as either a cash
Now hedging position or a trading position using criteria established therein, In order 1o qualify as a cash MNow hedge, ASC Topic
815 requires formal documentation Lo be prepared at the inception of the interest rate agreement that meets certain conditions, IF
these conditions are not met, an interest rate agreement will be classified as a trading position,

For interest rate agreements designated as trading positions, the Company records these insiruments ai Gair valuwe on the
Company's balance sheet in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Changes in their market value are measured ai each reporiing date
and recognived in the current period’s consolidated statement of income within *fair value adjusimenis, net”.

For inerest rate agreements designated as cash Mow hedges, the Company évaluates the effectiveness of these hedges
against the Mnancial instrument being hedged. The efMective portion of the hedge relationship on an interest rale agreement
designated a3 a cash Now hedge is reported in AQCH and is later reclassified into the consolidated statement of income in the same
period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The inefMective portion of such hedge is immediately reporied in the
currend period’s consolidated stmement of imcome. These derivalive instruments are carried al fair value on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Cash posted to meet margin calls, if any, is included on the
consolidated balance sheel in other assets,

In the event a hedging instrument is lermimated, any basis adjustments o changes in the Gir value of hedges recorded in
AQK] are recognized inlo income of expense in conjunclion with the original hedge or hedped exposure,

IT the underlying asset, liability or commitmen is sold or matures, the hedge is deemed partially or wholly inelTective,
of ilhe criterion that was established st the time the hedging instrument was entered into no longer exisis, the imersst rale agreement
nolonger qualilies asadesignated hedge. Under these circumsiances, such changes in the markel value of the interest rabe agreement
are recogniced in the current pericd's statement of income,

The Company has elecied 1o use the portfolio exception in ASC 820-10-35-1810 with respect 1o measuring counlenpany
credit misk for denivative instruments. The Company manages credit misk for s denivabive posilions on a counferpary-by-
counterparty basis (that is, on the basis of Hs net portfolio exposure with ¢ach counterparty ), consistent with ils nisk management
strategy for such fransactions. The Company manages credit risk by considening indicators of risk such as credit ratings, and by
negaeliating Lerms in ifs 15DA master nelting armangements and, ifapplicable, any associated Credit Support Annex documentation,
with ¢ach individual counterparty. Since the effective date of ASC 520, management has monitored and measured credit risk and
calculated credit valuation adjusiments for its denvalive transactions on the basis of s relationships a1 the counterparty porifiolio
level. Management receives reports from an independent third-party valuation specialisi on a monthly basis providing the credit
valuation adjustments al the counterparty portfolio level For purposes of reviewing and managing its credit nsk exposures, Since
the portfolio excepiion apphies only 1o the fair value measurement and not to financial statement présentation, the portfolio-level
adjustments are then allocated in o reasonable and consistent manner each period 10 the individual assets or labilities that make
up the group, in accordance with other applicable accounting guidance and the Company’s accounting policy elections.

Although MBS have characienistics that meel the definition of o derivative instrument, ASC 815 specifically exclhedes
these instruments lrom its scope because they are accounted for as debd securities under AST 320,

Interest Income, Fremium Amartization, and Discount Aceretion

Interest income is accrued based on the outstanding principal balance (or notional balance in the case of interest-only, or
"107, securities) on the Company’s investment securities and their contractsal terms.  Premiums and discounts on Agency and
non-Agency MBS and on loans are recognized over the expected life of the investment using the effective vield methoed in accordance
with ASC Topic 310-20. Adjustments to premium amortization are made for actual prepayment activity as well as changes in
progected future cash flows in accordance with 320-10. Interest income on non-Agency MBS that are rated lower than “AA"™ are
recognized over the expected life as adjusted for the estimated prepayments and credit losses of the secunities. Actual prepayment
and any credit losses expenenced are compared to projected prepayments and credit losses, and effective vields are adjusted when
thisse amounts differ.



The Company's projections of future cash flows are based on inputl and analysis received from external sources and
imernal models, and includes assumptions about the amount and timing of credit bosses, loan prepayment rates, fMucluations in
inlerest rates, and other factors, On al least a quarierly basis, the Company reviews and makes any necessary adjusiments o its
cash Mow projections and updates the yvield recognized on these asseis,

For securities, the accrual of interest is discontinued when, in the opinion of management, it is probable that all amounis
conraciually dwe will nod be collected, and in cenain instances, as a resuli of the pther-than-temporary impairment analysis, For
loans, the acerual of interest is disconiinued when, in the opinion of management, the interest i3 not collectible imthe normal course
of busimess, when the loan s significanily past due or when the primary servicer of the boan (ails o advance the interest and/or
principal due on the lean. Loans are considered past due when the borrower fails to make a timely payment in accordance with
the underlying loan agreement. All interest acerued bul not collected for investiments that are placed on a non-gccrual stalus or
are charged-ofl is reversed againg interest income.  Inlenest on these investments is accounted for on the cagh-bagis or cost-recovery
rethod until qualifying for pelwrn (o acerual status, Investments ane returned Lo acerual status when all the principal and intenest
amounts conlractually due ane brought current and fulure payveents are reasonably assured,

Stock-Based Compensation

Pursuant 1o the Company’s 2009 Siock and Incentive Plan (“SIP"), the Company may grant siock-based compensation
to eligible employees, divectors of consuliants or advisers to the Company, including stock awands, stock oplions, stock appreciation
rights (“SARs™), dividend equivalent mghts, performance shares, and restricted stock units, Currently, the Company®s stock oplions
and restricted stock issued under this plan may be setiled only in shares of its common stock, and therefore are treated as equity
awards with their fair value measured at the grant date as required by ASC Topic 718, Ouistanding SARS issued by the Company
may be seitled only in cash, and therefore have been treated as liability awards with their fair value estimated at the grant date and
remeasuned a1 the end of each reporting period using the Black-Scholes option valuation model as required by ASC Topic
TI8, Please see Mote 1] for additional disclosures regarding the Company's SIP,

Contingencies

In the normal course of business, there are various lawsuits. claims, and other contingencies pending against the
Company. We evaluate whether 10 establish provisions for estimated losses from those matters in accordance with ASC Topic
450, which stofes that o lability is recognized for a contingent loss when: (a) the underlying cousal event has ocourred prior (o the
balance sheet date; (b) it is probable that a loss has been incurred; and (¢} there is a reasonable basis for estimating that Toss, A
Labiliny is not recognized for o contingent loss when it is only possible or remotely pessible that a loss has been incurred, however,
possible contingent losses shall be disclosed. Please refer 1o Note 13 for details on the most significant matiers currently pending.

Recent Accounting Proncuncemenis

There are no recently issued accounting pronouncemenis that are expected 1o materially impact the Company's financial
condition or results of operations which are not effective as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In December 20011, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU"} Mo, 200 1=11 which amends ASC Topic 210 o
requite an entily 1o disclose mformation aboul offsetting assets and liabilities and related arangements (o enable users of iis
financial staterments 1o understand the effect of those armangements onits financial position. Offseiting, stherwise known as netting,
is the presentation of assets and liobilities as a single net amount in the balance sheet. GAAP gives companies the oplion io present
in their consolidated balance sheets, on a net basis, denvaiives that are subject to a legally enforceable netting amangement with
the same party where rights of set-o0fT are only available m the event of defaull or bankruplcy. This amendment is effective for
annual reporiing periods beginming on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods wathin those annual penods, and shoubd be
apphied retrospectively for all comparative periods presemted. The Company does nol currently offset any ol its assets and liabilities,
ond as such, does not anticipate that ASL Mo 200 1-11 will have a matenial impact on the Company’s financial condition or results
of operations,

NOTE 2 - NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE



Metl income per common share is presented on both a basic and diluted basis. Diluied net income per common shane
assumes the exercise of stock options using the ireasury stock method for all periods presented, and for the year ended December
20, 2000, the conversion of the Company’s foemerly oulstanding Series D 2.50% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (the
“Series [2 Preferred Stock®) into common stock uging the two-class method. Because the Company's 850704 Series A Cumulative
Redeermable Preferred Stock (ithe "Series A Preferred Siock" ) issuwed during the thivd quarier o 2000 2 is redeemable atthe Company's
option for cash only, and the Series A Prefierred Stock can convert into shares of cormmon stock only upon a change of contrel of
the Company, the eflect of those shares is excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per common share for the year
ended December 31, 2012, Holders of unvesied shares of owr issued and outstanding restricied common stock are eligible to
receive non-forfeitable dividends. As such, these unvesied shares are considered pariicipaling securities as per ASC 260-10 and
therefore are included in the computation of basic earnings per share ("EP5™) using the two-class method,

The following table presents the caleulation of the numerator and denominator lor both basic and dilwed net income per
common share!

For the Year Ended
Mecember 31,
012 RN 20nin
Weighted- Welghted- Welghted-
Average Average Average
Common Common Common
Income Shares Income Shares Income Sharcs
Met income § 74042 s 39812 § 29472
Preferred stock dividends (2.036) ; {3.061)
et income o common
sharcholders 5 120046 53146416 & J9R12 IRSTOTED & 26411 17,595,022
Effect of dilative securities — — — T 3061 3324014
Diluted 5 72006 53146416 § I9RI2  3B5B0OSTO § 25472 20919036
b ] | f——— ]

Mel income per common share:

Basic 5 1.35 5 1.03 1 1.50

e [ e sy oy T
Diluted ™ ] 1.35 5 1.03 5 1.41
Y R Y

Components of dilutive items:

Series [ Prefemed Stock 5 5 5 3] 1,319.3495

Stock options — — — 99 —- 4619

5 5 T 5 36| 3,324,014

e ]
(1} For i vears ended December 31, 2002, December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2008, the calcwlaiion of diluted mel
incawme per comman share excludes the effeer af 15,000 wmexercised stock option awards becanze their incliesion would
have been anri-dilutive.

NOTE 3 = AGENCY MBS

The following table presents the components of the Company s investment in Agency MBS as of December 31, 2012
and December 31, 200 1:



December 31, 2002

RAMVBS MBS CMBS 10" Total
Principal/par value $2A2586 5 30632] % — B ETIII53
Linamomized premium 137,181 233517 550,171 TI0READ
Unamomized discount (13} — — (13}
Amonized cosl X 562 90y 330,044 550,171 3,443 200
Available for sale (recognized in statement of comprehensive
IMCOme);
(iross unrealized gains 19477 21,570 18218 59 265
Gross unrealized losses (11,134 () {1.20%) (12,34
Trading (recognized in income statemmest):
Giross unrealized gains — 2534 — 2534
Total Agency MBS fair value: 52571337 8§ 354142 5 S567.1B0 8 3492 659
Wl!ig'l'l'lﬂd S _ﬁ _Eﬁ _ﬁ-?:'i-ﬁ_

i The: combined notional balaince for the Agency CMEBS 1O securitier i 3T0059, 495 ax of December 31, 2002,

December 31, 2001
RMBS CMBS CMBS 10" Toral

Principalipar value $14EE397 5 266952 & — $1,755349

Unamomized premium B5 ARE 21627 B6 35R 193473

Linamoniaed discount (17 — — {17)

Amortized cost 1573 868 28857 Bh i5E |, 948 805

Available for sale (recognized in stalement ol comprehensive
InCome);

Gross unreslized gains HLTET 10744 350 22.8K3

Gross unrealized losses (7.405) —_— (1.043) (8,.445)
Tradimg (recognized i income stalement):

Gross unrealized gains - 1.219 -— 1.219
Total Agency MBS Fnir value: $1,577250 § 302244 5§  BSe65 5 1,965,159
Weighted average coupon = asan . S20%  096%

{1} The combined notional balance for the Agency CMEBS N0 securities is 51,813,006 ax of December 31, 2041

The Company purchased 51,721 284 of Apency EMBS and 5382 280 of Agency CMBS, consisting principally of CMBS
10k, sinee December 51, 2002 Ageney CMBS 10s are secured by excess mlerest payments on pools of multafamily housing
miorigage loans. As these securitics have no prnincipal sssociated with them, the interest payments received are based on the unpaid
principal balance (often relemred to as the notional amount) of the underlying pool of morgage loans. The 10 seounties genemlly
have prepayment protection in the form of beck-outs and'or yield muntenance assocmted with the underhing loans,

A portion of the Agency CMBS included in the 1ables above are designated as trading securitics by the Company, and
changes in the fair value of these Agency CMBS are recognized cach reporting peniod within "fair value adjustmsents, net” in the
Company's consolidaled siatements of income.  As of December 31, 20012 and December 31, 2011, the amortieed cost of these
Agency CMBS designated as trading securitics was 527,535 and 528,119, respectively. The Company recognized a net unrealized
gain for the vear ended December 31, 2012 of 5652 compared 10 31,919 for the year ended December 31, 2001, respectively,
related to changes in fair value,  The Company alse has dermeatives designated as imding mstruments, and the changes in their
lair valwe are also incleded within "fair valoe adjustments, net”. Please refer bo Mote 7 for additional information on these derivatives
designated as trading istruments.
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The filbowing table presents certain information for those Agency MBS inan unrealieed loss position as of December 31,
2002 and Decemnber 31, 2011;

December 31, 2002 December 30, 2011
Unrealized ol Unrealized # ol
Fair Yalue Liss Securitiecs  Fair YValue Laoss Securithes
Unrealized loss position fior:
Less than one year 5 LO262TT §  (6.552) B} 8§ 630,101 5 (6, T65) 54
Oine year o mone 271719 {5.797) 4 160,544 {1.684) 27
51.2979% § (12349 117 § 840645 5 {8,449 ]|

Recause the prigcipal and interest related to Agency MBS are guaraniced by the government-sponsored entities Fannic
Mae and Freddie Mac who have the implicit guarantee of the LS. government, the Company docs not consider any ofthe unrealized
bosses on s Apency MBS to be credit related. Although the unrealiced losses are ot eredit related, the Company assesaes ins
ability and intent 1o hold apy Agency MBS with an unrealized boss until the recovery in s valee. This assesament i3 based on the
amounl of the unrealized loss and significance of the related invesiment as well a3 the Company s current leverage and anticipated
liquidity. Based on this analysis, the Company las determined that the unrealized losses on its Agency MBS as of December 31,
2002 and December 30, 2011 were temporary.

NOTE 4 — NON-AGENCY MBS

The following table presents the components of the Company's non-Agency MBS as of December 31, 2002 and
Drecember 31, 200 1=

December 31, 2002
RMBS MBS MBS 10" Total

Principal/par value £ 11411 5 463,747 % 5 475158
Unamortized premium — 2.5 108,928 110,448
Unamartized discount (781} (19.833) - (20,614)

Armortized cosl 10,630 446,434 108,928 565 90
Available for sale (recognized in statement of comprehensive
ICOTE )

Ciross unrealized gains W 39,944 5054 45,604

Gross unrealized losses { 198) {36) i) (274)
Fair value 5 1038 5 486342 5 1013942 5 611,332
Weighted average coupon —i:m-a w 0.86%

il The motionad balance for the mon-Agency CMEBS 10 securities is 32, 393604 ax of December 31, 2002,



Deeember 31, 2001

RMBS MBS CMBS 10 Total

Principal/par value £ OITI19. 5 359853 % — CRATEST
Unamaortized premium —_ 3446 51,239 54 885
Unamaortized discount { 1003 (17,511} —_— (18.514)

Amorized cost 16116 345,988 51,239 413,343
Available for sale (recognized in statement of comprehensive
IMCOme);

Giross unrealized gains 507 11,8046 893 13,206

Gross unrealized losses (1.333) (3.724) (376) {5.433)
Fair value 8 15200 5 /4070 5 S1.TAG 5 421006

IS TR T RS e e T —— e

Wicighted average coupon A41% 591% 1.24%

il Thve menianal balamoe for the mos-Adgeacy CMBRS IO securitiex & 3908, 202 av of December 31, 2011,

The Company has purchased 37,500 of non-Agency RMBS, 5163 466 of non-Agency CMBS, and 568315 of non-
Agency CMBS 10 securilies during the vear ended December 31, 2001,

The following lable presens certain information for those non-Agency MBS that were in an unrealized loss position as
of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 20011

December 31, 20012 December 31, 2011
Unrealized 0ol Unrealized ]
Falr Yalue Lioss Securities  Falr Value Laoss Securithes
Unrealized loss position (o

Less than one year: § 13877 § (T} 3 8 153974 3% {5.075) [
One year ar mre: 2,701 (19K) B 29403 (374 7

§ 16578 § (274) 11 § 156967 § (5.454) 13

T e e e e

The Company reviews any non=-Agency MBS moan unrealized loss position 10 evaluate sehether any declime in fair value
represents an other-than-temporary impaimment. The evaluation includes a review of the credil ratings of these non=Agency MBS
amdd the seasoning of the mortgage loans collateralizng these secunities as well as the estimated future cash flows which inchsde
projected losses, The Company performed this evaluation for the non-Agency MBS in an unrealieed loss position as of
Drecember 31, 201 2 and has determined that there have nof been any adverse changes in the iming or amound of estimated future
cash Mows that necessitale a recopnition of other-than-temporary imparmment amounts as of December 51, 2002,

NOTE § = SECURITIZED MORTGAGE LOANS, NET

The Company’s securitized morigage loans are pledged as collateral for its associated securiization financing bonds,
which are discussed further in Mote 9, Please also refer to Mote & for disclosures related o impaired securitized morigage boans
and the related allowance for loan losses. The following table summanizes the components of securitized mortgage loans as of
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2001;



December 31, 2012 December 31, 3011

Single- Simgle-
Commercial Tamily Tistal Commercial Tamily Tistal
Principal/par value " S 30576 § 41337 § 71913 § 68029 § 47657 § 115,686
Unamortized premiam, met — Gl6 Gl — T T
Linamortized discount, nel {1.267) —_— (1,267} (234) — (234)
Amomized cost 29300 41,953 71,2632 G67,775 48427 116,202
Allowance for loan losses (150) (289) (439) {2,268) (231) {2,499)

5 29150 § A1 664 8 TORE2Y 5 65507 8§ 4819 % 113,703
iy foreluvdles forials el by trostees,

The balance of the Company's securitized commercial mortgage loans has decreased since December 31, 2001 prirearily
due 1o principal pavments, including amounts received on defeased loans, of $34,831, The Company's securitized commercial
morigage loans were onginated principally in 1996 and 1997 and are collateralized by first deeds of trust on income producing
properties, Approximately 38% of these securitized commercial morigage loans are secured by muliifamily properties. As of
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2011, the loan-to-value ratio based on original appraisal was 48% and 42%, respectively.
There were no securitized commercial mortgage loans identified as seriously delinguent (60 or more days past due) and therefore
on nonaccrual status on the Company's balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 compared 1o nonacerual loans with an unpaid
principal balance of 514,997 a3 of December 31, 2011,

The increase in unamortized discount, net for the Company’s securitized commercial mortgage loans since December 31,
2001 is due to the modification of terma for one securitized commercial morigage loan which resulted in an effective yield as
favorable to the Company as the effective vield of the original loan, In accordance with ASC 310-20, the Company accounted for
thiz modified loan as a new loan, resulting in a discount of 51,218 being recognized 1o adjust the new boan's basis o that of the
original loan,

The balance of the Company's secunitized simgle-family morigage loans have decreased since December 31, 2011 due to
principal payments on the loans of 55999, These single-family morigage boans are secured by first deeds of trust on residential
real estate and were oniginated principally from 1992 to 1997, As of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 200 1, the current loan-
to-value ratio based on original appraisal was approximately 43% and 46%, respectively. The unpasd principal balance of the
Company's securitized single-family montgage loans identified as seriously delinguent as of December 31, 2002 1553, 380 compared
to 53,366 as of December 31, 2001, The Company continues accruing inferest on any seriously delinguent secunitized single-
family mortgage loan so long as the primary servicer continues to advance the interest and/or principal due on the Ioan.

NOTE 6 <« ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

As discused in Note 1, the Company estimates for currently existing and probable lesses for its mortgage loans that are
considered impaired, A loan can be considened impaired even if it iz not delinguent. The following table summanzes the aggregate
activity for the portion of the allowance for loan losses that relates to the secuntized mongage loan portfolio for the periods
indicated:



For the Year Ended

December A1,
iz o oin
Single- Single- Single-

Commercial family Commercial family Commercial family
Allowance ai beginming of
porod 5 2268 % 2] % 4200 5 X 5 3035 § zrT
Provizion for nan lesses 24 168 B4R 23 1194 —
Credit loases, net of recoverics (2.142) {1140} (2, 780) (62} {2 i
Allowance at end of period 5 150 % il 2068 & X3 8 4200 § 2T

The fellowing table summarizes information regarding the Company”s impaired securitized commercial and single-family
meortgage loans as of December 31, 2002 and December 30, 2011

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Commercial  Single-Tamily Commercial Single-family
Unpaid principal belance of impaired securitized loans. 8 — % 3380 § 4724 5§ 3000
Basis adjustments related to impaired securitized loans —_ 50 B 48
Amortized cost basis of impaired securitized loans 5 — % 340 5 4,732 % 3048

For the securntized single-family mongage loans identified as impaired ag of December 31, 200 2, the Company cstimates
that it has recognized approximately 5179 of intencst income for the vear ended Diecember 31, 2002 comparced 1o $162 and 5205
for the vears ended December 31, 2001 amd December 30, 2000, respectively. Although the Company did not have any specific
sccuritized commercial monigage loans identified as impaired as of December 31, 2002, i is cumently maintaining a gencral
allowance for commcrcial morigage boan losses of 5130, The Company cstimates that it recognized interest income of 5109 and
S609 for the vears ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively, on commercial securitized morgage boans
wlentificd as impaired as of December 21, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively.

NOTE 7= DERIVATIVES

As parl of 115 risk management sctivities, the Company” ulilizes denvative financial instruments 1o manage ils expaosure
to cash Mow volatility and market value nsk related wo interest rate nsk on the Company’s mvestments and thear pssociated financing,
The Company's derivalive instruments are comprised entirely of inlerest rte swaps which are designated as enther hedging
mstruments or trading instruments, The tables below summarze information about the Company s denvative financial instruments
on the balance sheet as of the dates imdicated:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2001
Welghted Weighted
=AVErage sfvErage
Aggregate  Fized Aggregate  Fined
Accounling Balamee Sheet Mothonal Rule Fair Mothomal Rute
Designation: Laoscation: Fair Value  Amount Swapped Walue Al Swapped
Hedging instruments § (39K13) § 1,435,000 1.50%% § (25,512) § 1,065,000 1.55%
Trading instrursents {2.724) 27,003 2.B8% {2485 270001 2 B8%
Denvative labilities §  (42,337) § (27,907)
e —

Included in the balance as of December 31, 2012 are seven forward-stanting interest e swaps with o combined notional
balance of 5275000 and o weighted average pav-fixed rate of 1.62% which are not efTective until 2013,

The Tollowing table summanzes the comraciual matunties remaming for the Company s outstanding mierest rie swap
ngreements os of December 31, 2002;
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Welghted-

Remalning Notional Amouni:  Notional Amount:  Notional Amouni: Number of F‘i’;:;r;“;c
Maturity Tradimg _ Hedging Total Swaps Swapped
1-12 ponths £ = F 25000 5 25,000 I 0.83%
13-36 months 715,000 15000 3 1.52%
37-60 months 27 00 295,000 322,000 I 1.51%
Crver i months —_ Sl 0K, 00 L4 106405
§ 27,000 § 1435000 ' | 462,000 4l 1.53%

With respect 1o hedging instrumenis, the Company’s ebjective Tor using interest rale Swaps is 1o minimise i3 exposune
to the risk oficash Mow volatlity from increased interest expense on it repurchase agreement borrowings. As repurchase agreemenis
are shori-term in nalure, & they mature, the interest rate on the new repurchase agreement resets 1o a markel interest rate,  This
sequential rollover borrowing program creates a variable interest expense pattern, The changes in the cash flows of the interest
rale swaps are expected 1o be highly efMective al offsetting changes in the anterest porizon of the cash Bows expected 1o be paid a
maturity of gach bormowing,

The table below presemis the effect ol the derivatives designated as hedging instruments on the Company's eonsolidaied
statement of comprehensive income for the periods indicated:

Location of Location of
Amount Amount Amouni Amount of Galn
Amount of Galn  Heclassified from  Reclassified from Recognized in (Loss) Recognized
Type of Derdvative (Loss) Recognized T o Met T into Met Met Income in Met Income
Deslgnated as in O] {Effective  Income {Effective  Income (Effcetive (InefMective {Ineflective
Cash Flow Hedye Portion) Portion ) Portlon) Portion) Portion)
For the vear ended December 31, 2002:
Interest rate swaps SR 70 Imberest expense S14448 Oriher incoime, net S0
For the vear ended December 31, 2011:
Interest mle swaps (34,228 Interest expense 511604 iher income, nel 49y
Far the yvear ended December 31, 20010;
Interest mle swaps $(6.315) Inberest expense 52457 Onher income, nel 200

Asof December 3], 200 2, the Company estimates that 517,875 will be reclassified from AOC] inio carnings gs an incresse
to inberest expense within the next 12 moenths.

The Company s ohjective for designating certain interest rate swaps as trading instroments 18 to offset the changes in
mirket walue for a portion of its Agency CMBS investments that are also designated as trading. The table below presents the effect
of the denvatives designated as trading mstruments on the Company s consolidated statements of income for the periods idicated.

Type of Derivative Amount of Loss Recognized in Met Income
Dresignated as Trading Location On Income Statement For the Year Ended
December 31, ecember Mecember
oz 21, 2001 31,2000
Interest mte swaps Fair value adjustments, net 5 (MR} S (2825 S —
S EE———___

These interest rate swap agreements contain varous covenants related to the Company’s credit nsk. Specifically. of the
Company defaults on any of its indebtedness, including those circumstances whereby repayment of the indebiedness has not yet
been accelerated by the lender, or is declared in default of any of its covenants with any counterparty, then the Company could
also be declared in default of s denvanve obligntions, Additionally, the agreements outstanding with its denvative counterparties
allow those counterparties 1o require settlement of its outstanding derivative tansactions if the Company fails 1o eam GAARF et
mcome greater than one dollar as measured on a rollimg two quarter basis. These inferest rate agreements alse contain provisions
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swherehy, iF the Company fails to maintain a minimum net amounl of shareholders' equity, then the Company may be declared in
default on its derivative obligations. As of December 31, 2012, the Company had derivatives in a met liability position with its
derivative counterparties for which it had pledged Agency MBS with a fair value of 547,289 and cash of $38 as collateral, I the
Company had breached any of these agreements as of December 31, 2012, it could have been reguired i settbe those derivatives
at their estimated lermination value of 43,198, which includes accrued inferest bul excludes any adjusiment for nonperformance
risk. As ol Decernber 31, 2002, the Company was in compliance with all covenants,

NOTE § - REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The following tables presend the components of the Company’s repurchase agrecements as of December 31, 2002 and
Drecember 31, 2001 by the fair vahee and type of securties pledged as collateral to the repurchase agreemiens:

December 31, 2002
Fair Value of
Weighted Collateral

Collateral Type Balance Average Rate Fledged
Agency RMBS £ 2365982 D48% S 2458200
Agency CMBS and CMBS 0= 692,311 95% 256,930
Mon-Agency RMBE 7808 1.84% 0634
MNon-Agency CWBS and CMBS 10s 470,573 136% 579248
Securitization financing bonds 28113 1.64% 31,483
Drefermed fecs (6349 n'a n'a
§ 3564128 0.70% § 3935504

December 31, 2001
Fuir Yalue of
Weighted Caollateral

Collateral Tvpe HBalance Average Hate Fledged
Agency RMBS 5 1447508 0ag% & 1,521,107
Agency TMBS and CTMBS 10s 290,362 0k 5% %612
Mon-Agency RMBS 12,195 1.B5% 13,597
MNon=-Agency CMBS and CMBS 103 28320 1.54% 336,124
Securitization financing bonds 601,462 1.63% 67,872
£ 2093703 061% 5 2268312

ESSEs——— e
The combined weighted average original term to maturity for the Company s repurchase agreements was 67 days as of

December 31, 2002 and 537 davs as of December 31, 2001, The following tabbe provides a summary of the origimal maturities as
of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2011:

December 31, December 31,

Original Maiurity 012 2011

30 days or less 5 622957 & 180,387

0 1o ) days 1,263, 105 HED 49

61 1o 90 days 208,660 496,500

Cireater than W d.a}'r: 1 AR0 0G5 £36 4006
3,564,787 2,093,793

F-22



As ol December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately 15% of its shareholders’ equity at risk with Wells Fargo Bank
Mational Association logether with s alfiliate Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, The borrowings outstanding with that counterparty
and itz affiliates as of December 31, 2002 were 3366,130 with a weighted average borrowing rate of 1.35%. OF the amount
outsianding with this counterpamy and is alliliate, 196,520 is under a two-yvear repurchase facility with Wells Fargo Bank Mational
Association. The facility provides an aggregate maximum borrowing capacity of $200,000 and is set 10 mature on August 6, 2014,
subject to cenain garly termination provisions contained in the master repurchase agreement. The facility is collateralized prirmarily
by Agency CMBS 10, and its weighied average bosrowing rate as of December 31, 2002 was 1. 47%, Sharcholders' equity at risk
did not exceed 100 for any of the Company's other counterparties.

As of Decemnber 31, 2012, the Company had repurchase agreement amounis outstanding with 19 of iis 28 available
counterparties. The Company’™s counterparties, as sel forth in the master repurchase agreement with the counterparty, require the
Company to comply with various customary operating and financial covenants, including, but not limited 1o, minimum net worth,
rnaximum declines in net worth in a given period, and maximum leverage requirements ag well as maintaining the Company's
REIT status. In addition, some of the agreements contain enoss defaull fealures, whereby defaull under an agreerment wilth one
kender simulianeously causes defaull under agreervents with other lenders, To the extent that the Company fails to comply with
the covenants contained in these Mnancing agreements ar is otherwise found 1o be in default under the terms of such agreemenls,
the counterpary has the right 1o accelerale amounts due under the master repurchase agreement, The Company was in compliance
with all covenants as of December 31, 2002,

NOTE % - NON-RECOURSE COLLATERIZED FINANCING
As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s non-recourse collateralized financing consisis of collateral-based financing

issued by special purpose secuntization trusis. The following table summarizes information about the Company's non-recourse
collateralized financing for the peniods indicated:

December 31, 2002
Weighted
Average
Life Remaining Balance Value of
Imterest Rate Fii vears) Duistanding Collageral
Securitization financing:
Secured by non-Agency CMBS 6. 2% fixed 1.4 ¥ 15000 S 15,825
. ; 1-month LIROR
Secured by single-family morigage loans pliss 0.30% 1l 15.974 17,3410
Unamaortized net bond premium and
deferred costs (4707 n'a
% MM 5 33,134
_
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December 31, 2001

Wighted
Average
Life Remaining Balance Value of
Interest Rate {ivt wears) Crutstanding Caollateral
Securitization Gnamcing:
Secured by non-Agency CMBS 6.2% fixed 2.1 ] 15000 S 16,388
i . e I-msonth LIBOR
Secured by single-family morigage loans plus 0.30% 13 18,928 19.843
TALF financing:"’
Secured by non-Agency CMBS 2. 7T% MNixed 1.2 175672 49,087
Unamortized net bond premiom and deferred
0SS (T05) na

5 T0E05 § B5318

il Financing provided by the Federal Bezerve Bank of New Tk urider ity Term Asver-Backed Securities Loan Faciline
(TALE") The balavice ax af December 31, 200 was paid off during the fiest ginerer of 2600 2,

NOTE 10 - FAIR VALUE OF FINARNCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASRC Topic 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measunement date. ASC B20 clarifies that fair valve should be based omn the
assumptions market participants would use when pricing as asset of liability and also requires an entity to consider all aspects of
mnonperformance fisk, including the entity's own credit standing, when measuring fair value of a liability. ASC Topic 820 established
a valuation hierarchy of three levels as follows:

= Level | = Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markels for identical assets or Labilites as of the
measurement date. Nope ol the Company's assets and labilities that are mensured at fair valuee are included in
this category as of December 31, 2002 or December 31, 2011,

»  Level 2= Inpats include quoled proces m active markets for simitlar assets or labilines; quoted prices in inactive
markets for identical or similar assets or habalities; or inputs enher directly observable or indirectly observable
through correlation with markel data a8 the measurement date and for the duration of the imstrument s anhicipated
life. The Company’s fair valued assets and liabilities that are generlly included in this calegory are Agency
MBS, certain non-Agency MBS, and derivatives,

= Level 3 = Unobservable inputs are supponted by little or no market activity, The unobservable inputs represent
management’s best estimate of how market participants would price the asset or lability at the measurement
date, Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technigue and the nsk inherent in the inputs 10
the model, The Company’s fair valued assets and habilites that are generally ingluded in this category are certain
non=Agency MBS and other invesiments

The following table presents the fair value of the Company's assets and labilities measured pt fair value on a recurming
basis as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, segregated by the hierarchy level of the fair value estimate;
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December 31, 2002

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assels:
Agency MBS 5 342659 5 — & A6 3§ =
Mon-Apgency MBS:
CMBES (incleding CMBS 10) 600,284 = 500,182 100, 102
EMBS 11,038 — 5920 5118
Oiher investmenis 25 — — 25
Tuotal assces carrecd at fair value S 4,104 00 — &5 399861 5 105245
Derivative liabilitics 5 42,537 8§ — § 42537 § —
Total liahilities camied at fair value 5 43537 § — & 42537 % —
December 30, 2001
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assels:
Agency MBS 5 15159 5 — 5§ L9e5I5Y 3 —
Mon-Agency MBS:
CMBS (including CMBS 109 405,826 — 282,123 123,03
EMBS 15270 — 4974 1024
Oiher investmenis 25 _ —_— x5
Total assets carried at fair value & 2I8G2B0 5 — &5 225225 5 134024
Denvative habilities 5 2799t § 5 27997 % =
Total hwbilsties carmeed at Gar value 5 27997 8 —_ 27007 § —

The Company’s Agency MBS, as well o majority of its non-Agency MBS, are substantialby similar o securities that either
are currently actively iraded or lave been recenily traded in their respective market. Their fair values are derived from an average
of multiple dealer quotes and thus are considered Level 2 far value measurements.

The Company’s remaining non-Agency CMBS and non-Agency RMBS are compnised of securities for which there are
not substantially similar securities that trade frequently. As such, the Company determines the fair value of those securitics by
discounting the estimated future cash flows denved from cash flow models using assumptions that are confirmed 1o the extent
possible by third party dealers or other pricing indicators. Significant inputs into those pricing models are Level 3 in nature due
to the lack of readily available market quotes. Information wtilized in those pricing maodels include the secunity’s credit rating,
coupen rate, estimaied prepavment speeds, expected weighted average life, collateral composition, estimated fulure interest rates,
expecied credit losses, and credit enhancement as well as centain other relevant mformation. Significant changes in any of these
mnputs in solation would result in a significantly different fair value measurement. Generally Level 3 assels are most sensitive o
the defauli rale and severity assumpiions.

The table below presenis information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement for
the Company™s Level 3 non-Agency RMBS and CMBS as of December 31, 2012
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Cuantitative Information abont Level 3 Falr Value Measurements

Prepayment
Speed Default Rate Severity Discount Hate
Mon-Agency CMBS 20 CPY 2.5% 35.00% 4.3%
Mon-Agency RMBS SCPR 0.5% 2% 5.1%

(1 Dt presented are weighted averages.

The fellowing table presents the activity of the instruments fair valued at Level 3 for the periods indicated:

Level 3 Falr Walues

Non-Agency  Mon-Agency
CHBS RAMBS Other Total assels

Balance as of January 1, 2011 5 146,670 % 9307 § 25 5 156,002
Purchases 3054 700 — 10,054
Sales — (3.706) - (3.706)
(Loss) gain recognieed im nel income — (539 — {34
Unrealized (loss) gain incleded in other comprehensive

income (2,194) 16 — (2,178)
Principal pavments {22 ,652) (2.278) — {24.930)
Amonization (1.175) [ - (1.159)
Balance as of December 31, 2011 5 123,703 8§ 102 5 25 5 134,024
Purchases = 7.500 = 7,500
Transfers out 1o Level 2 (46T — — (46T
Unrealized (loss) gain included in other comprehensive

income (37 86 == 27
Principal payvmients {18,437} {12,804} — (31.241)
Amorization (435) 40 po. (395}
Balance as of December 31, 2002 5 100,102 5 5118 & 25 5 105,245

The Company evaluates the availability and quality of valuation inputs for its Level 3 securities on a monthly basis, When
it determines that there are sufficient observable market inputs for the same or similar securities, the secunities are transferred to
Level 2 at the end of the reporting period in which that determination is made, As shown in the table above for the vear ended
December 31, 2012, the Company transferred two of ils non-Agency CMBS from Level 3 to Level 2 because the hiquidity for
secunities similar to these non-Agency CMBS improved such that the Company was able o obtain market discount rates and
prepavment speeds which it used in extablishing the fair value of these two non-Agency CMBS,

The following table presents a summary of the reconded basis and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial

instruments 3% of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2011
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December 31, 20012 December 31, 2011
Recorded Basis Fair Yalue Recorded Basis Falir ¥alue

Asseta:
Agency MBS 5 342659 § 3492659 5 1,965,159 § 1,965,159
Mon-Apgency MBS 611,322 611,322 421,09 421,070
Securitized mongage loans, nel T0.823 61,916 113,703 101,116
Ciher investments #58 &1 1LO1& a2
Liabilities:
Repurchase agreements 5 3564128 5 3564,7RT 5 2093783 5 2093793
Mon-recourse collateralized linancing 30,504 30,756 TOLEDS 69,752
Derivative liabilitics 42 537 42537 27,9497 w7

There were no assets or liabilities which were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of December 31, 20012
or December 31, 2001,

NOTE 11 - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock

Cm August 1, 2002, the Company closed an offering of 2 500,000 shares of 8.50% Serics A Cumulative Redeemahble
Prefermed Stock, par value of 30,001 per share and liqusdation preference $25.00 per share. The Company received not procecds
before expenses of 533,689, including the additional peoceeds from the underawriters” overallotment option which was fully
excrcised. The Company declared dividends of $0.4368] for the period August 1, 2002 throagh October 15, 2002 and $0.53125
per share of preferred stock for the period October 16, 2002 through January 15, 2003,
Common Stock

The follewing table presents a summary of the changes in the number of common shares owstanding for the periods
ind it

oz i

Balance as of January 1, 40,382,530 30,342,897
Common stock issued under ATM program H02 At A0, 217
Common stock 1ssued under DRIP 13480 4365
Common stock 1ssued via public offering 13,332,748 4,200,004
Common stock issued or redeemed under stock and incentive plans 241,663 426,031
Common stock repurchased o 104,00

Balance as of December 31, 34,268,915 40,382,530

The Company has a contineous equity placement program (alse known as an "at the marke!™ program, or "ATM™) whereby
the Company may offer and sell through 115 sales agent, JMP Securitics LLC, up to 000,000 shares of its common stock. Duning
the vear ended December 31, 2002, the Company received procesds of 53,721, net of $57 in broker sales commission, for 402,494
shares of common stock sold under this program al an average price of 59,39,

The Company has o Dividend Beinvesiment and Share Purchase Plan ("DRIPT) which allows registered sharcholders o
suiomatically reinvest some or all of their quarterly dividends in shares of the Company®s stock and provides an opporiunity For
investors 10 purchase shares of the Company's stock, potentially al a discount 10 the prevailing market price. A total of 3,060,000
shares have been reserved For issuance under the DRIP. The Company declared a founth quarier common stock dividend of $0.29
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per share payable on Jamsary 31, 2003 1o shareholders of record as of December 31, 2002, There was no dividend reinvestrment
discount for fourth quarter dividends reinvested through the DRIP,

In February 2012, the Company closed a secondary offering of 13,332,748 shares of its common stock which includes
832487 shares issued pursuant 10 an option to purchase additional shares that was exercised by the undenwriters, ata public offering
price of %912 per share for woial net proceeds of approximately 5119992 after deduction of underwriters’ compensation and

CXPENSES.

In Movember 2012, the Company announced thai its Board of Direciors had authorized the repurchase of up to 550,000
of s ouisianding shares of common siock through December 31, 2004, The shares are expected 1o be repurchased from time to
time through privately negotialed ransactions or open market transactions, including pursuant 1o a irading plan in accordance with
Riles 10b5-1 and 10b- 18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ag amended, or by any combination of swch methods. The
rnanner, price, mamber and timing of share repurchases will be subject to a variety of (aclors, including market conditions and
applicable Securities and Exchange Commizsion rules. The Company will only repurchase shares when the repurchase price per
share is less than the Company's estimate of the current net book value of its common stock. During the fourh qearer of 2012,
the Company repurchased 104 (06 shares of its common stock al an average price off 3886 per share afier commissions.

fircewrive Plons, Pursuant to the Company's 2009 Stock and Incentive Plan, the Company may granl stock-based
compensation o cligible emplovees, directors or consulianis or advisers 1o the Company, including stock awards, stock options,
SARs, dividend equivalent rights, performance shares, incentive awands, and restricted stock unitz, O the 2,500,000 shares of
common siock authorized fof ssuance under this plan, 1,305,276 shares remain available for issuance as of December 31, 2002,
Toval stock-based compensation expense recognized by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2002 was 51,828 compared
to 5917 for the year ended December 31, 200 1 and 5627 for the year ended December 31, 2000,

The following table presents a rollforwand of the restricted stock activity For the periods presented:

on2 2011
Restricied stock owstanding at January 1, 365 3G 25,000
Restricted stock granted 220,821 158,006
Restrcted stock vested (138.044) {17,50d0)
Restracted stock oulstanding at December 31, 445,253 565,506

The restricted stock granted in 2002 and 2011 had Fair values of 52,073 and 533,729, respectively ot their grant dates. As
of December 31, 20012, the fair value of the Company's outstanding restricted stock remaining 10 be amortized info compensation
expense is 52,983, of which 51,720 15 expected 1o be amortized in 20013, 3320 in 2004, $386 in 201 5, and 557 in 2016,

As of December 31, 2012, the Company also has SARs and stock oplions outstanding, all of which were granted pursuant
to the Company's 2004 Stock [ncentive Plan. Mo new awards may be granted under this plan. The following table presents a
rollforward of the SARs activity for the penods presented:

2012 2011
Weighted- Weighted-
Quantity  Average Price Duantity  Average Price
SARs oulstanding ot January 1, 59,375 § 687 136,875 § 731
SARs exercised (31.RT5) 6.71 {77500} 764
SARs outstanding at December 31, 27,500 5 7.06 59375 % 6.87

As of December 31, 2012, all of the Companys outstanding SARs are vested and exercisable at any time prior o their
expiration date of December 31, 2013, As of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, the forr value of the Company’s
outstanding SARs of 566 and 577, respectively, are reconded as liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet for the respective
periods.
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The Company has nol granted any stock oplions since the year ended December 31, 2008, and the compensation cost
related 1o all stock oplions has been expensed in prior periods, All outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2002 will expire
by May 16, 200135, The following table presents a rollforward of the stock option activity for the periods presented:

onz 2011
Weighied- Weighted-
Cruantity Average Price Craantity Average Price
Stock options outstanding at January |, I000 5 942 45 ) 5 875
Stock options expined A 1000} 9.2 — —
Siock oplions exercised {500} o2 { 15000y 743
Stock options outstanding at December 31, 15000 5 9.kl 30000 5 G442

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accurmulated oteer comprehensive income asofl December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2011 is comprised ofthe following
Pl

December 31, December 310,

2012 2011
Available for zale investments:
Unrealized gains 5 104 8T 5§ o]
Unrealized losses (12,623) (13.902)
92247 22,189

Hedging instruments;
Unrealized losscs (39.736) (25.444)

(39.736) (25.444)
Accumubated other comprehensive icome (loss) 5 52511 § (3.255)

Die to the Company™s REIT status, the items comprising other comprehensive income do not have related tax effects.

NOTE 12 = INCOME TAXES

The Company’s estimated REIT wxable income belore conssderation of 115 net operatimg loss camy forward was 573,962
fior the vear ended December 21, 2012, 543 988 for the vear ended December 21, 2001, and 524,669 lor the vear ended December
30, 200, After common ond preferred dividend distnbutions duning those years as well as wiilization of the Company’s tax met
operating boss ("NOL") carmyforwand 10 ofTset taxable earmings, the Company does nol expect o incur any imeome tax lability Tor
the yvear ended December 31, 2012 and did not ingur any ingcome tax linbility for the vears ending December 31, 2001 or December
30, 2010,

The Company's estimated MOL camyforward as of December 31, 2002 s 5135857, As a result of its common stock
offering in February 2012, the Company incurmed an "ownership change” under Section 382 of the Intemal Revense Code {("Section
A82"L Ingeneral, ifa company incurs an ownershipchange under Section 382, the company's ability to utilize an NOL carry forwand
to offset ils taxable income after any required dividend distributions, becomes limited 1o a cerlain amount per vear. Due to the
ownership change, the Company's ability to use s NOL is limited 1o an estimated 513,451 per vear. The NOL will begin to expine

principally in the yvears 2020-3024 10 the extent it is nod wsed,
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The Company also has a taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS"}, which has an estimated NOL carryforward of 34,208 as of
Drecember 31, 2002, The Cormpany's TRS has limited operations, and, accordingly, the Company has established a full valuation
allowamce for the related deferred tax assel,

Afler reviewing for any potentially uncertain income tax positions, the Company has concluded that it does not have any
uncerain ax positbons that meet the recognition or measurement criteria of ASC 740 as of December 31, 2002, December 31,
2001, or December 31, 2000, although its tax retums for these tax years ane open to examination by the IRS. In the event that the
Company incurs income tax related interest and penalties, it policy is io classily them as a component of provision lor income
LaANES,

NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company records aceneals for certain outstanding legal proceedings, investigations or claims when it is probable
that a leability will be incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company evaluates, on a guasierly
hasis, developments in legal proccedings, investigatbons and claims that could affect the amount of any accrual, as well as any
develepments that would make a loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable, When a loss contingency is not both
probable and reasonably cstimablbe, the Company docs nad accrue the loss. However, ifthe loss (or an additional loss in excess of
the acerual ) is at feast a reasenable possibility and material, then the Company discloses a reasonable estimate of the possible loss
orf range of loss, il such reasopable cstimate can be made. I the Company cannot make a reasonable estimate of the possible
rmaterial loss, or range of loss, then that fact is disclosed.

The Company and its subsidiarics are pariics to various kegal proceedings, including those described below. Although
the wliimaie outcome of these legal procecdings cannot be asceriained at this time, and the results of legal procecdings cannot be
predicted with certainty, the Company believes, based on current knowbedge, that the resolution of any of these proceedings,
including those described below, will not have a material cifect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or
liguidity. Howewver, the resolution of any of the proceedings described below could have a material impact on consolidated resulis
of operations or cash flows in a given future reporiing period as the proceedings ane resolved.

One of the Company’s subsidinries, GLS Capital, Ine, ("GLS™), and the County of Allegheny, Pennsylvania ("Allegheny
County™) are defendants in a ¢lass action lawsuit Gled in 197 in the Count of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania
(the “Coun™). Between 1995 and 1997, GLS purchased from Allegheny County delinquent property 1ax lken receivables lor
properties bocated inthe county. The plaintifls in this matter alleged that GLS impropedy recovered or sought recovery lor cértain
fizes, costs, interest, and atlomeys’ fees and expenses in connection with GLS collection of the property tax lien receivables, The
Court granted class action status and defined the class w include only owners of real estate in Allegheny County who paid an
pitomeys” fee between 1996 and 2003 in connection with the forced collection of delinguent propeny 1ax receivables by GLS
(generally through the initistion of a foreclosure action). Amendments 1o the staute that governs the collection of delingquent tax
liens in Pennsylvania, related cose low, and GLS' Niling of one or more successiul motions for summary judgment resulted in the
dismazsal of cenain claims against GLS and narmowed the isswes being hugmed 1o whether atomeys' fees and related expenses
charged by GLS in connection with the collection of the receivablies were reasonable. Such anomeys” [ees and hen costs were
pssessed by GLS i i1s collecton efforts pursuant to the prevailing Allegheny County ordinance. On April 23, 2002, as a result
ol a petition 1o discontinug fled by the plaimt(Ts, the Cour dismissed the remaining cliims against GLS. PlamtilTs subsequenly
appealed the dismissal 1o the Peansybvani Commonwealth Count of Appeals, The claims made by plantfls on appeal inglude
onky the legality of charging and recovenng attomeys’ fees and tax ben revival and assignment costs from the class members,
PlamniTs have nod enumerated their damages in this matier.

The Company, GLS, and Allegheny County are named defendants in o putative class action lawsait fiked in Jung 2002 in
the Coun of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, The lnwsuit relates 1o 1he activities of GLS in Allegheny County
related 1o the purchase and collection of delinguent property tax lien receivables discussed above, The purported ¢lass in this
petion consists of owners of real estate in Allegheny County whose property is or has been subject 10 a tax lien fled by Allegheny
County that Allegheny County ¢ither retained or sold to GLS and who were billed by Allegheny County or GLS for atomeys'
fzes, interest, and certain other fees and who sustained ¢conomic damages on and afler August 14, 2003, The pulative ¢lass
pllegations arg that Allegheny County, GLS, and the Company viokued the class's constitutional due process nghts in connection
with delinguent tax collection effons. There are also allegations that amounts recovered from the ¢lass by GLS and / or Allegheny
County are an unconstitutional taking of private property. The claims against the Company are solely based upon its ownership

F-30



of GLS, The complain requests that the Cournt order GLS 10 acoount for amounis alleged 1o have been collected in violation of
the putative class members' rights and create a constructive trust for the return of such amounls (o members of the purporied class,
The same class previgusly filed substantially the same lawsuil in 2004 against GLS and Allegheny County (ACORN ., County
of Allegheny and GLS Capital, Ing.), and GLS's Motion for Summary Judgment is pending in that action. The Company believes
the claims are without merniland intends 1o defend against them vigorously in this matler,

The Company and DO Commercial, Inc. ("TRCT®), a former affiliate of the Company and formerly known as Dyvnex
Commercial, Inc., are appellees (or respondends) in the matter of Basic Capital Management, Inc. et al. (collectively, “BCM™ or
the “Plainiills"} versus DO et al. currenily pending in siate court in Dallag, Texas. The maiter was initially filed in the siate court
i Dallas Cownty, Texas in April 1999 againsi D1, and in March 2000, BCM amended the complaint and added the Company as
a defendant. Following a irial count decision in favor of both the Company and DCI, PlaintifTs appealed, seeking reversal of the
trial court's judgrment and rendition of judgment against the Company for alleged breach olloan agreements for tenant improvements
i the amount of $2500 PlaintilTs also sought feversal of the trial coun's judgment and rendition of judement against TCT in favor
of BCM under two miutually exclusive damage models, for 82,200 and 523 600, respectively, related to the alleged breach by DCI
of a 5160,000 “master” loan commitment. Plainiifls also sought reversal and rendition of a judgment in their favor for atlorneys'
fees an the amount of 52,100, Alematively, Plaintilfs sought a new irial, On February 13, 3013, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals
in Diallas, Texas (the “Fifth Circuit™) ruled on Plaintill's appeal, alfisming the previous decision of no liability with respect 1o the
Company, and reversing the previous decision ofno liability with respect to DCT relating o the S 160,000 “master™ loan commitmeni.
The Fifth Circuit ordered a new trial 1o determine the amount of atlorneys' fees and prejudgment and post-judgment interest due
to Plaintiflls and reinstated the 523,600 damage award against DCL. The Fifth Circuit's decision appears to permit Plaintifls to
recover the costs of their appeal from beh the Company and DO The Company and DCI currently intend 1o e a motien for
rehearimg with the Fifth Circuit on the issue of the costs, As part of the motion Tor rebearing, DOT may also challenge the 523,600
damapge award and the decision regarding atlormeys' fees, Management believes the Company will not be obligated for any amoants
that may ultimately be awanded against [T,

NOTE 14 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As discussed in Mote 13, the Company and DCI have been joinily named in litigation regarding the activitics of DCI
while 1t was an operating subssdiary of an afliliate of the Company, The Company and DC] entered into s Litigation Cost Sharing
Agreement whereby the parties 561 forth how the costs of defending against such lingation would be shared, and whereby the
Company agreed to advance DCTs portion of the costs of defending against such lingation, DCI cosis advanced by the Company
are loans and bear simple interest at the rate of Prime plus 8.0% per annum. As of December 31, 2012, the total amount due 10
the Company under the Litigation Cos1 Shaning Agreement, including interest, was 57,616, which has been lully reserved by the
Company. DCT is currently wholly owned by ICT Holding, Ine. An executive of the Company 15 the sole sharcholder of 1ICD
Holding, Inc,

NOTE 15 = SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Year Ended December 31, 2002
Second Fourth

First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Duarter
Operating resulis:
Net interest income 5 19,147 § 19,005 5 19100 S 21,145
Met interest income after provision For loan losses 19,087 19,008 I 8,990 21,123
Met income 1o commaon shareholders 16,476 8,547 18,353 18330
Bazic diluted net income per common share 5 0,33 % 035 % N34 3 0,34
[iilutes net income per common share 3 033 5 035 5 034 5 0,34
Cash dividends declared per common share 5 028 5 029 %5 0239 s 0,29
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Year Ended December 31, 2001

Second Fourth
First Quarter Ouarter Third Quaricr (uarter
hperating resulis:
Net inlerest income 3 12,731 & 15,033 5 [4.558 & 16,973
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 12481 14,833 14,259 16,551
Net incoms 10,250 13,594 1,532 14,406
Basic net income per common share b 03 % 034 5 0k % .36
Diluted net incomse per common share 5 0 s 34 5 o4 5 036
Cash dividends declared per common share 5 027 s N7 5 07 5 .28
Vear Ended December 31, 200010
Second Fourth
Firsi Quarter Quartcr Third Guaricr Cuartcr
Oiperating resulis:
Wet interest income 5 7197 § 7932 § BA00 5 [0,295
Met interest income after provision for loan losses 6,788 7,782 £.190 10,285
Met income 1o common sharcholders 4 534 24 5,966 Q6047
Bazic nel income per common share 5 032 % 041 % 035 5 041
Diluted pet income per common share 5 030 5 03z 5 33 5 .40
Cash dividends declared per common share 5 N2 5 023 5 025 5 027

NOTE 16 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated events and circumstances occurring as of and through the date this Annual Beport on Form
10-K was filed with the SEC and made available to the public and has determined that there have been ne significant events or
circumstances thot quealify as either "recognized™ or "nonrecognized” subsequent events as defined by ASC Topic 855,
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

1, Thormas B. Akin, certify that:

L.
.

5

[ hawe reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dynex Capital, Inc_;

Based on my knaowledge, this repoert docs not contain any untree statement of a material fact or omit o state a material fact
necessary fo make the statements made, in light of the circumstances wwder which swch statements were made, mot misleading
with respect 10 the period covened by this repon;

Based on my knowledge, the financial staterments, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registranmt as of, and for, the periods

presented in this report;
The registrant's other certifving officer and | are responsible forestablishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and [5d-15{c)) and internal conirel over financial reperting {as defined in
Exchange Act Bules 13a- 151 and 15d-15{f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosune controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, incleding ite consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known 10 us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this reporst
i5 Being prepancd;

ib} Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, of caused swch internal contrel over fizancial reponing to
b designed under owr supervision, to provede reasonable assuranee regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting
principles;

ic) Evaluatcd the effectivencss of the registram’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectivencss of the dischosure controls and procedurcs, as of the end of the period covered by
this repont hased on such evaluation; and

id) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal conirel over financial reporting that occurmed during
the regnstrant’s mast recent fizcal quarter (the regastrnt's fourth fiscal quarier i the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or &5 reasonably likely 1o matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control ever financial
reporting, and

The registrant's other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditers and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors {or persons
performing the equivalent functionsk;

(n) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operstion of internal control over financial
reparting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability 1o record, process, summanize and
report financial information; and

(b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other emplovees whe have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting,

Diaee: March 7, 2003

/& Thomas B, Akin
Thomas B. Akin
Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

1, Stephen 1. Benedetti, certify that;

L.
.

5

[ hawe reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Dynex Capital, Inc_;

Based on my knaowledge, this repoert docs not contain any untree statement of a material fact or omit o state a material fact
necessary fo make the statements made, in light of the circumstances wwder which swch statements were made, mot misleading
with respect 10 the period covened by this repon;

Based on my knowledge, the financial staterments, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registranmt as of, and for, the periods

presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifving officer and | are responsible forestablishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and [5d-15{c)) and internal conirel over financial reperting {as defined in
Exchange Act Bules 13a- 151 and 15d-15{f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosune controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, incleding ite consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known 10 us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this reporst
i5 Being prepancd;

ib} Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, of caused swch internal contrel over fizancial reponing to
b designed under owr supervision, to provede reasonable assuranee regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting
principles;

ic) Evaluatcd the effectivencss of the registram’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectivencss of the dischosure controls and procedurcs, as of the end of the period covered by
this repont hased on such evaluation; and

id) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal conirel over financial reporting that occurmed during
the regnstrant’s mast recent fizcal quarter (the regastrnt's fourth fiscal quarier i the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or &5 reasonably likely 1o matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control ever financial
reporting, and

The registrant's other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditers and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors {or persons
performing the equivalent functionsk;

(n) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operstion of internal control over financial
reparting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability 1o record, process, summanize and
report financial information; and

(b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other emplovees whe have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting,

Diaee: March 7, 2003

&' Stephen ). Benedetti
Stephen ). Benedett
Principal Financial (ficer
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